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Financial Highlights

YA sz oh
MR E
As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2025 2024 Change change
R2025%F 720244
8A31H 8A31H & B &
Number of Schools =y g 3 3 - -
Student enrollment HEBEAH 55,667 54,017 1,650 3.0%
Percentage
2025 2024 Change change
20254 20244 & BOEH
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(ARETR) (AREF) (ARBTFT)
Revenue WA 1,445,442 1,268,533 176,909 14.0%
Gross profit EH 722,619 666,319 56,300 8.5%
Profit for the year FERFE 458,293 451,090 7,203 1.6%
Adjusted net profit™ RO 459,323 443,799 15,524 3.5%
Earnings per share (RMB) BREF(ARET) 0.382 0.376 0.006 1.6%
Gross profit ratio EFIE 50.0% 52.5% (2.5)
Operating profit ratio L RER 39.1% 45.2% (6.1)
Net profit ratio Jarp | 31.7% 35.6% (3.9)
Adjusted net profit ratio® feEEEsay e 31.8% 35.0% (3.2)

(1) Adjusted net profit is a non-HKFRSs financial measure, which is derived from the profit for the (1 CRARMGFNIER BN B MESHEAMBAES
year after adjusting net fair value gains on investment properties, imputed interest expenses on E o REREMELNFEREFE  REEMERKR
discount of long-term other borrowings and long-term interest payable due to a related party, R — 2T RAFSNAEEMRAEME -
imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term other borrowings due to the controlling AR RZERRERBEMEROEEDRF
shareholder of the Company, net exchange losses. BHX  EXBRFEFELAERENF AT MG

o .
(2) Adjusted net profit ratio under non-HKFRSs financial measures for the year is calculated on (2) BREE B BRE SFHEA BT E5F O

adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures for the year divided by revenue for the
respective year.

FRMAFIRFNEFEY B R E GRS
EINETRERBATBRASFRRAGE -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWmE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors of China Science and Education Industry Group
Limited, | am pleased to present the annual report of Group for the year ended
August 31, 2025.

Over the past 26 years since the establishment of China Science and Education
Group, we have conscientiously implemented the fundamental task of
strengthening morality through education, grounding in the Greater Bay Area
to cultivate high-quality application-oriented talents through the integration of
industry and education as well as the convergence of science and education, and
contributing to regional economic and social development.

Business development of the Group has been solid and sound in the recent
years. National policies supporting vocational education are crucial to the steady
improvement in our results. During the Reporting Period, the state has introduced
a number of policies to continuously support the development of vocational
education including the 2024-2035 master plan on building China into a leading
country in education ( (B BRBEZEZMREME (2024-2035F) ) ) and the
Three-Year Action Plan (2025-2027) for building China into a major educational
powerhouse ( (HEIZEZRHFRHA=F778)5T & (2025-20274F) ) ). These
policies have clearly defined the goal of establishing an educational powerhouse
by 2035 and provided the direction and path for the reform and development of
vocational education. We shall ride on this opportunity to focus on high-quality
talent cultivation and steadfastly pursuing the path of high-quality development.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

During the Reporting Period, we have been making precise deployments in various
key areas to constantly enrich our schools. We have been expanding the new
campuses of Huali College to provide a more spacious learning environment for
our students and to create a sound foundation for our future enrolment plan and
sustainable development.

Given the promotion of the national industries, the need for vocational education
talents has been growing among advanced manufacturing and modern service
industries. We aim at the regional demand, follow the economic and social
development closely to set up new majors such as artificial intelligence and
rehabilitation and health care, so as to provide more in-demand talents for the new
industries.

Taking teachers as the primary resource for the high-quality development of
schools, we deeply implement the “Strengthening Schools with Talents” strategy,
adhere to the concept of “making good use of existing talents, introducing
outstanding talents, and gathering and sharing talents”, we have built a high-
level and high-quality teaching team with over 700 teachers introduced during the
Reporting Period.
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Regarding the integration of industry and education as one of the important
ways to cultivate high-level applied talents, we accurately connect with the
industrial development, improve the cooperation mechanism, innovate the mode
of collaborative education, carry out the technological collaborative innovation
service, and cultivate high-quality talents who possess strong practical skills,
innovative thinking and meet industry requirements, so as to better serve the
regional industrial development.

We strongly believe that such deployment not only demonstrates our strong ability
of school operation but also steadily enhance the benefits of our brand.

PROSPECTS

We have always adhered to the founding mission of building a “century old
university”, upholding the philosophy of high-quality education, with the goal
of cultivating high-level applied and specialized talents to serve the economic
development of the Greater Bay Area. Against the backdrop of rapid industrial
iteration, we will firmly seize the opportunities presented by national strategic
emerging industries, closely monitor and meet the needs of the talent market and
optimise our professional layout in time to adapt to industrial reforms, realizing
professional settings that aligns closely with industry needs.

We will also continue placing emphasis on connotation construction, increasing
investment in teaching and campus hardware, improving high-quality teaching
services, strengthening its educational distinctiveness and brand effect, and
strive to building a high-quality talent cultivation system to achieve the Group’s
sustainable long-term development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank students and parents for their
trust in China Science and Education Industry Group and express my sincere
gratitude to all teaching staff and the management and for their hard work and
dedication in implementing the Group's strategies. | would also like to thank all
the Shareholders for their continued trust, support and confidence. The Group will
continue to pursue sustainable development strategies and focus on maximizing
the Shareholders’ returns.

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman
Hong Kong, November 24, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREHRA

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational education
group in South China, offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
programs and vocational education and training business. During the Reporting
Period, the Group operated three schools, namely Huali College, Huali Vocational
College, and Huali Technician College.

Since the establishment of our first school, the Group has been adhering to the
socialist modernisation construction of the country, and cultivating specialized
talents with high technical skills, applied skills, and high quality on the front line of
production and service, who are in great demand in China’s economy and society.
Our schools offer private higher education and private vocational education in a
wide range of fields in applied sciences with an aim to prepare our students with
the necessary knowledge base, skill sets and accreditations to secure jobs and
pursue careers in particular professions, trades and industries.

BUSINESS UPDATE

Persisting on serving the needs of society and highlighting the
characteristics of training the application-oriented talent

The Group adheres to the positioning of running a high-level applied school
with distinctive features. Basing on serving the national strategy and guiding
by the development of new engineering, new liberal arts construction and new
medical, we aiming at the regional demand and follow the economic and social
development closely to set up majors, so as to provide more badly needed talents
for the new industries. During the Reporting Period, we have added new majors
such as artificial intelligence technology application, dental medicine technology,
optometry technology, and rehabilitation and health care. The approval of the
new majors has played a positive role in promoting us to further condense our
majors and school-running characteristics. We will continue to strengthen the
management, construction and investment of our majors, and adhere to the road
of connotative development with quality improvement as the core.

The Group focuses on building an education system that integrates professional
training with holistic development by deepening the concept of “promoting
learning and teaching through competition” to improve students’ innovative and
practical abilities based on various kinds of competitions. During the Reporting
Period, we were awarded good results in various competitions, and have won over

1,200 awards that are above the provincial level.
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In-depth implementation of the strategy of “Strengthening
Schools with Talents”, and building a high-level and high-
quality teaching team

Taking teachers as the primary resource for the high-quality development of
schools, we deeply implement the “Strengthening Schools with Talents” strategy,
adhere to the concept of “making good use of existing talents, introducing
outstanding talents, and gathering and sharing talents”, and play a good
combination of talent work. We have built a high-level and high-quality teaching
team with over 700 teachers introduced during the Reporting Period. While
focusing on the introduction of talents, we also do a good job in training young
backbone teachers. We encourage young and middle-aged teachers to participate
in various teaching competitions regularly to strengthen their professional ethics

and train their basic skills to perform their teaching duties.

Deepening the reform of employment and entrepreneurship
education and broadening internship and employment
channels through multiple ways

We attach great importance to the employment of students, and actively broaden
the employment channels for graduates by expanding our network of school-
enterprise cooperation, organising a number of “Visiting Enterprises to Expand
Job Opportunities” activities, establishing off-campus practice teaching bases,
improving the employment guidance system for graduates, building a platform for
students to practice and exercise, and organising various on-campus job fairs and

supply and demand meetings.

Aligning with industrial development trends, and continuously
creating high-standard modern campus environment

In order to promote the high quality development of our education operation,
the Group has made precise investment in the campus environment, facilities
and equipment, and has continuously enriched our school operation, so as to
enhance the quality of our education and the standard of our school operation.
During the Reporting Period, we further expanded the new campuses of Huali
College, which include student dormitory, sports center, indoor swimming pool,
teaching buildings and laboratories, providing modern and high-standard teaching
and living facilities to our students, as well as stronger growth opportunities for

students enrolled in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R M AT

Student Enrollment EEL AE
As at August 31, 2025, the total number of student enrollment in our three MR2025%8A31H BRI =FFERHFEES
schools reached over 55,000, representing an increase of 3.0% compared to the H4a A EEEIB 55,0004 - B2024F [F EA & hn

corresponding period in 2024. 3.0% °
As at As at
August 31, August 31,
2025 2024
A20254F K20244F
Number of student enrollment MEBEAY 8H31H 8HA31H
Higher Education Program BEHEE
Huali College Ehva--15 25,291 25,162
Huali Vocational College EHEER 25,023 21,441
Secondary Vocational Education HEREHS
Huali Technician College = AT ERR 5,353 7.414
Total “et 55,667 54,017
10 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Range of Tuition Fees and Boarding Fees

The following table sets out the tuition fee rates and boarding fee rates of our
schools for the 2024/2025 and 2023/2024 academic years:

Management Discussion and Analysis

LN =R EC I el

EERSHEEHE

ROEEEFEENKE

Tuition fee rates™

in academic year

BESHATO
2024/2025 2023/2024

(RMB) (RMB)
(AR#) (ARMTT)

T & #52024/2025 }2 2023/2024 2 F K 12

Boarding fee rates

in academic year

BESEEKT
2024/2025 2023/2024

(RMB) (RMB)
(ARMT) (AR#T)

Higher Education Program BEHERE
Huali College EVER
Four-to-five-year undergraduate P % A F AR}
program® RIZ@
International program B R AR 12
Huali Vocational College EVRESKR

Three-year junior college program = #| K ZH 852
Secondary Vocational Education FEBEHE

30,800-37,800
40,800

12,880-23,800

30,800-37,800
40,800

13,800-22,800

1,300-7,100
1,300-7,100

1,300-7,000

1,300-7,100
1,300-7,100

1,300-7,000

Huali Technician College EVH AR
Three-year vocational program® —FHIBE
PRI 8,800-15,800 11,500-18,000 1,900-3,600 1,000-3,500
Notes: st
(1) Tuition fee rates shown above for all of our schools are applicable to students admitted in the (1) R RERFIFTE SR E B KT EE BN EES
relevant academic year only. FREEE -
(2) Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs, and a five-year (2) E BB ERENFHARRRE  2EFEREH
undergraduate program in architecture. FFHIARIRIE
(3) Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs, as well as two-, (3) EVRMERBERHE=-FHBERE  TAETR

four- and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different types
of technician diplomas of Huali Technician College. In addition, we offer students at Huali
Technician College a dual-diploma program, in which students are permitted to take junior
college courses at Huali Vocational College and obtain a junior college diploma awarded by
Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing the National Higher Education

Entrance Exam for adults.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE T AT

Awards and Recognitions Received During the Reporting

Period

We received numerous awards and recognitions during the year ended August 31,
2025 in recognition of the quality of education we provide and the outstanding
achievements of our operations. The following table sets forth some of the awards

and recognitions we have received:

Award/Recognition

o EIE MR

Awarding Organization(s)

BEHBESHREARRT

REZE2025F8A3MHLEFER - HMEST
BEHRENRA  REBMEHAHERER
BB AR B o TRETIBAMES R I

Awarded Entity

%18 /27 HEAS EXER
October 2024 Member of Sino-American “1+2+1" Dual-Degree Program China Center for International Educational Exchange ~ Huali College
(REATBEFENNHEERR) (PHERHERRHL)
2024510 A (REAFEREN121HE TR B Gl e §=prdinta iy v
November 2024 Member Unit of Industry-Education Integration Community Industry-Education Integration Community Huali Vocational
(ZESREMERHAEELR A KRR B ER) (ZESREMERHAEELR S HRE) College
2024511 A PEEBENER A BEARA RFAEN R EL PEHBENERA A BEARA RFE EVBEER
November 2024 Exploration and Practice of Integrating Intangible Cultural Steering Committee of China National Light Industry ~ Huali Vocational
Heritage Inheritance into Talent Cultivation: Awarded the Vocational Education Teaching, Specialized College
Title of "A Typical Case of The Integration of Industry and Committee of Light Industry Art Design,
Education in Vocational Education” Guangdong Industry Polytechnic University
GFEBRRAANTRENRZEER %Iﬁﬁlﬂa&%%ﬁlﬁ YEREZEE  EIEMRS
(BEAFEHAR S ARE0]BR) EXZ88 BREIBERMAZ)
2024511 A FEEARMAANT BENRRATE - iﬁélﬂa%%%ﬂa%ﬂﬂhééé BT EMR EVRESR
[BE#EEHRAEUE IFR %89 BEREIBREBMAS
December 2024 Supporting Institution of National Natural Science National Natural Science Foundation of China Huali College
Foundation of China in 2024 BEREANEELZED)
02XFBERE AN EER KT EL)
2024512 A 2024FAREAR SRR IKTAEN BREANBELZES Evg 1o
December 2024 2024 Advance Unit of National Defense Education Guangdong National Defense Education Society Huali College
(0245 EIHE TIEL i Ef) (ERE#EZE)
2024512 A 20245 BN E TIFLE R EREN#EZE Bkl
December 2024 2024 Advance Unit of National Defense Education Guangdong National Defense Education Society Huali Vocational
024FEIM#E TR EER) (BREN#EZE) College
2024512 A 20245 BB TIFL RS EREN#E2E EUREER
December 2024 2024 Model School of Social Influence in Online Communication  China Higher Education Window, China Education Huali Technician
QOUFEBEERLEFENRRER) Window (FEIRRZE - FEHA 2 &) College
2024%12A 0405 EBRERLETENRREN HEERZE PREHBZE EVRMSR
December 2024 Advanced Unit of Vocational Capacity Construction in Guangdong Vocational Capacity Construction Huali Technician
Guangdong Province in 2024 (RRAEBERNERDE) College
(0U4FEERERBERNRRTEEN)
20245128 14FERREBRENEREEEN EREBELNRRDE FEUREEk
May 2025 Governing Unit of the 5th Vocational and Training Guangdong Association for Private Education Huali Technician
Education Committee (BRARBHENRS) College
(EREBRFERIHEEZERSEN)
2025954 FRERFEEISEERGRREN ERERMAEHE EVRMSEK
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

The Group has always adhered to the founding mission of building a “century-
old university”, upholding the philosophy of high-quality education, with the goal
of cultivating high-level applied and specialized talents to serve the economic
development of the Greater Bay Area. Against the backdrop of rapid industrial
iteration, the Group will firmly seize the opportunities presented by national
strategic emerging industries, closely monitor and meet the needs of the talent
market and optimise its professional layout in time to adapt to industrial reforms,
realizing professional settings aligns closely with industry needs.

The Group will also continue placing emphasis on connotation construction,
increasing investment in teaching and campus hardware, improving high-quality
teaching services, strengthening its educational distinctiveness and brand effect,
and strive to building a high-quality talent cultivation system to achieve the
Group's sustainable long-term development.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have other future plans for
material investments or capital assets.

As of 31 August 2025, there was no significant investment held by the Group.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

Classification Registration

Our business is regulated by, among others, the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC ( (REARLFBERMHKER#E) ). On November 7,
2016, the Decision on Amending the Law for Promoting Private Education of
the PRC (Order of the President of the PRC No. 55) (R &Rk (hEEARLFE
RFHB RHEE) BRTE) (FEARLMBEFFSEE55%) (the “Amendment”)
was promulgated. The Amendment came into force on September 1, 2017. The
Amendment establishes a new classification system for private schools by whether
they are established and operated for profit-making purposes, and the sponsors of
private schools may at their own discretion choose to establish non-profit or for-
profit private schools.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREHRA

According to the Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private
Schools ( (RFER D IBELDEMAEAI) ) promulgated on December 30, 2016, if
an existing private school chooses to register as a non-profit private school, it shall
amend its articles of association in accordance with the relevant laws, continue
its school operation and complete new registration formalities. If an existing
private school chooses to register as a for-profit private school, it shall make
financial settlement of books of account, clarify the ownership of the schools’
land, buildings accumulation with the consent of the relevant departments of the
people’s government at or below the provincial level, pay relevant taxes and fees,
obtain new school operation licenses, apply for re-registration and continue the
school operations.

The Amendment is silent on the specific measures regarding how existing
schools can choose to become for-profit private schools, which, according to the
Amendment, shall be regulated by the corresponding laws and regulations to be
promulgated by the local government authorities. The Guangdong government
has promulgated implementation regulations under the Amendment, including
the Implementation Opinions of the Government of Guangdong Province on
Encouraging the Operation of Education by Social Forces and Promoting the
Healthy Development of Private Education ( (BEREARBNERSETE HE
BERABRERNHBERREENERER) ) promulgated by the Government
of Guangdong Province on April 24, 2018, the Implementation Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of For-Profit Private Schools ( (BER 4 F| 1 R 122
WEEBEREMYPHE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of Education
of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province and Department of Market Supervision and Administration
of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30, 2018, and the
Implementation Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools ( {#
RERBRERHIELERILE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of
Education of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social
Security of Guangdong Province, Department of Civil Affairs of Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
Organization Committee Office and Department of Market Supervision and
Administration of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30,
2018.

The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the classification
and registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as for-profit
private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further specify the
process of classification and registration, for example, (i) when should we notify
the relevant authorities regarding our decision for our schools to be for-profit or
non-profit schools; (i) the preferential tax treatments that may be enjoyed by a
for profit school or a non-profit school, respectively; (iii) whether respective public
funding can be obtained by a for-profit school and a non-profit school; and (iv)
respective costs for a for-profit and a non-profit school to obtain land use rights.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Under the existing regulatory environment and based on the current interpretation
of the Amendment and the relevant implementing regulations, we intend to
register our three schools as for-profit private schools subject to further detailed
local rules and regulations regarding the conversion of existing schools as
and when promulgated and brought into effect by relevant local government
authorities.

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the
Amendment with respect to various aspects of the operations of private schools,
such as the respective preferential tax treatment which may be enjoyed by for-
profit private schools and non-profit private schools. Accordingly, as of the date of
this report, we were not able to fully evaluate or quantify the potential impact that
the implementation of the Amendment may have on our business operations.

The Implementation Rules
On April 7, 2021, the State Council issued the Implementation Rules for the Law
for Promoting Private Education of the PRC ( {FFEAREMBERMA B RELZH
&5 ) (the “Implementation Rules”) and the Implementation Rules have been
effective from September 1, 2021.

Based on our current understanding and interpretation of the Implementation
Rules, there would not be any substantive implications on the legal framework
of any of our PRC operation. We intend to register our three schools as for-
profit private schools in light of the Amendment and the relevant implementing
regulations in effect.

Pursuant to the Implementation Rules, public schools shall not sponsor or
participate in sponsoring for-profit private schools while public schools of
vocational education could absorb the capital, technology, management and other
elements of enterprises to sponsor or participate in sponsoring for-profit private
schools of vocational education.

In addition, the Implementation Rules will not have any impact on our expansion
strategy through acquisition.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income derived from tuition fees and
boarding fees for the education services provided in the ordinary course at its PRC
operating schools. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB1,445.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
13.9% year-on-year from approximately RMB1,268.5 million for the corresponding
period of last year, which was attributable to the increases in both the number
of student enrollment and average tuition fees during the year ended August 31,
2025 ("Reporting Period”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREH RN

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales represented primarily staff costs, depreciation and amortization,
property management and maintenance fees, school consumables, utilities
expenses and others. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group’s cost of
sales amounted to approximately RMB722.8 million, increased by approximately
20.0% year-on-year from approximately RMB602.2 million for the year ended
August 31, 2024, which was attributable to an increase in staff costs.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately RMB722.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 8.4%
year-on-year from approximately RMB666.3 million for the year ended August
31, 2024. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group achieved a gross profit
margin of approximately 50.0%, representing a decrease of 2.5% year-on-year as
compared with the corresponding period of last year. The reduction in gross profit
margin was mainly attributable to the increase in cost of sales, which was partially
offset by the increase in student enrollment and average tuition fees for the year
ended August 31, 2025.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses, primarily consisting of marketing staff costs, promotion expenses
and other expenses, increased by approximately 56.5% from approximately
RMB29.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2024 to approximately RMB45.7
million for the year ended August 31, 2025, which was due to an increase in

marketing expense for the 2024/2025 academic year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of administrative staff costs, office
expenses, traveling and entertainment expenses, depreciation of property,
plant and equipment relating to office buildings and right-of-use assets,
utilities expenses, auditors’ remuneration and other miscellaneous expenses.
Administrative expenses increased by approximately 30.6%, from RMB139.3
million for the year ended August 31, 2024 to approximately RMB181.9 million for
the year ended August 31, 2025.

Other Income — Net

Other income — net primarily consists of rental income, catering and relevant
service income, government subsidies and others. For the year ended August
31, 2025, the Group recorded other income of approximately RMB58.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately 13.8% year-on-year from approximately
RMB51.5 million for the year ended August 31, 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Gains — Net

Other gains — net primarily consist of net exchange losses, net fair value gains
on investment properties, provisions for litigations and others. For the year ended
August 31, 2025, the Group's other gains amounted to approximately RMB11.7
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB12.7 million year-on-year
compared with approximately RMB24.4 million gains for the year ended August
31, 2024.

Finance Expenses — Net

The Group’s finance expenses — net include interest expenses on bank and other
borrowings (after deducting amounts capitalized in the cost of property, plant and
equipment), imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term other borrowings
and long-term interest payables due to a related party, interest income generated
from bank deposits and others. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group
recorded finance expenses of approximately RMB69.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 19.4% as compared to approximately RMB86.1 million
for the year ended August 31, 2024, which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in interest expense on bank and other borrowings during the year ended August
31, 2025. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group recorded finance income
of approximately RMB1.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately 73.7%
as compared to approximately RMB3.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2024.

Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group recorded a profit before taxation
of approximately RMB495.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
1.7% year-on-year from approximately RMB487.6 million for the year ended
August 31, 2024.

Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group recorded approximately RMB37.6
million in taxation, representing an increase of approximately 3.0% year-on-year
from approximately RMB36.5 million for the year ended August 31, 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE T AT

Adjusted Net Profit

Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures is defined as profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company excluding interest expenses
on discount of long-term other borrowings and long-term interest payable due
to a related party, imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term other
borrowings due to the controlling shareholder of the Company, net exchange
losses, interest expenses on discount of compensation payable for the Conversion
of Huali College and net fair value gains on investment properties. As such items
are non-recurring in nature and not related to the performance of the Group's
operation, the Directors consider that the presentation of the Group’s adjusted net
profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures by eliminating the impact of certain
non-recurring items can reflect the operational performance better during the
respective years. Furthermore, the Group’s management also uses the non-HKFRSs
financial measures to assess the Group's operating performance and formulate
business plans. The Group believes that the non-HKFRSs financial measures provide
useful information to the investors about its core business operations, which they
can use to evaluate the Group’s operating results and understand its consolidated

results of operations in the same manner as the management.

Adjusted net profit is calculated by adjusting profit for the Reporting Period of
approximately RMB458.3 million (year ended August 31, 2024: approximately
RMB451.1 million), net fair value gains on investment properties of approximately
RMB14.4 million (year ended August 31, 2024: approximately RMB28.7 million),
interest expenses on discount of long-term other borrowings and long-term interest
payable due to a related party of approximately RMB14.5 million (year ended August
31, 2024: approximately RMB17.4 million), interest expenses on discount of long-
term other borrowings due to the controlling shareholder of the Company of
approximately RMBO0.8 million (year ended August 31, 2024: RMBnil), net exchange
losses of approximately RMBO0.8 million (year ended August 31, 2024: approximately
RMB3.6 million), and interest expenses on discount of compensation payable for
the Conversion of Huali College of approximately RMBnil (year ended August 31,
2024 approximately RMBO0.4 million). The Group’s adjusted net profit increased by
approximately 3.5% from approximately RMB443.8 million for the year ended August
31, 2024 to approximately RMB459.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at August 31, 2025, the Group's property, plant and equipment amounted
to approximately RMB5,259.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
7.1% year-on-year from approximately RMB4,909.9 million recorded as at August
31, 2024. Such increase was a result of the construction of Jiangmen campus of
Huali College.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's funding is primarily derived from cash flows generated by operating
activities and bank financing from financial institutions. These funds are
effectively utilized to support daily operations, capital expenditures, and strategic
investment opportunities. To enhance financial control and maintain sufficient
liquidity, the Group adheres to prudent financial management policies. Our core
financial objectives include: maintaining a sound capital structure by keeping the
capital-to-debt ratio within an appropriate range; optimizing funding costs; and
maintaining adequate cash reserves and bank credit facilities to meet operational
and development needs. Through regular cash flow budgeting, stringent capital
expenditure approval procedures, and ongoing risk assessment, we are committed
to improving fund utilization efficiency, thereby ensuring the Group’s financial
stability and sustainable development.

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group recorded approximately RMB389.5
million in capital expenditures, representing a decrease of approximately 25.6%
from approximately RMB523.4 million for the year ended August 31, 2024, which
was mainly due to the decrease in the expenditure for construction of new campus
buildings for the year ended August 31, 2025 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year.

Bank Balances and Cash

As at August 31, 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
RMB966.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 14.9% from
approximately RMB840.9 million as at August 31, 2024.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Debt Ratio

As at August 31, 2025, the Group had liquid funds (representing bank balances
and cash and restricted cash) of approximately RMB974.8 million (August 31,
2024: approximately RMB841.4 million) and borrowings of approximately
RMB2,049.2 million (August 31, 2024: approximately RMB2,235.0 million).
The Group's debt ratio as at August 31, 2025, represented by borrowings as a
percentage of total assets, was 25.7% (August 31, 2024: 29.8%). The Group's
gearing ratio as at August 31, 2025, represented by borrowings as a percentage of
total equity, was 47.6% (August 31, 2024: 58.5%).

B2 E R R AT

M BERRE

20254 8A31H  AEEMWE - ME K&
HHARYES,259.7HE T - BHR2024F8 A 31
AR SO ARKL4909.9BETRELLLIE MG

7% o B INTY B T BT PIRIR 1R
TR
BAREX

AEENESTEXRAREEYELNRDR
ENTREBRENRTHE ZFESHE
MERANZFHARSE BEAMXRRBIER
ERE - ANBRUBERIRFSARRDE
T AEREBTEENMBERZRR - HMA0
LM EREE  BBREREEBEL X
FREEEREARBIEENEANER (LB
SRA REBZRNBSREBERTEER
EARREERBERB R EhEHRERE
BE  BROEALBELRERF RFERRA
fli - RUBARABESMARE - KW EEAR
SENMBIBEMRAFEER -

HZE2025F8A31AILLFE  AEHERBE
AAXHAREIZISHE L WEE2024F
SA3IHIEFENARBS23AGE L NBRY
25.6% + TERZMHANEE2025F8A31HIEF
EFREEIRE X EBREFRER DK -

RITEBRERAS

202568 A31H  AEEMRITEBKRKIAS
HARBI6.6EET - WMN20245F8HA31H
HARMEBA0.9E B TIEILI14.9% o

nBES  MBERREKLE
72025568 A31H - AXEBRBES (AR
THEERBASRZREES)NARKEI7488
Br(2024F8A31H : HARKESL14EE
TL)  AREROARE2,049.28 E (2024
FQA31H : YARE2,235.0F&7T) - K&
B 7120258 A31 HMEM LR (LAMERIGLRE
ENEDHERR)A257% (20248 H318 -
29.8%) - NEBR2025F8 A31HHW ARG
R(AERERZBENADOLLET) B47.6%
(202448 H31H : 58.5%) °

£ B 19
2025 FEHE



Foreign Exchange Risk Management

For the Group's operation in the PRC, the major revenue and expenses are
denominated in RMB, while there are certain monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the United States dollars,
which would expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management of
the Company monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals and Significant Investment
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals or significant
investment for the year ended August 31, 2025.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have other future plans for
material investments or capital assets.

Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at August 31, 2025, the Group pledged the charging right of the service fees
from Huali Technician College, Huali Vocational College and Huali College, owned
by a group entity according to the contractual arrangements and the equity
interest of certain group entities as securities for the banking facilities granted to
the Group. Save as disclosed above, there was no other material charge on the
Group’s assets as at August 31, 2025.

Contingent Liabilities
As at August 31, 2025, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.
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Directors and Senior Management

As at the date of this report, our Board consists of seven Directors, including four

executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zhifeng (3R & &), aged 59, is the founder of the Group. He was first
appointed as the first Director on May 24, 2016, was redesignated as the chairman
of the Board and an executive Director on December 18, 2017 and was appointed
as Chief Executive Officer on November 19, 2021, and resigned as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company with effect from August 10, 2025. Mr. Zhang was also
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He
is primarily responsible for the overall management and strategic development of
the Group.

In addition to his contribution to the Group, Mr. Zhang was a member of the 8th
and 9th Zengcheng City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FRIARBUAHAERIEMME/\E - ENEZEF) and a special
committee member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FEARBAHEEZE+—fEE
WEAZEBE®E). Mr. Zhang was awarded “Special Contribution Award for Private
Education of the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the People’s Republic of
China” (GZBI705F R E FHIKEEHE) by the Institute of Educational Chinese
Academy of Management Science ({ BIE 2RI 2 FTF B B 28 7L FT) and China
Academy of Management Science Advisory Department (FF Bl & Rl 25T 8 A
#6) in April 2019.

Mr. Zhang's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets
out the awards received by him:
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Date Awards Awarding authority
HE 18 TE B ER
July 2005 “2005 Outstanding Persons of Education Innovation Jointly presented by Chinese Academy of

in China” (“20052 B E B AIFTAY")

Management Science (FF B &2 B2 987),

China Society for Futures Studies (F B R KAFFE )
and School of Education, Peking University
JERREBHE 2ht)

20054 7A [2005& EEE 2 A BlET A9 ]

September 2005 “Outstanding Contribution Award” presented by
Innovation and Development of Private Education in
China and Educational, Scientific and Cultural Award
of Anna Chan Chennault Campaign (FER %A
BIFEER REGHBCERYEY "HHRERE")
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200549 A

REERREMEL - REARKRARE RIERAEHK
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Jointly presented by Office for Educational,
Scientific and Cultural Award of Anna Chan
Chennault (FREIBHE P A E) and
China Adult Education Association (FF B A
BEHE)
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Date Awards Awarding authority

B #e18 TREEHER

April 2019 “Special Contribution Award for Private Education of  Jointly presented by Institute of Educational Chinese
the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the People’s  Academy of Management Science (1 B%&E EF} £
Republic of China” ("B 70BF RIFH B 7k = B W 7e b2 B B2 M 9T AT) and China Academy of
4E") Management Science Advisory Department

(Fp BB B R} 220 7 B 5 s BD)
201944 A [EE70BFRMAEFHRERE] B E R 2R A M 2RI E B IR 2

September 2020

202049 A

Wi IEbe vt s AP B & 2R IR

“Qutstanding Persons for 40 Years of Private Education Guangdong Province Private Education Association

of Guangdong” ("ERRIHE N+ EAF 5= L 55
A7)
[EREMHE M AFREERAY]

Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Zhang Yude, an executive Director.

Mr. YE Yaming (E#8]), aged 66, was appointed as an executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on December 18, 2017, and resigned as
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from November 19, 2021. Mr.
Ye was also appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee on August
16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of

the Group.

Mr. Ye's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets out

the awards received by him:
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September 1994

199449 H
March 1998

199843 A
September 2004

20044 9A

“Qutstanding Educator of Vocational Training in

Guangdong Province” (“EBRA M EHFINEFHAT")

[ BEER A 3t 3 55 512 F52RAD |
Advanced Worker of the Labor System in the City
(BB RSTETIEE)

R TIEE

“Guangzhou Outstanding Educator”

("EIMNTEFHEN(HE THEE)")

S o
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[EMNTESZE (HE THEE) )
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Guangdong Provincial Labor Department
(B A Y EEE) (currently known as the
Department of Human Resources and
Social Security of Guangdong Province
(BREANERTLREEE))
ERAESDHERBERE AN ERMESREE)

Qingyuan Labor Bureau (&M 4 &) P)
(currently known as Qingyuan Municipal
Human Resources and Social Security Bureau
(BERMANERMEERERD))
BETESHRH(EBBEETANBERMEERER)
Jointly presented by Guangzhou Education Bureau
(BT 2E B) and Guangzhou Education
Foundation (EMTHEEEE)
BMNTHERERMNTHE LS SHAREK



Directors and Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Yude (5R# &), aged 34, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on December 18, 2017 and re-designated from a non-executive Director to an
executive Director and appointed as the chief operating officer of the Company on
November 19, 2021 and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on August 10, 2025. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation of the
Group.

Mr. Zhang has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since
December 2015. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang served as a financial analyst
at Mandarin Investment Group in California from May 2014 to December 2015.

Mr. Zhang Yude is the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director.

Mr. XIAO Xiaobing (H/NEE), aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
on August 10, 2025. He is primarily responsible for the teaching management and
operational affairs of Huali technician college.

Mr. Xiao has been appointed as the vice president of Guangdong Huali Technician
College (FERZE FATET) since September 2020. Prior to this, he served as the
President’s Assistant at the same institution from May 2019 to August 2020, and
as the Director of the Admissions Office of Huali University Group from June 2015
to March 2019.

Before entering the education sector, Mr. Xiao worked as a software developer
at Jiangxi Lianchuang Communication Co., Ltd. CTFAAIBEARAR) from
June 2001 to May 2002. Subsequently, from June 2002 to July 2013, he held
various roles at Guangdong Huali Technician College, including Class Teacher,
Lecturer, Department Head, and Deputy Director of the Academic Affairs Office.
From August 2013 to May 2015, he served as the Deputy Director of the Academic
Affairs Office and Director of the Practical Training Center at Guangzhou Huali
Science and Technology Vocational College (E/NZESIRIFRE2EERT) |

Mr. Xiao obtains a Bachelor’'s degree in Computer Software from Jiangxi Normal
University CTFEM&A28) in June 2001 and a Master’s degree in Software
Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (ZEFRREHEAR
) in June 2011. In 2013, he was certified as a Senior Lecturer in Computer
Science. He currently serves as a Provincial Supervisor for Technical Colleges in
Guangdong Province and has been the Deputy Leader of the Computer Application
Teaching and Research Group under the Guangdong Technical Colleges Teaching
and Research Association since 2007.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna (& #8), MH JP, aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairperson of the Audit Committee
on 17 July 2020. She was also appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee on 25 June 2025. She is primarily responsible for supervising the
compliance and corporate governance matters of the Group and providing
independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Dr. Chiu is currently the Executive Director cum Chief Financial Officer of Bonjour
Holdings Limited (stock code: 0653). She is also an independent non-executive
director of Nanyang Commercial Bank, China Oilfield Services Limited (stock code:
2883), China Science and Education Industry Group Limited (Stock code: 1756),
and Shenwan Hongyuan (HK) Limited (stock code: 0218). From 2006 to 2019, she
served as senior vice president, Group Chief Representative (Eastern China) and
consultant in various member companies of the Li & Fung Group.

Dr. Chiu was awarded the Medal of Honor by the Hong Kong Government in 2013
and a Justice of the Peace in 2017. Dr. Chiu received numerous titles including
the “Outstanding Women Professionals Award” in 2014, the “Outstanding
Businesswoman Award” in 2017 and the “GBA Outstanding Women Entrepreneur
Award” in 2021. Dr. Chiu is a member of the Shanghai Municipal Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC), and Hong Kong
Accounting Advisory Expert of the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of
China. She is also a fellow member and Past President of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Chiu graduated with a First-Class Honors degree in Economics from
the University of Sheffield (UK) and earned an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. She was also
awarded an honorary doctorate from the University of Sheffield.

Mr. YANG Ying (# %), aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily
responsible for supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of
the Group and providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Yang is a professor of the School of Economics and the dean of Investment
Economics Department at Jinan University (2F KX2). Mr. Yang joined Jinan
University (B AZ) in April 1988, at which he was successively a teaching
assistant, lecturer and associate professor at the School of Economics before
his current position. Prior to joining Jinan University, Mr. Yang was a teaching
assistant in finance at Guangdong Institute for Nationalities (R R ik EiR 8 & XK)
from July 1983 to April 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

Apart from his teaching career, Mr. Yang has played an active role in civic
engagements. He was a member of the Standing Committee of the 11th and 12th
People’s Congress of Guangdong Province (F+—ERFE+ _EEREAATZE
@) and is the vice president of Council of the 1st Think Tank Association for the
Promotion of Economic, the Scientific Development of Guangdong Province (55—
EERECERSHRESFERESTHEEE), the Guangdong Research Association
for Economy and Science & Technology Development (& A& 4% R 3 R 7T
&), the Guangdong Comprehensive Economics Research Association (J& 547 81 4%
JERIFEE), the Guangdong County Economy Research and Development Promotion
Association (&R & 4OEMITEEREEHRE), and the supervisor general of the
Guangdong Zhifu Public Welfare Promotion Association (FERA B AR HEE)
and the vice president of the Guangdong Association of Senior Professors and
Director of the Economics and Management Professional Committee (BR & EH
R aRQESHEREEXZES).

The following table also sets out Mr. Yang's key publications:
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1996 A Study on the Collaborative Development of Hong South China University of Technology Press
Kong, Macao, and Zhuhai (BRI R ZREHIE)) (EREETREHRT)

19964 CERIRHRERERMTT) IR T RS ARt

2002 New Theory of Hong Kong Economy ({ &£ E#am )  Jinan University Publishing House (Z A2 HiRAL)

20024 (EBKBE®R) ZEAZ Mt

2008 Introduction to Technology Transfer ({EH%AKR#E (L Guangzhou Yangcheng Evening News Press
) (I Re R AR L)

20084 (R RE( bR ) 4508 3R B At

2016 Preliminary Study on the Basic Ideas about Construction China Development ((FEZRE))
of the GPRD Free Trade Area KEREHESHkEE
AERBBIFRE))

20164 (EREBRESAREERERBEME) (CREER)

Mr. DING Yi (T %), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for
supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of the Group and
providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Ding has been a teacher at South China Normal University (2 Al &5 A22)
since July 2001 and has been serving as a professor at the School of Music of
the university since September 2006. Previously, Mr. Ding was a solo artist of
Guangdong Song & Dance Ensemble (BRI FEEIPT) from September 1989 to
September 2001.

Mr. Ding has been a standing committee member of the 11th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (4
BARBUGGHAEZE T —EEREZEE) since January 2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Yiyu ((RE%2®), aged 33, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer
of the Company on February 2, 2023. He is mainly responsible for the financial
management and overall governance of the Group.

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in 2016. From September 2016 to November
2018, Mr. Zhang was appointed as the assistant to the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, mainly responsible for the preparation of listing. From
December 2018 to October 2022, Mr. Zhang served as a senior associate in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, Guangzhou Branch, mainly responsible
for providing audit services for the manufacturing and real estate industries.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration with major
in Accounting in the University of the Incarnate Word in May 2016. Mr. Zhang
obtained the Certified Public Accountant from the Washington Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in February 2019. Mr. Zhang also obtained the
Certified Public Accountant issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in September 2022.

Mr. Jiao Jianpeng (F#2H8), aged 41, was appointed as a vice president of the
Company on August 4, 2022. He is mainly responsible for the adult academic
education business, civil servant training business and postgraduate entrance
examination training business of the Group.

Mr. Jiao joined the Group in 2008. Since July 2008, Mr. Jiao successively served as
the secretary of the chairman’s office and a deputy director of the procurement
management centre of Huali Investment. From July 2008 to October 2017, Mr.
Jiao served as a full-time teacher in the Department of Mechanical and Electrical
Engineering of Guangzhou Huali College. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiao
worked as an assistant engineer in Guangdong Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd.
from August 2007 to July 2008.

Mr. Jiao received his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical design, manufacturing and
automation from Guangdong University of Technology in June 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lin Zhixiang (#X&#]), aged 39, was appointed as a vice president of the
Company on August 4, 2022. Mr. Lin was also appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company on November 24, 2025. He is mainly
responsible for the development of academic qualification improvement business

of the Group.

Mr. Lin has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since March
2021. From July 2020 to February 2021, Mr. Lin served as a deputy general
manager of Huali Property, mainly responsible for finance and financing.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin served as a sales manager of Mitsui & Co.
(Guangdong) Ltd from July 2009 to June 2012, mainly responsible for domestic
and foreign trade of non-ferrous metals. From July 2012 to November 2014, Mr.
Lin served as an account manager of Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China
Merchants Bank, responsible for corporate business marketing. From December
2014 to August 2016, Mr. Lin served as the head of the business department of
Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China Merchants Bank, mainly responsible
for the corporate business of the sub-branch. Subsequently from August 2016
to June 2020, he served as the assistant to the president of the Guangzhou
Zengcheng Sub-branch of Industrial Bank, mainly responsible for assisting
the president in managing the corporate financial team, developing external

customers, and providing financial services.

Mr. Lin obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (BR/NEINEARZ) in June 2009.
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EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended August
31, 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of private higher and vocational
education institutions. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the
Reporting Period is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at August 31, 2025 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 140.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and its likely future
development and outlook, important events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year, an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators,
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, details
regarding the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group, and the Group’s key relationships
with stakeholders as required under Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are set out in “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report and all such
discussions constitute part of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Risks relating to the Structured
Contracts” in this report, the following list is a summary of certain principal risks
and uncertainties faced by the Group:

o Our business depends on our ability to maintain or raise the tuition fee rates

and boarding fee rates we charge at our schools;

. Our business and results of operations depend on the number of students
we may admit, which in turn is subject to the admission quotas approved
by relevant education authorities and limited by the capacity of our school
facilities; and

° We are exposed to concentration risks as all of our schools are located in
Guangdong Province.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with effect from
December 23, 2019.

According to the Dividend Policy, (i) no less than 30% of the distributable net
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company may be distributed to
the Shareholders and (ii) dividends may be distributed twice a year after the
announcement of the interim results and the full year results, respectively.

Any amount of dividends we pay will be at the discretion of our Directors and will
depend on inter alia, general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
the Group’s expected capital requirements and future expansion plans; statutory
and regulatory restrictions; contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company; taxation considerations; Shareholders’ interests; and other factors that
the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the relevant laws. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount of the
dividends will be subject to the factors as disclosed above and such other factors
affecting the Group.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that dividends will be recommended or declared in any particular
amount for any given period.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended August
31, 2025 (year ended August 31, 2024: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Friday, January 23, 2026. Notice convening
the forthcoming AGM will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.cseindustry.com) in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, January
20, 2026 to Friday, January 23, 2026, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the forthcoming AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, January 19, 2026. The record date
for determining the entitlement of the shareholders of the Company to attend and
vote at the AGM will be Friday, January 23, 2026.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of changes in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2025 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended August 31, 2025 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2025 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
As at August 31, 2025, the Company’s reserve available for distribution to equity
holders amounted to approximately RMB602.4 million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended August 31, 2025 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Ye Yaming

Mr. Zhang Yude

Mr. Zou Kang (resigned on August 10, 2025)

Mr. Xiao Xiaobing (appointed on August 10, 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP

Mr. Yang Ying

Mr. Ding Yi

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of our Company are
set out in”Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, all Directors
appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Xiao
Xiaobing, appointed as the executive Director on August 10, 2025, will retire from
office at the AGM and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election as executive
Director at the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Yude and
Mr. Yang Ying shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a period of three years commencing from November 19, 2024,
August 10, 2025 or August 16, 2025. The term of each of the service contracts
shall end when the service contract is terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the other party not
less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial period of three years commencing from
July 17, 2023 or August 16, 2025 which may be terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party serving on
the other party a prior written notice of not less than three months. None of the
Directors has entered into a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Zou Kang tendered his resignation as an executive Director with effect from
August 10, 2025.

Mr. Xiao Xiaobing was appointed as an executive Director with effect from August
10, 2025.

With effect from August 10, 2025, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng ceased to serve as the chief
executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and Mr. Zhang
Yude, an executive Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no change in the information
which is required to be disclosed and has been disclosed by the Directors pursuant
to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at August 31, 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of Director or Chief Executive Capacity/Nature of Interest

BEERTETRABHRE -
ﬁ%%ﬁ&%ﬁ%i%ﬁ&ﬁ
y=)

20258 A31H  EERARAEBITERA
BRAARSEAREE(TERES KRR
BIEXVER) Bk (D - BREARG REEZTES
MIRIEES RS ISR EXVEETRESH A
MERRNRI Rz R RAR (BEEER
BES LB GO 2 BRGSO E ESR A
BRZEHIAR)  REERBEZFRPEE
BIE3s2E AR ENE LRz ERS AR -
FRBEETRANS AR R RERATZER
MABWTR -

Approximate
Percentage of
Number of  Shareholding in

Shares Held the Company®

EARDRRERN
EEQIBRTHAERE 513 RmtE RO A BHBES O
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng @@ Settlor of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
REEEE @ EFERFTA
Mr. Zhang Yude © Beneficiary of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
RIBTERES BEEXEmA

(L) — Long position
Notes:

(1) As at August 31, 2025, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co is held
on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited
is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr.
Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children as the
beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children, Trust Co and
UBS Trustees (B.V.1.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the 900,000,000 Shares held by Huali
Education.

(3) Mr. Zhang Yude (the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng) was one of the beneficiaries of HL-Diamond
Trust.

(4) With effect from August 10, 2025, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng ceased to serve as the chief executive
officer of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2025, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at August 31, 2025, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Number of  Shareholding in
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Held the Company®
IERDFREN
REREM B4, ERmtE RO BE BMAE DM
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited® Trustee 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited? FEA
UBS Nominees Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
UBS Nominees Limited® RPAE 2 R
Trust Co®@ Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
Trust Co® AR 2 s
Huali Education® Beneficial owner 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
EVHE® EnER A
51job.Inc Beneficial owner 68,331,000 (L) 5.7%
51job.Inc BEmEAA
(L) — Long position (L—tFE
Notes: BfsE -
(1) As at August 31, 2025, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares. 1) M2025F8A31H  BETRHEEA

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co is held
on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited
is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr.
Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children being the
beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children, Trust Co and
UBS Trustees (B.V.1.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the 900,000,000 Shares held by Huali
Education.
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Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2025, the Directors were not aware of
any interests or short positions owned by any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On July 21, 2021, the Company adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme”) in which any employee (whether full time or part time) of any member
of the Group, in each case, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board, who
have contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
(the "Eligible Participant”), will be entitled to participate.

Purposes and objectives

The purposes and objectives of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions
by certain Eligible Participants and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group; (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group; and (iii) to provide
certain Eligible Participants with a direct economic interest in attaining a long-term
relationship with the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to
the Scheme rules, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years commencing
from the date of the first grant of any award.

Scheme limit

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded Shares (the “Awarded
Shares”) which will result in the number of Shares awarded by the Board under
the Scheme exceeding 2% of the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time. The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to an Eligible
Participant under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

Share purchase pursuant to the Scheme

On July 21, 2021, the Board resolved to cause to pay an amount of cash to the
trustee of the Scheme, namely Kastle Limited, for the purchase of the Shares on
and/or off the market at appropriate time for the operation of the Scheme at any
time at its discretion.
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Number of restricted share awards available for grant

As at September 1, 2024 and August 31, 2025, the number of awards available
for grant under the Scheme were 24,000,000 Shares and 24,000,000 Shares,
respectively.

As at August 31, 2025, the total number of Shares available in respect of which
Awarded Shares may be granted under the Scheme was 24,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 2% of the Shares in issue as at that date.

Vesting period

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Scheme and the fulfillment of all
relevant vesting conditions, the respective Awarded Shares held by the trustee
of the Scheme on behalf of a selected participant (the “Selected Participant”)
pursuant to the provision of the Scheme rules shall vest in such selected participant
in accordance with the vesting schedule (if any) and the trustee of the Scheme shall
cause the Awarded Shares to be transferred to such Selected Participant on the
vesting date(s), provided that the Selected Participant remains at all times after the

grant of the Award and on each relevant Vesting Date an Eligible Participant.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the terms and conditions
of an award (if any), including the vesting date, any performance target or any
other conditions, whether restrictive or not, to an Eligible Participant as vesting
conditions.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the award

If a Selected Participant intends to accept the grant of the award under the
Scheme, he/she is required to sign an acceptance letter, which sets out the amount
payable (if any), on acceptance of the award.

Basis of determining the purchase price

The Board may, at any time at its discretion, (a) cause the Company to issue and
allot new Shares to the trustee of the Scheme under a general mandate, or (b)
cause to be paid by the Group an amount of cash to the trustee of the Scheme
for the purchase of Shares on and/or off the market at the prevailing market price
for the operation of the Scheme. Once purchased, the Shares are to be held by
the trustee of the Scheme to satisfy the award of Shares under the Scheme. In the
event that the Board decides to issue and allot new Shares to the trustee of the
Scheme under the general mandate, the trustee shall subscribe the relevant Shares
from the Company at a subscription price per Share which shall not be less than
80% of the benchmarked price of the Shares as set out in Rule 13.36(5) of the
Listing Rules.

For more details of the Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated July 21, 2021.

Since July 21, 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board neither
granted, lapsed or cancelled any awards nor purchase or subscribe shares from the
trustee with the trust fund.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities (including treasury shares (as defined in the
Listing Rules)) during the Reporting Period. As at the end of the Reporting Period,
the Company did not hold any treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules).

BORROWINGS

As at August 31, 2025, the Group has bank and other borrowings of approximately
RMB2,049.0 million (August 31, 2024: approximately RMB2,235.0 million). Details
of which were disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Restricted Share Award Scheme as set out in the section headed
"RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME" above in this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during or subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this Directors’
report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted during the year ended August
31, 2025.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which the controlling Shareholders of the Company or an entity connected with
the controlling Shareholders had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year ended August 31, 2025.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such provision
was in force during the year and remained in force as at the date of this report.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) where the Report
of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders
of the Company by reason of their holding of the listed securities of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
four financial years is set out on page 233 of the annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group’s customers primarily consist of
the Group’s students. The Group did not have any single customer who accounted
for more than 5% of the Group’s revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for 58.9% (for the year ended August 31, 2024: 49.3%) of the Group’s total
purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for 44.4% (for the year ended
August 31, 2024: 18.3%) of the Group's total purchases.

As at the date of this report, except for Huali Construction and its subsidiaries,
none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Please see note 33 “Related Party Transactions” in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, which contains details of the transactions that fall under
the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in entering into the transactions during the Reporting
Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions
During the Reporting Period, the Group has entered into the following non-exempt
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School

Background of the connected person

Yunfu Bilingual School is controlled by Mr. Zhang, our Controlling Shareholder,
chairman and executive Director through Hualiyuan Technology as the school
sponsor. As such, Yunfu Bilingual School is a connected person of our Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the School Properties Lease Agreement with
Yunfu Bilingual School dated September 5, 2017 supplemented
by supplemental agreements dated October 9, 2017 and April 26,
2018 (the “School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School”)

Date September 5, 2017 (supplemented on October 9, 2017 and April
26,2018)
Parties (1) Huali Vocational College (Lessor)

(2)  Yunfu Bilingual School (Lessee)

Terms September 1, 2016 to August 31, 2036

Properties Number 6 teaching building, Number 14 student dormitory
building and Number 2 sports ground located at the Planned Huali
Vocational College Yunfu Campus
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Pursuant to the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School,
Huali Vocational College leased the relevant school properties located at the
Planned Huali Vocational College Yunfu Campus with a total GFA of approximately
44,936 sg. m. to Yunfu Bilingual School at annual rental fees. Such rental fees
are determined based on the pre-agreed monthly rental price of up to RMB23.05
per sg. m. during the term of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School, and shall be paid by Yunfu Bilingual School to Huali Vocational

College on or before October 31 of each year during the term.

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period

The amount of rental fee receivable from Yunfu Bilingual School pursuant to the
School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School for the Reporting
Period was RMB6,772,000.

For further details of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions - Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction

Background of the connected person

Huali Construction was 99.97% and 0.03% directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr.
Zhang Zhifan, the brother of Mr. Zhang, respectively. As such, Huali Construction
is a connected person of our Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing
Rules.
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Principal terms of the Construction Services Framework Agreement
with Huali Construction

On August 10, 2025, the Company and Huali Construction entered into the
2025 Construction Services Framework Agreement regarding the provision of
the construction and decoration services for the Group’s school campuses and
comprehensive academic buildings and/or dormitories located in the Jiangmen
and Zengcheng school campuses in the PRC (the “Construction Services”) for
a term commencing from the Effective Date (i.e. October 21, 2025) until August
31, 2028 (both days inclusive) and set the annual caps in respect of the continuing
connected transactions for the three financial years ending August 31, 2028.

The principal terms of the 2025 Construction Services Framework Agreement are

set out as below:
Date: August 10, 2025
Parties:

The Company; and

Huali Construction

Subject Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries have agreed to, during

matter: the term of the 2025 Construction Services Framework Agreement,
provide the construction services and decoration services. The Group
and Huali Construction (or its subsidiaries) will enter into a separate
contract for each construction project.

Term: Commencing from the Effective Date until August 31, 2028 (both
days inclusive).
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Pricing policy: The construction and/or decoration fees of each project will be

determined with reference to the construction work cost report
(the “Construction Work Cost Report”) as prepared by the
Independent Engineer. When determining the pricing of each
project, the Independent Engineer will make reference to the
following factors, including but not limited to, (i) market prices,
service conditions and the charging basis for the same or similar
services provided by other Independent Third Parties; (ii) the
applicable law and guidance for civil and engineering works (such
as the guidance of the Code of Valuation with Bill of Quantities
of Construction Works ((ER TR ITIEE/FEAERE) )
(national level) and Guangdong Comprehensive Quota of Housing
Construction and Decoration Projects ((BEREEEZAMEH T
242 & EE)) (provincial level) for civil engineering works of the
Company; and the guidance of the Code of Valuation with Bill
of Quantities of Construction Works ((GEFR TR TEE/5E1E
}1#3)) (national level) and Guangdong Comprehensive Quota of
Installation Projects ((ERALFK TREATEERE))? (provincial level)
for installation works of the Company including fire safety, water
supply and drainage, indoor electrical, low current embedding and
lightning protection works), and updates on such guidance materials
issued by the regulatory authorities from time to time; and (iii) the
prices of major materials to be used in the construction projects,
which will be based on the construction project information prices
announced by the Cost Management Department of the Housing
and Urban-Rural Development Bureau ({EE MM BERBHEEBE
IZ &) of the project location during the construction period and
if such information is not available, the market price of the major
materials; and (iv) construction plan of the project.

Generally, for the purpose of Construction Work Cost Report, not
less than three projects previously carried out by Independent Third
Parties would be selected as comparable based on a range of factors
including the similarity in scope of project, product specifications,
level of technicality required and complexity involved, and designs
etc. By benchmarking against the previous transactions carried
out by Independent Third Parties, the Independent Engineer will
be able to ensure that the terms set out in the Construction Work
Cost Report are consistent with the Group’s standard market-
driven pricing terms and are on normal commercial terms no
more favorable to any connected person than those offered
to Independent Third Parties. To the best knowledge of the
management of the Company, after taking into account that the
Independent Engineer, among others, followed the government
regulated or recommended prices apply to the particular type of the
construction transaction, the practice of involving the Independent
Engineer to determine the construction work costs is in line with the
market practice.
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Therefore, having consider the above and the internal policies to
be implemented by the Group for the 2025 Construction Services
Framework Agreement, the Directors are of the view that, the
aforementioned pricing mechanism will ensure that the price of the
transaction contemplated under the 2025 Construction Services
Framework Agreement is fair and reasonable, and on normal

commercial terms or better.

Condition The 2025 Construction Services Framework Agreement shall become
precedent: effective on the Effective Date.

Notes:

(1) Issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development Department of the PRC* ({12

AR B (3 55 A 2052 3R 76)

(2) Issued by the Housing and Urban-Rural Development Department of Guangdong Province* (/&

REEE RIMAEREE)

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period
The transaction amount under the Construction Services Framework Agreement
with Huali Construction for the Reporting Period was approximately RMBnil.

For further details of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction, please refer to the Company’s circular dated September 30, 2025
and the Company's announcements dated August 10, 2025 and October 21, 2025
from our website.

Structured Contracts

The PRC laws and regulations currently restrict operation of tertiary education
to Sino-foreign ownership, in addition to imposing a qualification requirement
on the foreign owners. Further, government approval in respect of Sino-foreign
ownership is being withheld. As a result, the Group, through our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huali Shengda, has entered into the Structured Contracts such that
we can conduct our business operations indirectly in the PRC through the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment while complying with applicable PRC law
and regulations. The Structured Contracts are designed to provide the Group with
effective control over the financial and operational policies of the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment and, to the extent permitted by PRC law and
regulations, the right to acquire the equity interest in and/or the assets of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment after the Listing through Huali Shengda.
As we operate our education business through the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment, which are controlled by Huali Investment and the Registered
Shareholder respectively, and we do not hold any direct equity interest in the PRC
Operating Entities, the Structured Contracts were entered into on March 23, 2017,
pursuant to which all material business activities of the PRC Operating Entities are
directed and supervised by the Group, through Huali Shengda, and all economic
benefits arising from such business of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment are transferred to the Group.

* English translation of names in Chinese which is marked with “*” is for identification purposes only.
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Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huali Shengda, entered into a series of agreements
with the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, including the Business
Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney,
the Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment
Agreement and the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, which form part
of the Structured Contracts and the content of which was supplemented from time
to time.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” of
this report.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

In respect of the Structured Contracts, we have applied to the Stock Exchange
for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
(i) the announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under
the Structured Contracts pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the
requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Structured
Contracts under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of
limiting the term of the Structured Contracts to three years or less under Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules. The specific waiver granted by the Stock Exchange is
subject to various conditions as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” section
of the Prospectus, which include, among others, disclosure in our annual reports
of the Structured Contracts in place during each financial period, engagement
of the Company’s auditor to report on the transactions carried out pursuant to
the Structured Contracts and issue of letters in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, and
annual review by the independent non-executive Directors of the Structured

Contracts and their confirmation in our annual report for the relevant year.

For further details of the structured contracts, please refer to the section headed
“Structured Contracts” in this report and the section headed “Connected
Transactions - Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned

continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”)

and confirmed that, during the Reporting Period:

)

(if)

(iii)

the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in the

ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

the Continuing Connected Transactions are on normal commercial terms;
and

the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in
accordance with relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions entered into in the year
ended August 31, 2025:

44

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Company’s board of directors.

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group.

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected
transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating
Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda
under the contractual arrangements) set out in the section of continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions with the
PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Shengda under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come
to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or
other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the
holders of the equity interests of school sponsor which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Background of the Structured Contracts

We currently conduct our private education business through our PRC Operating
Entities in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally prohibit or restrict foreign
ownership in the private education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations
currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions to Sino-foreign
cooperation, in addition to imposing qualification requirements on the foreign
sponsors. We do not hold any School Sponsor interest in our PRC Operating
Entities. The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain control over and
derive the economic benefits from our PRC Operating Entities, have been narrowly
tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential conflict with
relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above while
availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective
control over all of our operations, on March 23, 2017, our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huali Shengda and Huali Investment entered into various agreements
that constitute the Structured Contracts with, among others, our PRC Operating
Entities, under which all economic benefits arising from the business of our PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment were transferred to Huali Shengda to the
extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service fees
payable by our PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to Huali Shengda.
The parties to the Structured Contracts each entered into certain supplemental
agreements (collectively, the “Supplemental Agreements”) dated September 19,
2017, November 27, 2017, August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019,
July 22, 2019, October 10, 2019, January 17, 2020, July 20, 2020 and November
18, 2024 respectively, to supplement and amend certain terms of the Structured
Contracts.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from NTEEHRAEEEESARERPREER
our PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to our Group stipulated under the B T 3 T 408 T AN W AR 2SR A
Structured Contracts:

| |
| |
| |
The Company : Mr. Zhang :
AAT | Wik ;
|
fffffffffff l 1
100% : S N J
© DO .
v M (8) : 100%
|
Huali Shengda (PRC) }
U BA(FE) ;
f B f : — denotes direct legal and beneficial
(5) ! L 1 (4) | ownership in the equity interest
! o A St L e -
1 A l | S AR AR
I | | |
Directors of PRC Pt o o T
Operating Entities : : : - -~ denotes the Structured Contracts
THYERRES L ; EEBIEAH
|
|
S !
@ ;
SR 25 S e Y |
1 1
1 Huali Investment (PRC) l
1 EVRE(RE) !
| |
| |
: ¢ 100% :
| |
} PRC Operating Entities }
l TEEESR l
| |
| |
Notes: st
(1) Payment of service fees. (1) XSRS E -
(2) Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services. (2) REBREMRG R ERE ARG o
(3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School Sponsor’s interest of Huali Investment in (3) W IREFfPEEEERN 2RI D 2R
our PRC Operating Entities and equity interest in Huali Investment. BREREREURERBEBREER -
(4) Entrustment of School Sponsor’s rights in our PRC Operating Entities by Huali Investment, (4) EVREEAR TSI RLCETENERENHE
including School Sponsor’s power of attorney. T BIEERERERES -
(5) Entrustment of directors’ rights in our PRC Operating Entities by School Directors appointed by (5) EVREMEZAZEREELZAR TEENS
Huali Investment, including school directors’ power of attorney. HEBRNESEN  DRESEREFRES -
(6) Spouse undertaking by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder, who is the shareholder of (6) AECKRE(BETRERE) RS MEH N EA
Huali Investment. oo
(7) Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholder of their equity interest in Huali (7) BRRREMAISANEIRERE -
Investment.
(8) Power of attorney by Mr. Zhang to Huali Shengda. (8) RAEBETRANRES -
(9) Entrustment of Registered Shareholder’s rights in Huali Investment by Registered Shareholder, (9) BERREMEANETRE T DRFER - 2
including Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney. BECBRREESE -
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts
A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Structured
Contracts (as amended and supplemented from time to time) is set out below.

(1) Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, Huali Shengda shall provide
technical services, management support and consulting services, necessary for the
private education business, and in return, Huali Investment and our PRC Operating
Entities shall make payments pursuant to the Structured Contracts.

To ensure the due performance of the Structured Contracts, each of our PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment agreed to comply, and procure its
subsidiaries to comply, with the obligations as prescribed under the Business
Cooperation Agreement set forth as follows in relation to the respective PRC
Operating Entity:

(i) to carry out its private education operations and the business of Huali
Investment in a prudent and efficient manner in accordance with good
financial and business standards while maintaining the asset value of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities and the quality and standard of
private education;

(i) to prepare school development plans and annual working plans in
accordance with the instructions of Huali Shengda;

(i)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant business under
the assistance of Huali Shengda;

(iv)  to carry out relevant business and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations, advice, principles

and other instructions of Huali Shengda;

(v)  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huali Shengda in terms of
employment and removal of senior management and staff;

(vi)  to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huali Shengda in relation

to their respective strategic development; and

(vii) to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain its respective
necessary licenses for the purpose of development of education business.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement,

(a)

48

the Registered Shareholder undertakes to Huali Shengda that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances
which may affect the exercise of their equity interest in Huali Investment,
they shall have made all necessary arrangements and sign all necessary
documents such that their respective successor, guardian, spouse, and
any other person who may as a result of any of the above events obtain
the equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the
enforcement of the Structured Contracts;

Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder undertakes that, in the
event of dissolution or liquidation of our PRC Operating Entities or Huali
Investment, (i) Huali Shengda and/or its authorized person shall have the
rights to exercise all of the school sponsor’s rights on behalf of Huali
Investment and the shareholders’ interest in Huali Investment; (ii) Huali
Investment and/or its shareholder shall transfer all assets received or
receivable in its capacity as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating
Entities and/or as the shareholder of Huali Investment as a result of the
dissolution or liquidation of our PRC Operating Entities and/or Huali
Investment to Huali Shengda or other persons designated by us at nil
consideration, (iii) if consideration is required for such transfer under
the then applicable PRC laws, Huali Investment and its shareholder shall
compensate Huali Shengda and/or the person as designated by us the
amount by proper means and guarantee that Huali Shengda and/or other

persons as designated by us does not suffer any loss; and

Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities agreed that, without the
prior written consent of Huali Shengda, Huali Investment and/or any of our
PRC Operating Entities shall not declare or pay to its shareholders any bonus,
returns, dividend or other interest or benefit. In the event that the Registered
Shareholder as shareholder of Huali Investment or Huali Investment receive
any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or benefit, the Registered
Shareholder or Huali Investment shall unconditionally and without
compensation, transfer such amount to a specific account designated by
Huali Shengda as security for the performance of obligations under the
Structured Contracts and repayment of debt.
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(2) Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, Huali Shengda has agreed to provide exclusive technical services to
Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, including but not limited to,
(a) design, development, update and maintenance of educational software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance
of webpages and websites necessary for the education activities of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities; (c) design, development, update and
maintenance of management information systems necessary for the education
activities of Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities; (d) provision of other
technical support necessary for the education activities of Huali Investment and our
PRC Operating Entities; (e) provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision
of technical training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical
support; and (h) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities.

Furthermore, Huali Shengda has agreed to provide exclusive management
consultancy services to Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, including
but not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or
recommendation of course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment
and training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment support
and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f) preparation of long-
term strategic development plans and annual working plans; (g) development of
financial management systems and recommendation and optimization on annual
budget; (h) advising on design of internal structures and internal management; (i)
provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market research;
(k) preparation of market development plan; (I) building of education management
network; and (m) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy services provided
by Huali Shengda, each of Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities agreed
to pay Huali Shengda a service fee equal to all of their respective amount of net
profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if
required by law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school/statutory surplus reserve (if required by law)); Huali Shengda has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to
the actual services provided and the actual business operations and needs of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, provided that any adjusted amount
shall not exceed the amount mentioned above. Huali Investment and our PRC
Operating Entities do not have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, unless otherwise prescribed under PRC laws and regulations, Huali
Shengda shall have exclusive proprietary rights to any intellectual property of the
technology developed and materials prepared in the course of the provision of
research and development, technical support and services by Huali Shengda to
Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, and any intellectual property
in the products developed, including any other rights derived thereunder, in the
course of performance of obligations under the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement and/or any other agreements entered into
between Huali Shengda and other parties.

(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Registered Shareholder and Huali
Investment have irrevocably granted Huali Shengda or its designated purchaser the
right to purchase all or part of the investment/school sponsor’s interest of Huali
Investment in our PRC Operating Entities (“Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huali Shengda for the transfer of such investment/school sponsor’s
interest under the Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under PRC laws
and regulations. Huali Shengda or its designated purchaser shall have the right to
purchase such proportion of the investment/school sponsor’s interest of our PRC

Operating Entities as it decides at any time.

(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
Huali Investment has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huali Shengda to
exercise all its rights as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating Entities to
the extent permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited
to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors or council members of our PRC
Operating Entities; (b) the right to appoint and/or elect supervisors of our PRC
Operating Entities; (c) the right to understand the operation and financial situation
of our PRC Operating Entities; (d) the right to review the resolutions and records of
the board of directors and financial statements and reports of the PRC Operating
Entities; (e) the right to obtain reasonable return (if existing) or profits as school
sponsor of our PRC Operating Entities in accordance with relevant laws; (f) the
right to acquire residual assets upon liquidation of the schools in accordance with
relevant laws; (g) the right to transfer the school sponsor’s interest in accordance
with relevant laws; (h) the right to approve the management strategy and
investment plan; (i) the right to review and approve the annual budget and profit
distribution plan; and (j) other school sponsor’s rights pursuant to applicable PRC
laws and regulations and the articles of association of our PRC Operating Entities
as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Directors have irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huali Shengda
to exercise all his rights as directors of our PRC Operating Entities as appointed
or nominated by Huali Investment and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws.
These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of
the board of directors as representative of the directors appointed or nominated
by Huali Investment; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all matters
discussed and resolved at board meetings of each of our PRC Operating Entities;
(c) the right to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of our PRC
Operating Entities; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions and
other legal documents to which the directors appointed by Huali Investment have
authority to sign in his/her capacity as directors of our PRC Operating Entities; (e)
the right to instruct the legal representative and financial and business responsible
persons of our PRC Operating Entities to act in accordance with the instruction of
Huali Shengda; (f) the right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors
as prescribed under the articles of association of our PRC Operating Entities; (g)
the right to handle the legal procedures of registration, approval and licensing of
our PRC Operating Entities at the education department, the department of civil
affairs or other government regulatory departments; and (h) other directors’ rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of

our PRC Operating Entities as amended from time to time.

In addition, each of Huali Investment and the School Directors have irrevocably
agreed that (i) Huali Shengda may delegate its rights under the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement to the directors of Huali Shengda
or its designated person, without prior notice to or approval by Huali Investment
and the School Directors; and (ii) any person as successor of civil rights of Huali
Shengda or liquidator by reason of subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huali
Shengda or other circumstances shall have authority to replace Huali Shengda to
exercise all rights under the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement.

(5) School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment
in favor of Huali Shengda, Huali Investment authorized and appointed Huali
Shengda as its agent to act on its behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of
all its rights as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating Entities. For details
of the rights granted, see “Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured
Contracts — (4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” of
this report.
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Huali Shengda has the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to
directors of Huali Shengda or to another designated person. Huali Investment has
irrevocably agreed that the authorization and appointment in the School Sponsor’s
Power of Attorney shall not be invalidated, revoked, prejudiced or otherwise
adversely affected by reason of Huali Investment’s subdivision, merger, winding
up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar events. The School Sponsor’s Power
of Attorney shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’s

and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(6) School Directors’ Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of
the School Directors in favor of Huali Shengda, each of the School Directors,
authorized and appointed Huali Shengda, as his agent to act on his behalf to
exercise or delegate the exercise of all his rights and functions as director of our
PRC Operating Entities. For details of the rights granted, please refer to the section
headed “— Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts - (4) School
Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” in this report for more
details.

Huali Shengda shall have the right to further delegate the rights so delegated
to directors of Huali Shengda or to another designated person. Huali Shengda
shall not delegate any of these rights to anyone whose interest would potentially
conflict with those of our Group. Each of the School Directors has irrevocably
agreed that, unless the Appointee ceases to be a director of Huali Shengda, the
authorization appointment in the School Directors’ Powers of Attorney shall not be
invalidated, prejudiced or otherwise adversely affected by reason of his loss of or
restriction on capacity, death or other similar events. The School Directors’ Power
of Attorney shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(7) Spouse Undertaking
Pursuant to the Spouse Undertaking, the spouse of the Registered Shareholder has
irrevocably undertaken that:

(@) she has full knowledge of and has consented to the entering into of
the Structured Contracts by the relevant Registered Shareholder, and in
particular, the arrangements set out in the Structured Contracts in relation
to the restrictions imposed on the equity interest in Huali Investment, the
pledge or transfer of the equity interest in Huali Investment, and the disposal
of the equity interest in Huali Investment in any other form;

(b)  she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate in the operation,
management, liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to Huali

Investment and our PRC Operating Entities;

572 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report

EVBRABHE S HERENETTELR
AREFHEMIBETFEAL - EXRET AR
AE BEREREXEEMIEELZING
RETREHRD - Fof B a0 BEH
HiBUEHMmEAN O - EXZHHEA
THFEE BREREXEESENBRERE
LRESENZEHZN - F0AB3%ZEH
EAE S/

()EREERESE

BREXEREEUETIBRARIBEARIIZE
REEFREE  SENEEREREEELR
RERRERBITEXRRATEE(FRTERE
BEBESHN RN B - AR ERN
ZFHE  EFL2HARE - ABEANEREK
BE-ABERBEREREEENZEHE] —

# o

EVEASARE - THERENZRETEY
BMAREFHEMIBTEAL - FELHEANFRE
MAREAREEEENETROALRLE
] LR - REBREBETAHEBRAE @ I
FEZEATBRELBRANES  BRE=R
REEMIRELTETSERBALREED
HATRER - HFWSEMBUEGRmAY - 2
BAXINEMINTEE EREZREZERN
ERERELESRNZAHBHN SO EE
EEESAE L S

(7)EC 15 4%
R R BB AR
Fa

B RCER B BC B T BT EE H

(@) EBT2ABLREEBEBLREE
EBIEAK  LEZEBUEARNMES
BRERERREMZRS] - K
BENETRENRESAEAEBT
HEENETRE N2 25

(b) WEBARE YHETSFLEETRER
TRIZEERRNEE B FR MR

B H AR



() she authorizes the respective Registered Shareholder and/or his authorized
person to execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse in relation to
the spouse’s equity interest in Huali Investment in order to safeguard the
interest of Huali Shengda under the Structured Contracts and give effect to
the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms and agrees to all such
documents and procedures;

(d)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar
events relating to the equity interest held by the Registered Shareholder in
Huali Investment;

(e)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by the death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the
spouse, divorce or other similar events; and

(f) all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations under the
Spouse Undertaking shall continue to be valid and binding until otherwise
terminated by both Huali Shengda and the spouse by in writing.

The Spouse Undertaking shall have the same term as and incorporate the terms of

the Business Cooperation Agreement.

(8) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholder
unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and granted first priority security interests
over all of his equity interest in Huali Investment together with all related rights
thereto to Huali Shengda as security for the performance of obligations of the
Registered Shareholder, Huali Investments and our PRC Operating Entities under
the Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huali Shengda as a result of the any event
of default (if any) on the part of the Registered Shareholder, Huali Investment or
each of our PRC Operating Entities and all expenses incurred by Huali Shengda
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the Registered Shareholder,
Huali Investment and/or each of our PRC Operating Entities under the Structured
Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, without the prior written consent of
Huali Shengda, the Registered Shareholder shall not transfer its equity interest
or create any further pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest.
Any unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any transfer of
the equity interest shall be first used in the payment of the Secured Indebtedness
or deposited with such third party as agreed by Huali Shengda. The Registered
Shareholder also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed to
any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the equity pledge agreement.

The pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreement was registered with the
Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce (now known as Guangzhou
Market Supervisory Authority) on September 13, 2018 and the Secured
Indebtedness became effective on the same date.

(9) Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement
and Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

According to the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement and
Registered Shareholder’'s Power of Attorney, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan,
as the Registered Shareholder has executed a power of attorney irrevocably
entrusting and authorizing Huali Shengda or its designated person as his agent to
act on his behalf to exercise all his rights as a shareholder of Huali Investment in
respect of our PRC Operating Entities under the articles of associations of Huali
Investment and pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the rights to:

(a)  determine the business objectives and investment plans of Huali Investment;

(b)  elect and change non-staff representative directors and supervisors of Huali
Investment who are responsible for the operation of our PRC Operating
Entities and to fix their remuneration;

(c)  consider and approve the report of directors of Huali Investment;

(d)  consider and approve the report of supervisors of Huali Investment;

(e)  consider and approve the annual financial budget and final accounts of Huali
Investment;

(f) consider and approve plans for profit sharing and loss recovery of Huali

Investment;
(g) increase or decrease the registered capital of Huali Investment;
(h)  issue bonds of Huali Investment;
(i) merge, subdivide, dissolve, wind-up or change the form of corporate

organization of Huali Investment;
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() amend the articles of association of Huali Investment; and

(k) conduct any other matters that are empowered by the articles of association
of Huali Investment.

Business activities of the PRC Operating Entities
The PRC Operating Entities are, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational College
and Huali technician College. Their business activities are primarily engaged in

higher education services and vocational education services.

Significance and financial contributions of the PRC Operating
Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities and School Sponsors. The
table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC Operating Entities and
the School Sponsors to the Group:
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Regulatory Framework

Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue (as amended
in 2017) ( (AN EEXEIEEE ) (20175 185])) (the “Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue”), the provision of higher education in the
PRC falls within the “restricted” category. In particular, the Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue explicitly restricts higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that foreign investors may only operate higher
education institutions through cooperating with PRC-incorporated entities that are
in compliance with the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperative Education of the
PRC ( (RZEARLFEPINE B Z1EH]) ) (the “Sino-foreign Regulations”).
In addition, the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue provides that
the domestic party shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation,
meaning that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools or
education institutions shall be a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the
domestic party shall account for no less than 50% of the total number of the
members of the board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration
committee of the Sino-foreign school.

On September 6, 2024, the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC jointly promulgated the Foreign
Investment Access Special Management Measures (Negative List) (2024 Version)
(GUIEREEATIEREER (BEBHE) (2024%FHR) ) ) (the "Negative
List”), which became effective on November 1, 2024 and replaced the Foreign
Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue. Pursuant to the Negative List, the

restrictions on foreign investments in higher education remain unchanged.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant to the
Sino-Foreign Regulations, the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign school (whether
a kindergarten, high school or higher education institution) (a “Sino-foreign
School”) must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and
high quality of education (the “Higher Education Qualification Requirement”).
Pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Sino-Foreign Cooperative
Education on Vocational Skills Training ( {FRMNA BB 3 55 B8 52 5| 3t 225 38 i
75) ), the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign technical school must be a foreign
education institution or a foreign vocational skills training institution with
relevant qualification and high quality of education (the “Vocational Education
Qualification Requirement”, together with the Higher Education Qualification
Requirement, the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant to the
Implementation Opinions of the MOE on Encouraging and Guiding the Entry of
Private Capital in the Fields of Education and Promoting the Healthy Development
of Private Education ( (B SR E S| EREE & A E A28 R I
EfEREENEMER) ), the foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-
foreign School should be below 50% and the establishment of these schools is
subject to approval of education authorities at the provincial or national level.
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The Company’s PRC legal adviser has advised that the laws and regulations are
currently uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor
(such as length of experience and form and extent of ownership in the foreign
jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to the relevant authority that it meets the
Qualification Requirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is
committed to working towards meeting the Qualification Requirement and has
implemented a business plan to ensure our compliance with the Qualification
Requirement and with a view to expanding our education operations overseas.
In 2017, the Company established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the State of
California, the United States, for the operation and management of our education
business in the State of California. The Company also engaged an independent
education consultant with extensive experience and background in private
postsecondary education to advise on and assist the Company in the establishment
of our institution in the State of California. We have submitted a licensing
application to the Bureau for Private Post-secondary Education in the State of
California. As at the date of this annual report, we had not yet obtained the
relevant licence. We will continue to disclose our progress in the implementation of
our overseas expansion plans and updates to the Qualification Requirement in our
annual and interim reports.

Risks associated with the Structured Contracts and the actions
taken to mitigate the risks

The PRC government may find that the contracts that establish the structure for
operating our business in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, which may subject us to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected. The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
the scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed, which
may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

The Structured Contracts may not be as effective in providing us with control over
our consolidated affiliated entities as direct ownership. The beneficial owners of
our consolidated affiliated entities may have conflicts of interest with us, which
may materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition. The
sponsor interests in our all three schools held by Huali Investment are not capable
of being pledged in favour of our WFOE under the PRC laws. Our Structured
Contracts with respect to these schools contain alternative arrangements that may
not achieve the level of protection equivalent to typical structured contracts with

equity pledge arrangements.

Our exercise of the option to acquire the sponsor interests or equity interests of
our consolidated affiliated entities may be subject to certain limitations and we
may incur substantial costs. Any failure by our consolidated affiliated entities or
their respective school sponsors/shareholders to perform their obligations under
our Structured Contracts would potentially lead to the incurrence of additional
costs and the expending of substantial resources on our part to enforce such
arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over our primary operations
or loss of access to our primary sources of revenue.
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We rely on dividend and other payments from WFOE to pay dividends and other
cash distributions to our Shareholders and any limitation on the ability of WFOE to
pay dividends to us would materially and adversely limit our ability to pay dividends
to our Shareholders. If any of our consolidated affiliated entities becomes subject
to winding up or liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy
certain important assets held by our consolidated affiliated entities, which could
negatively impact our business and materially and adversely affect our ability to

generate revenue.

The Board will review the Structured Contracts at least once a year to ensure the
effective implementation of the Structured Contracts and compliance with the
relevant terms.

Material changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes in the
Structured Contracts and/or the circumstances under which the Structured
Contracts were adopted.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of any
Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind any Structured
Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment changes
and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and
the Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other
changes in the relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huali Shengda will exercise
the relevant call option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that the
Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using the Structured
Contracts.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Structured Contracts
and confirmed that during the year ended August 31, 2025:

(i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Structured Contracts and had
been operated so that the profit generated by our PRC Operating Entities
had been substantially retained by our Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its School Sponsor's interest which were not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; and
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(iii)

the Structured Contracts and, if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between our Group and our PRC Operating Entities
during the Reporting Period were fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so
far as our Group was concerned and in the interests of our Shareholders as
a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in the
year ended August 31, 2025:

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Company’s board of directors.

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group.

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected
transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating
Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda
under the contractual arrangements) set out in the section of continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions with the
PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Shengda under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come
to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or
other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the
holders of the equity interests of school sponsor which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by our Group during the
year ended August 31, 2025 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. The transactions as set out therein fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and the Company confirmed that it has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during
the year ended August 31, 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

Recruitment

We strictly comply with the PRC Labor Law, the PRC Labor Contract Law, the PRC
Employment Promotion Law, the PRC Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law as well as other applicable provincial and local labor laws and regulations
in our recruitment process. We prohibit discrimination of staff by age, sex, race,
nationality, religion or disability to ensure that everyone has equal employment
opportunities and prospects.

We recruit teachers based on the size of our current student enrollment and the
number of newly admitted students at the beginning of each academic year.
We primarily seek to recruit (i) high quality and experienced teachers who are
knowledgeable in both theory and practice and hold the necessary academic
credentials and professional qualifications (i.e. diplomas and professional
certificates); and (ii) teachers who have work experience in the relevant industries.
We also invite industry experts from entities with which we have cooperative
relationships to give lectures or teach classes as adjunct faculty members of our
schools.

Our schools carry out their recruitment works based on our employee manual
and our teachers’ recruitment policy, and continuously improve and refine their
recruitment processes. We actively approach talents through participating in
talent recruitment fairs and industry conferences, and encourage our staff to
take advantage of social media to refer and recommend talented candidates to
join us. In addition, we provide continuing trainings to our teachers so that they
can stay abreast of the changes in market demand, new teaching theories and/or
methodologies, changing teaching and testing standards.
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Remuneration

As at August 31, 2025, the Group had approximately 3,400 employees. The
remuneration packages of the employees of the Group are determined with
reference to individual qualification, experience and performance, contribution to
the Group, prevailing market rate and our remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy of our schools is formulated under the guidance of PRC
laws and is based on industry characteristics as well as various market factors. The
staff congress, president’s office and board of directors of our schools collectively
approve the compensation range of their employees. Our schools determine their
respective compensation standards based on employment by function (teachers
and administrative personnel) and position. Our schools pay a fixed annual salary
to senior management and top talents such as directors, deans/department heads,
administrative heads and professors. Our schools participate in social insurance
plans (pension, medical, unemployment, work injury and maternity insurance)
under the guidance of the relevant national, provincial and municipalities policies,
and provide a variety of benefits for their employees.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of our Company are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, there were no forfeited contributions in relation
to pension plans (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior
to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. Hence, there is no forfeited
contribution available for the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to
the pension plans in future years.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management, having regard to their relevant experience,
duties and responsibilities, performance and achievement, and market rate. None
of the Directors will determine their own remuneration. Details of the Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note
35 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly available to
the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company continued to
meet the prescribed minimum percentage (i.e. at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital are held by the public at all times as of the date of this report)
of public float under the Listing Rules.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not engaged in any litigation or
arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material importance
is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening against the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Group had complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in all material aspects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant event affecting the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by our Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee, together with the Board and external
auditor, has reviewed our Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended August 31, 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company is set out in”Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended August
31, 2025 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, November 24, 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended August 31, 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the
CG Code. The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in
enhancing the confidence of the Shareholders, potential investors and business
partners and is consistent with the Board’s pursuit of value creation for the
Shareholders. The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with the
statutory and professional standards and is aligned with the latest development.
During the year ended August 31, 2025, the Company had complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code from September 1, 2024 to August 9, 2025 as
illustrated below:

Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. From September 1, 2024 to August 9, 2025, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was
the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”). The Board considers that Mr. Zhang
Zhifeng is the founder of the Group and has extensive experience in the private
higher education industry in the PRC and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Zhang Zhifeng
would provide the Group with strong and consistent leadership to improve the
Company'’s efficiency in decision-making and execution, and effectively capture
business opportunities. Furthermore, there are three independent non-executive
Directors in the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and therefore,
the Board considers the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient
protection of its interests.

With effect from August 10, 2025, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng ceased to serve as the Chief
Executive Officer and continues to serve as the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director and Mr. Zhang Yude, an executive Director, has been appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer on the same date. After the appointment of Mr.
Zhang Yude as the Chief Executive Officer, the Company has complied with the
requirements set out in the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code with effect from
August 10, 2025.
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Ml A +

PEEARSE

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in enhancing
the confidence of the Shareholders, potential investors and business partners
and is consistent with the Board'’s pursuit of value creation for the Shareholders.
The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to reviewing such
practices from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with the
statutory and professional standards and is aligned with the latest development.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing
strategic decisions of the Group and monitoring business and performance. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for the daily management
and operations of the Group to the senior management of the Group. In order
to supervise specific aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has set up three
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

The functions and duties of the Board include, but are not limited to, convening
the general meetings, reporting on the performance of the Board's work at the
general meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings,
determining business and investment plans, formulating annual financial budget
and final accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for profit distributions,
and formulating proposals for increase or reduction of capital as well as exercising
other powers, functions and duties as conformed by the articles of association of
the Company.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities stipulated in their respective terms
of reference to the Board committees. All Directors perform their duties in good
faith, comply with applicable laws and regulations, and act in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for legal proceedings
against Directors. The coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. In order to ensure that independent views and input
of the independent non-executive Directors are made available to the Board,
the nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) and
the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’ independence annually with
regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive Directors
including the following:

- required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill their
roles and firm commitment to their independency;

- time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;
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declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-executive

Directors;

no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of their
independent judgement;

further re-appointment of an independent non-executive Director (including
the long-serving Independent Non executive Director) is subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the shareholders; and an assessment on
whether the independent non-executive Director is still independent and
should be re-elected;

Chairman meets with the independent non-executive Directors regularly

without the presence of the executive Directors; and

independent non-executive Director as the chairman of the Audit
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Board Composition
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Our Board consists of seven Directors, including four executive Directors and ARAFEESHCEESEAR  BENBHNIT
three independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets out certain EER=FBHEIIFNTESE - TRIITESZH

information of the Directors:

BHER

Name Position

®A B

Zhang Zhifeng Chairman of the Board, executive Director and chairman of the Nomination Committee
SR %S 1 EEQXIF WOTEFERREERZEESX

Ye Yaming Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee

R BITESERFMEESSKE

Zhang Yude Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and chief operating officer

SRR HITES  ERATERERELZE

Xiao Xiaobing Executive Director

B/ BiTES

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP

HAEIEMH JP

Independent non-executive Director and chairperson of the Audit Committee and
member of the Nomination Committee
BUFNTES  BREESERRREEEGKE

Independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee and

Independent non-executive Director and member of the Audit Committee and the

Yang Ying

member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
S BUFNTER FHEEGIRLERLZEQERELZEGKE
Ding Yi

Remuneration Committee
TE BYFRTEEREREZEeEFTHEESKE
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Mr. Zou Kang resigned as an executive Director and Mr. Xiao Xiaobing has been
appointed as an executive Director with effect from August 10, 2025.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

From the date of Listing to the date of publication of this annual report, the
Board has always complied with the provisions of Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10 (2) of
the Listing Rules for the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has met all the requirements under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
for the appointment of independent non-executive Directors who account for at
least one-third of the Board. Since each independent non-executive Director has
confirmed his/her independence during the Reporting Period in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers all these Directors to be
independent parties.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, no Directors have any
personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or
related relationships) with any other Director.

The Board has adopted a diversity policy, which sets out objectives and stipulates
that all appointments to the Board should be based on the qualities, skills and
experience required by the Board as a whole. The Nomination Committee will
review and assess the composition of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Board members. At the same time, the Nomination
Committee will take into account all aspects of diversity, including, but not
limited to, professional experience, skills, knowledge, educational background,
age, gender, culture and ethnicity, and length of service, in order to maintain
the appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policy for the year
ended August 31, 2025. During the Reporting Period, the composition of the
Company's existing independent non-executive Directors and senior management
team vary greatly in terms of age, educational background and professional

experience.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide range of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the efficient and effective operation of the Board. Independent non-
executive Directors are invited to serve as members of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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With regard to the CG Code, which requires Directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in a public company or organization and other material
commitments, as well as the identity of the public company or organization
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent changes to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction training
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and his/her responsibilities under the relevant
statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars
to provide the Directors with the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The Board also regularly informs the
Company's performance, position and prospects of Directors so that the Board as

a whole and each of the Directors can perform their respective duties.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills. The Company’s
joint company secretaries update and provide training materials relating to the

roles, functions and responsibilities of Directors from time to time.

All Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Ye Yaming, Mr. Xiao Xiaobing, Mr.
Zhang Yude, Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding
Yi, have been updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever

necessary.

Mr. Xiao Xiaobing (appointed on August 10, 2025) has obtained the legal advice
on August 4, 2025 required under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules from the legal
advisor of the Company and confirmed he understood his obligations as a director

of a listed company.
Prior to the Listing, each of the Directors has attended the training conducted
by the legal adviser of the Company. The content of such training related to the

duties of directors and on-going obligations of listed companies.

The Directors shall submit a signed training record to the Company each year.
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Directors’ training hours by topic during the Reporting Period:

Directors

=

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng
RS E

Mr. Ye Yaming

HTERR S

Mr. Zhang Yude
SRR

Mr. Zou Kang

(resigned on August 10, 2025)
FrrE

(R2025%8 8 10HFE)
Mr. Xiao Xiaobing (appointed
on August 10, 2025)
H/NESE
(R20256810HEZF)
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna
MH JP

HEEIRLZ L MH JP

Mr. Yang Ying

HELE

Mr. Ding Yi

TEEE

Note:

(1) by self-study
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The roles,
functions and
responsibilities
of the board, its
committees and
its directors,
and board
effectiveness
B8
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E=pAG .
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6 (Note 1)
6(fizt1)

6 (Note 1)
6(Mizt1)
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6 (Note 1)
6(Hiat1)
6 (Note 1)
6(MfiF1)
6 (Note 1)
6(Mizt1)

6 (Note 1)
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Hong Kong law
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developments
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ESG matter
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EREH
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4(Hist1)
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4(Hizt1)

RBREHNRTE D NEREIIRSE:

Risk

management
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controls
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The responsibility of the three independent non-executive Directors includes
participating in board meetings to bring independent judgement on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments,
standard of conduct and conflict of interests.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has no independent non-

executive Director who has served for more than nine years.

Each independent non-executive Director has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for an initial period of three years commencing from July 17,
2023 or August 16, 2025 which may be terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party serving on the other
party a prior written notice of not less than three months.

Information on Directors’ service contracts are set out under the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Directors’ service contracts” of this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Zhang Zhifeng resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on
August 10, 2025 and Mr. Zhang Yude was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on
the same date. Since then, the Group has complied with the requirements set out
in the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Subject to the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy or to
supplement the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only before the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and may be re-elected at
that meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors shall
retire temporarily (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, or close
to but not less than one-third), shall retire by rotation provided that each Director
(including Directors that appointed for a specified term) shall rotate at least once
every three years.

No Directors have or propose to enter into a service contract with the Company or
any of our subsidiaries (except for contracts which are due or determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation) (other than statutory

compensation).
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The Articles of Association stipulate the procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the composition of the Board and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors and the succession planning
of Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Director Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”) adopted by the Board
aims to improve the transparency and accountability of the nomination process
of Directors, and to enable the Company to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business requirements.

According to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for selecting suitable candidates and offering recommendations to the Board
when appointing Directors. The selection criteria that shall be considered by
the Nomination Committee to assess the suitability of a proposed candidate
includes: character and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and strategy, the
potential contribution to the Board in terms of diversity, and any other factors
considered appropriate by the Nomination Committee to be in the best interests of
the Company and its Shareholders. The above selection criteria are not exhaustive
and conclusive, and the Nomination Committee may nominate any person as it
considers appropriate at its discretion.

Subject to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall hold a meeting
after obtaining the required information from the candidates to discuss and
consider the candidate’s recommendation to the Board for appointment as a
Director. The Nomination Committee shall, in accordance with the relevant Listing
Rules and the Company’s policies, examine whether the candidates are eligible for
appointment, election or re-election to the Board. In particular, the Nomination
Committee should consider the potential contribution of candidates that can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.

Nomination Process of the Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, after receiving the proposal for
the appointment of a new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate the candidate in accordance with the above
criteria to determine whether the candidate is qualified for the office of director.
The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to the Board the appointment
of appropriate candidates for Directors (if applicable).
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For any person nominated by a Shareholder to elect a Director at a general meeting
of the Company shall be evaluated by the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
in accordance with the above criteria and, as appropriate, make recommendations
to the Shareholders on the proposed election of Directors at the general meeting.

Board Meetings
The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, which
are held at least four times a year and about once a quarter. All regular Board
meetings shall be given not less than 14 days’ notice, so as to provide all Directors
with the opportunity to attend the meeting and put the matters in the agenda of
the regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent to Directors or Board
Committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the documents and to prepare for the meetings.
When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend the meeting,
they will be informed of the matters to be discussed and have the opportunity
to inform the chairman of their opinions before the meeting. The minutes of the
meetings are kept by the company secretary and copies distributed to all Directors
for reference and records.

The minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the
Board Committee and decisions made, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. The draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting
shall be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
of the Board meeting. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection
by the Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held and the attendance of

each Director at the meetings is set out in the table below:

BEHMA - ERTAREFTEEE  JESF

HE SR SRR TR

Attendance of

Board meeting(s)

Attended/Eligible
to attend annual
general meeting

EEEE BHE BER

Name of Directors BEEHG HEER HERRBFAS
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Zhifeng REE 4/4 1/1
Ye Yaming i) 4/4 1/1
Zhang Yude R 4/4 A
Zou Kang (resigned on August 10, 2025) BEE(R2025F8 A 10H B 1T) 2/4 1/1
Xiao Xiaobing B/NERE

(appointed on August 10, 2025) (R2025F8H10HEZAT) 2/4 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFHITES
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP HEEMH JP 4/4 171
Yang Ying IS 4/4 1/1
Ding Yi T 4/4 171

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Group's code of conduct to
regulate the securities transactions of the Directors and the relevant employees of
the Group who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities. Having made
specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended August 31, 2025.
In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code
by the relevant employees of the Group during the year ended August 31, 2025.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves the right to decide on all material matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, major transactions
(especially those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,

appointment of Directors and other significant financial and business matters.

Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the expense of the Company and are encouraged to independently approach and
consult with the senior management of the Company.
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The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated
to senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed by the Board. The approval of the Board is required before
any significant transaction entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, including:

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board and reporting to the

Board on matters;

o reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosing in the
corporate governance report; and

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s compliance with the Company’s

whistle-blowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, and has set out the written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control system of the Group, and to supervise the audit process and financial
statements of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of the three independent non-executive Directors,
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi and is chaired
by Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP who has the appropriate and extensive
professional experience as required under the Listing Rules.
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M A

EBERWmE

main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and other terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal,

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards.

to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations before the audit commences;

where more than one audit firm is engaged, ensure coordination between

them; and

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply

non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity
that is under common control, ownership or management with the audit
firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm

nationally or internationally.

Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making

recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is needed. The

written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available for review on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the

attendance of the Audit Committee members at these meetings are set out below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)

Name of Directors EERR BRHEBR

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP (Chairperson) HEERIEMH JP(E/E) 2/2

Yang Ying 55 2/2

Ding Yi T% 2/2
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results and
report for the year ended August 31, 2025 and the interim results and report for
the year ended February 28, 2025, significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems, range of
work and the appointment of external auditor. After reviewing the effectiveness
and independence of the external audit process, the Audit Committee was satisfied
with its work.

The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended August 31, 2025 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee on November 21, 2025.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in accordance with the CG Code. The main functions of the Nomination
Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on candidates to fill
vacancies of the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of an executive Director, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng,
and independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yang Ying and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen
Susanna MH JP, and is chaired by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;

° to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board on succession planning for Directors
(in particular the chairman and the chief executive) and the appointment or

reappointment of Directors; and

o support the Company’s regular evaluation of the board’s performance.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidates or incumbents based on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills and competence to invest time and
energy in performing their duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of the

Nomination Committee will then be submitted to the Board for decision.
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The Company recognizes and accepts the benefits of having a diverse Board
to improve its performance and has adopted a board diversity policy aimed at
developing ways to achieve board diversity. The implementation of the policy
is supervised by the Nominating Committee. In designing the composition of
the Board, the diversity of the Board is taken into account among a number of
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the
implementation of the board’s diversity policy and will regularly review the board'’s
diversity policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company maintained a diverse Board
comprising members with a mix a gender, professional background and industry
experience. The Board consist of 6 male Directors and 1 female Director. The
Board aims to maintain the current level of female representation of the Board
and will continue to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group. Details of
the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on page 103 of this annual
report. The Company will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all

levels of the Group.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two meeting to
review the nomination process and the composition and diversity of the Board and
was satisfied with the current process and composition. The attendance of the
Nomination Committee members at this meeting is set out in the table below:

ARRARBARERFEREZ TILEFTGARER
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HiRREZEREE - ERAESGNAENKE
EXZemNSTLCERZENEEAR B
BARRIER - Fik XERHBEER B
Te - HELR - B MBLRBEFR - =2E
ZEQREBERESSZ LLBERNENR -
Wi ERMATEETEZTCEIE - AERERE
BAM -

RAFHRBH  ARA#F—EAZTHENES
g ATREER  EEXESRITELROKE
HEX - EEFEHRBUEESTIRLEESA
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TR - W AEE A R B & 8B E R
AETTE - REEE TR PN AFRE
1038 [RIR - L@ RERME] - AARKE
BRIUEEIREREEEEmIERZ T -

REZBSMNE@BEEE T RNE M EAR
ABuLER] -

HEHEAN  REZEGETRRAGHE - AR
MRAEAEEETGNAEARLZ T - AHR
BERARMAKZRINE - RERZEEXEHE
ZEABNBEREINNT X

Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EEHE ERLERER
Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman) REE(ERE) 2/2
Yang Ying ES 2/2
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP tHEIEMH JP 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in accordance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, and has stipulated the written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are to review, determine and recommend to our Board on the
policy and structure of the remuneration payable to our Directors and senior
management, and to make recommendations on employee benefit arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee consists of independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Vi, and an executive Director, Mr. Ye Yaming, and is
chaired by Mr. Yang Ying.
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The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with

reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any

compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to consider the salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair

and not excessive;
to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with

the contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration;

to assess performance of executive Directors;

to consider and approve the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from time to time.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to review and discuss the company’s remuneration policy and structure, as well
as the remuneration package for the company’s executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee ensured
that no individual or any of his associates was involved in determining his own
remuneration. It also ensured that remuneration awards were based on the
performance of individuals and companies and were consistent with market
practices and conditions, and with the Company’s goals and strategies. No
changes on the policy were recommended by the Remuneration Committee.

The attendance of each Remuneration Committee members at this meeting is set
out in the table below:

BEHEA - FHEZESRTRAEE - U
AR WARTNFMBEREAEE  URAR
ARTEEESREEENTMI RMEMME
BARIR o ¥ E B R (8 A S B AT (AT H
BAZBEREBFHFH - THEATHEDER
BEARRBNRER - WA THIHEH KRR IA
RARABNERRER - HFNE S &0 EES
HEBFETERNELE -

FHEZEeSKERFEZEENBERAINT

Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EERE 2RLERR
Yang Ying (Chairman) 5 (FE) 2/2
Ye Yaming R 2/2
Ding Yi T 2/2

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2025 are set out
below:

EERGHREEETMH
HZE2025F8A31HILFE - EFEEME A
DA EREREBZRARE D EBFIBERY M
T

Number of
individuals
Remuneration band B 4% 51 AB
RMB1,000,001 to RMB3 million AR¥1,000,001 TEARBIEET 2
RMBO to RMB1 million ARBOTZARB1EET 10

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements for the year ended August 31, 2025 in order to give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash flows of the
Group.

The management has provided the necessary explanations and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements and submit them to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.
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The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting duties on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report

on pages 130 to 139 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes that it is the responsibility of the Board to maintain
appropriate risk management and internal control systems to protect shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets, and to review the effectiveness of these
systems on an annual basis.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the internal
governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit department
are reviewing the internal control of the Company and conducting comprehensive
audits of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure, the
management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining
risk management and internal control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i)
developing and establishing appropriate policies and control procedures to protect
the Group's assets from improper use or disposal; (i) complying with relevant
laws, rules and regulations; and (iii) keep reliable financial and accounting records
in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting

requirements.

The main features of risk management and internal control structure of the
Company are as follows:

o the heads of major business units or departments manage risks by
identifying and mitigating risks in accordance with the internal standards
approved by the Board and the Audit Committee;

o the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on significant risks
affecting the Group's businesses and operations; and

. the internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Audit Committee and the management concerning the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.
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During the Reporting Period, each major business unit or department was
responsible for daily risk management activities, including identifying major risks
that may affect the Group’s performance, assessing and evaluating the identified
risks according to their possible impacts and the possibility of occurrence, and
formulating and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. The management continuously monitored and reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and
reported to the Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems.

The Company’s internal audit function monitored the Company’s internal
governance and provided independent assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system.
The senior executives responsible for the internal audit function report directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit reports on the effectiveness of
control were submitted to the Audit Committee in accordance with the agreed
audit plan approved by the Board. All Directors were informed of the results of
the internal audit assignments. During the Reporting Period, the internal audit
function conducted an analysis and independent assessment of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
through, amongst others, examination of risk-related documentation prepared by
operation units and the management and conducting interviews with employees
at all levels. The senior executives of the internal audit function attended the Audit
Committee meeting to explain the results of the internal audit and responded to
the questions of the members of the Audit Committee.

The Company has internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is equally
and timely disseminated to the public in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The senior executives of the Group’s investor’s relation, corporate
affairs and financial control functions are empowered to control and monitor
appropriate procedures to be followed for inside information disclosure. Access
to inside information is limited to the relevant senior executives at all times and
on a “need to know” basis. Relevant personnel and other professional parties
involved are reminded to maintain the confidentiality of the inside information
until it is publicly disclosed. Other procedures, such as pre-clearance on dealing
in Company’s securities by Directors and designated members, notification
of periodic blackouts and restrictions on securities trading for Directors
and employees, and identification of project by code name have also been
implemented by the Company to prevent possible improper handling of inside
information within the Group.

The Company has adopted arrangements to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns about possible misconducts in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee regularly reviewed
such arrangements and ensured that appropriate arrangements are in place to
investigate these matters fairly and independently and to take appropriate follow
up action.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The
annual review included works such as (i) review of reports submitted by
heads of operation units or departments and the management regarding the
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems; (ii)
periodic discussions with the management and senior executives regarding
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and the
works of the internal audit function. Such discussions include the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; (iii)
evaluation on the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of the
risks management and internal control systems; (iv) review of the effectiveness of
the internal audit function to ensure coordination within the Group and between
the Company’s internal and external auditors and to ensure the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group;
and (v) making recommendations to the Board and the management on the scope
and quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered such systems to be effective
and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor
for the year ended August 31, 2025. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the
total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group’s
independent auditor are set out below:
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The Group also appointed another external auditor in respect of the statutory audit
services during the Reporting Period. For the year ended August 31, 2025, the total
fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group’s other
external auditor are RMB30,000.

The Group has not engaged any non-audit services during the Reporting Period.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Lei Yingran has resigned as one of the joint company secretaries of the
Company with effect from August 10, 2025. Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie
continued to serve as the sole company secretary of the Company following
the resignation of Ms. Lei Yingran. Mr. Lin Zhixiang is appointed as one of the
joint company secretaries of the Company with effect from November 24, 2025.
His biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

Ms. Ma Wing Yee is the other joint company secretary of the Company in
replacement of Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie, with effect from November 24,
2025. The primary contact person of Ms. Ma Wing Yee is Mr. Lin Zhixiang.

Ms. Ma Wing Yee is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited and has over 10 years of experience in corporate governance
and company secretarial practice in listed companies on the Stock Exchange.
She is currently the company secretary or joint company secretary of a few listed
companies on the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ma obtained a bachelor’s degree in Arts
from the University of Hong Kong. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Lin Zhixiang and Ms. Ma Wing Yee have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
to strengthening investor relations and understanding the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders

and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholder’s
communication policy (“Shareholder’'s Communication Policy”) which aims to
establish a two-way relationship and communication between the Company and
the Shareholders, and maintain the Company’s website (www.cseindustry.com),
where provides up-to-date information of the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information for public access.

To ensure disclosures are made to the Shareholders and investors effectively, and
to ensure that the same information is made available to the public at the same
time, price sensitive information is released in the form of official announcements

in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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In addition, the Company maintains contact with the Shareholders through annual
general meetings or other general meetings, and encourages the Shareholders to
attend those meetings. Notice of general meeting is sent by mail and/or by email
to the registered Shareholders. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting.

A proxy form for use at a general meeting of the Company is enclosed with the
notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be present at the meeting
should fill out the form and return the same to the branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, so as to appoint a representative,
another Shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as their proxy.

The Shareholder’s Communication Policy ensures that Shareholders and the
investment community are provided with ready, equal, and timely access to
information about the Group (including its financial performance, strategic
goals and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), and also
allows them to engage actively with the Group. The policy sets out various
communication channels including, among others, the Group website and
Shareholders’ meetings, through which Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, may communicate with and provide feedback to the Group from time

to time. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Board reviewed the Group’s shareholders and communication activities
conducted in 2025 and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholder’'s Communication Policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

In order to safeguard the interests and rights of Shareholders, a separate resolution
will be proposed for each issue at the general meetings including the election of
individual Directors.

The Company gives sufficient notice of general meetings to the Shareholders. The
Chairman of every general meeting will provide an explanation on the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and answer any questions from Shareholders on
voting by poll.

All resolutions proposed at the general meeting will be voted pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the voting results will be posted on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a general meeting shall be convened by the
Company on the written requisition of any two or more members deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of
any one member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to
the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of the Company at The
Administration Building of Guangzhou, Huali Science and Technology Town, No.
11 Huali Road, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC (email
address: ir@hltz.net).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company by special resolution passed on January 17, 2025 and
effective on January 17, 2025. Save as disclosed, there was no other change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group” or “we"), are pleased to release the
2025 Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (the “Report”),
which aims to present the Group's strategies and practices in the aspects
sustainable development strategies, outstanding teaching quality, caring and
welfare for employees, robust governance, establishing a greener campus,
caring for the community, thereby enabling stakeholders to have clear
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.

Reporting Standard

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and aims to disclose significant
environmental, social and governance issues matters for consideration by
stakeholders. The Report strictly complies with all the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and the four reporting
principles, including:

Materiality:

The Group has conducted ESG materiality assessment and disclosed the
process to identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG issues, as
well as the process and results of stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative:

The Group has disclosed information on the statistical standards,
methodologies, calculation tools, and sources of conversion factors used in
the Report.

Balance:

The Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group's performance
and avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

Consistency:

Consistent statistical methodologies are used for information disclosure
in the Report compared to last year. If there are any changes to the
methodologies, calculations, or any other factors that affect meaningful
comparison, we will provide a clear explanation.
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Reporting Period and Boundary
The Report covers the period from 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025
(referred to as the “Reporting Period” or the “"Year”).

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of the Report included:
- Guangzhou Huali College (“Huali College”)

- Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (“Huali
Vocational College”)

- Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician

College”)

The scope covered in the Report remains consistent with the previous year's
ESG report, encompassing activities solely within Guangdong Province.

Reporting Languages
The Report is published in English and Chinese. In case of any discrepancy,
the English version shall prevail.

Data Source and Description

The information and data used in this Report are collected from the official
documents and statistical reports of the Group, which have been reviewed
by relevant departments. Unless otherwise specified, the currency used in
this Report is RMB.

Forward-Looking Statements

This ESG Report contains forward-looking statements based on the current
expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of the Group
about the businesses and the markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate.
The forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance
and is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the control
of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and returns may differ from the
assumptions and statements in this ESG Report.

Approval of the Report
The Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of directors of the
Group (the "Board”) on 24 November 2025.

Report Feedback

The feedback of stakeholders is valuable for the Group in developing a
more comprehensive and robust sustainability strategy. Should you have
any enquiries or suggestions, please feel free to contact us via the following
email address: ir@hltz.net.
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2. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

2.1

2.2

Board Statement

The Group is committed to integrating environmental, social, and
governance principles into corporate strategies, operations, and
decision-making processes. We constantly refine our ESG mechanisms
to promote sustainable business practices and contribute to the
harmonious development of society and the environment.

We have established an ESG governance structure to enhance our
management of sustainable development. The Board is responsible for
the overall oversight of the Group's sustainability efforts and regularly
discusses, reviews, and approves the Group’'s ESG management
approach, strategies, and risk management plans, including
environmental management, personnel management, teaching quality
and health and safety.

The Board authorizes the ESG Committee to actively participate in
ESG strategies. Each department implements the ESG strategies and
policies formulated by the Board. The Board is also responsible for
approving the prioritization and management of ESG material issues.
The Group has set environment related targets for the Year. Our ESG
related performance was reviewed by the Board on an ongoing basis,
which conducted progress review against ESG related objectives to

oversee and improve our work in sustainable development.

This report is a detailed and truthful disclosure of the ESG progress
and achievements of the Group in 2025. In the future, the Group
will continue to strengthen its ESG efforts and investment, striving to
attain sustainable operational targets for the Company.

ESG Governance Structure

The Group highly values sustainable development management and
has instituted a top-down, three-tier ESG management architecture,
facilitating ESG management and performance enhancement at three

levels: decision-making level, organizational level, and execution level.
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Decision-making level: The Board, as the highest decision-making body for ESG work, assumes full
Board of the Group responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. Its major responsibilities
include:
° Reviewing and approving the Group’s ESG management policies, strategies,

goals, and annual work, including assessment, prioritization, and management
of material ESG issues, risks, and opportunities

o Regularly reviewing the ESG performance of the Group and its progress in
achieving related targets
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Organizational level: The ESG Committee is composed of Executive Director, senior management, and
ESG Committee other members including representatives from various departments, which are

delegated by the Board. Its major responsibilities include:

. Formulating ESG management policies, strategies, targets and annual tasks,
and promote their implementation

o Identifying, assessing, reviewing and managing key ESG issues, risks and
opportunities

o Reporting regularly to the Board on all ESG working status and related
recommendations
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2.3

Execution level:
Relevant departments of
the Group
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5 BB 2P

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - L8 MEIAWRE

The execution level is the third level of the governance structure and comprises all

relevant departments across the Group. Its major responsibilities include:

o Organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG related tasks in

accordance with the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies

o Reporting regularly to the ESG Committee on all ESG tasks
PITEREAEBONE=ZE  BREAKEMAMEIMN - EXEREBHE

. IRIBEALEBMESGE BBUE LR - 404 - B E S BESGHBTH

. FEHIMESGE B G EMATABESG TIEETS

Stakeholder Engagement
We respect the opinions of stakeholders, build diversified

communication channels, and continue to listen to the expectations

and demands of stakeholders. We communicate with internal and

external stakeholders through a variety of channels to understand

their opinions and suggestions on the Group’s sustainability and

strategy and take the expectations and concerns of stakeholders as an

important reference for the Group’s ESG work.

Major stakeholders

TERZEES

Main methods for communication and response

TEBBREELR

23 REHEBRSHE
BMEEFEMEINER B
ZIEMBERED  WIHEEER
A AR - KRR
ZiEEEEN I AMINBF S8R 5
BIE - THRMEHAREE AR
RAMRBHOERMEZR WA
HETWEEMEIEARNER
ESGTEMEZLRE K -

Expectations and demands

HEEERR

Stakeholders/Investors .

FlziERE s REE .

Government/Industry o
associations o

L]

L]

BN/ 1T¥BE o

Meetings and interviews (Research and
analysis)

Annual general meeting
Interim and annual reports
SaEA(HERDN)
REFBFRE
FEI R FERE
Consultations

Lectures

School ratings

School visits

Organization of industry activities

E
e
BRTH
RRER
BTEED

Investment return

Business growth

KERR
EBHER

Compliant and reasonable operation
Business growth
Quality of teaching

Information transparency

ERAEEE
EBRE
YEEE

EREBERE
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Major stakeholders Main methods for communication and response Expectations and demands

FTEFREEL FEBERBELR B EERR
Regulators o Compliance reports 3 Compliant and reasonable operation
o Consultations . Business growth
o Audits and annual inspections of private . Employee benefits
colleges and universities
EEHE . ERmE . EREEEL
. EEE . E13 3
. it ReRER . ST &R
Employees o Channels for employees to express their . Quality of teaching
opinions (questionnaires, suggestion boxes, . Career development
symposiums) . Compensation and benefit packages
° Work performance appraisals and interviews e Healthy and safe working
o Meetings and interviews (Teacher’s forum) environment
o Seminars/workshops/lectures 3 Fair treatment
o Staff communication meetings . Value demonstration
o Staff Intranet
8T . BTREERMRE(REHS BERME  B#K o HnEES
g) . BELEER
. TERIRFZLE o HENE N8
. B E AR ﬁ%m@) . BRZEHIIERE
. Mg,/ TR BE . NS L
. SETEBAE . BERS
o BTN
Students/Parents o Satisfaction survey 3 Quality of teaching
o Supervision feedback . Corporate governance
o Education expo 3 Sound operation
o Online platforms o Healthy and safe campus
o Telephone . Protection of student information
o Mailbox
BE/RE . MEERSRE . HEEE
. BENE . ®EER
. HEREG . RRgE
. WETFE . REZ2RE
. B . BEERREE
. EoE]
Former students o Former student activities held by the school 3 School ranking

Bt

Former student reunions
School website

Media reports
ERBHROELTD
ExRe

B

HaaRiE
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o Quality of teaching
3 Teaching reform

. BREEA
. YEEE
. HEUE



Major stakeholders

TERBEBES

Main methods for communication and response

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

TEBBREELR

R w8 REARE

Expectations and demands

MR R

Business partners

BB

Suppliers

HEem

Community/Non-
governmental

organizations

R ERFERE

Public

LS AR

Exchange activities and visits
Meetings (Industry university research
seminar)

Education expo

Lectures

RmIEEERD

g (E2Mae)

HERESG

1

Supplier management procedures
Field inspections

HEBEEER

BithiE R

Volunteers and community activities
Seminars/workshops/lectures
Donations

EIRMEES

Wag TiEYEE

BEL

School websites

School activities

Education expo

Media reports

B Ak

BRERNEY

HERESG

Hrems

Teaching quality and effectiveness
Teaching reform
Business growth

HEEEMHR
HEYE
EBRE

Fair and just procurement
Anti-corruption

REPRERE

RER

Promoting community development
Participating in public welfare and
charity

HEMH EEE

SHENGEE

Quality of teaching
Teacher qualifications
Investment return
Information transparency
HEEE

ZREN & FE

% & Bl

EREHE

FEBHEEXERFRA 91
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China Science and Education Industry

The Group will consider the changing demands of key stakeholders
in our ESG management practices. We will promptly update our
engagement strategies to ensure stakeholders understand our strategy
and its implementation. We will also create effective feedback
channels so stakeholders can share their thoughts and expectations.
This will help the Group continuously improve its ESG management.

Materiality Assessment

The Group remains dedicated to understanding stakeholders’
expectations and interests regarding ESG matters. Their feedback
continues to inform our identification of material topics and supports

effective decision-making.

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirms that there were only
minor updates compared to the previous year, with the material ESG

topics identified previously remaining unchanged.

The Identification Process of Material Topics
Identification/ Identify potentially material topics based on a
update of holistic view that combines extensive industry
potential benchmarking, media coverage analysis, macro
material topics:  environment analysis, the Materiality Map of
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

(SASB) and the Group’s strategic positioning.

Group Limited

2025 Annual Report
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Determination and We have identified 26 materiality issues
prioritization of  relevant to the Group’s operations, comprising
material topics:

topics:

Review of material The Board of Directors reviews and approves of BEERE
the material topics prioritised, for disclosure in #6
the ESG report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE - w2 NERHE

4 highly significant issues, 14 moderately R
significant issues, and 8 generally important o
issues. We have made different levels of

focused disclosures in this report based on the

materiality of these issues and consider them

as important considerations when formulating

ESG strategies and policies.

ESG materiality matrix

ESGREEE MM

ESG issues of
moderate materiality

FEEEESGEE

HASERESNWEES

Materiality to stakeholders

Materiality to the Group
HEEENEENY

ERZEE RMSHA26HER
WEE SEXBHAMNERE

B EE4IBEREEE
HECI14EFEES
FENSE—MEEF
B BMEREZEZ
BHEZHERAREF
EITTREENEIHH
BUBERAYE
ESGERBMBURKME
BEBREE -

HEZSHETERHER
B Fr 09 28 B Ak A
WRESGH & P HETH

5% o
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ESG issues of high materiality

Corresponding sections in ESG report

SEEZESGERE ESGH & HEEE

1. Health and safety of students 3. Outstanding Teaching Quality

1. BERERETSE 3. EMHHEEE

2. Control of teaching quality 3. Outstanding Teaching Quality

2. RBE S 3. EHNHEEE

3. Health and safety of employees 4. Caring and Welfare for Employees
3. BIRERZ: 4. B TRAEERAER

4. Student employment rate 3. Outstanding Teaching Quality

4. BAGEX 3. BHHHPEE

ESG issues of moderate materiality

Corresponding sections in ESG report

HEEEESGHEE ESGH &5 1 EE &
5. Anti-corruption 5. Robust Governance
5. RER 5. IREMER

6. Green campus and office

6. HERBERMAE

7. Employment rights and welfare protection

7. SERREFRE

8. Diversity of employees and equal opportunities
8. BEIZHKRUERTEKS

9. Air pollutant emissions and management

9. ERISEMBER R EE

10. Compliance operations

10. 6RES

11. Protection on information and privacy

1. BFBEALRE

12. Training and development of employees
12. BT IR

13. Water management
13. AKER

14. Compliant handling and responding mechanism

14. & 3R 55 1 K O] FE 1

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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6. Establishing a Greener Campus

HepseE

. Caring and Welfare for Employees
. BETREEEH

. Caring and Welfare for Employees

4. BTRAEREEHN

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

iz e rE

. Robust Governance

. *Eﬁma/n

. Robust Governance

. BEnER

4. Caring and Welfare for Employees

. BTREEER

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

iz e rE

. Robust Governance

. *Eﬁma/n
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ESG issues of moderate materiality

HEEEESGHRE

Corresponding sections in ESG report

ESGH S HERE

15. Branding promotion management
15. Mgt EE R

16. Teacher qualifications and professional conduct of employees

16. HENER MRS THERT

17. Community investment and involvement
17. HBIRE RS8R

18. Supply chain management
18. T T

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. EMHEES

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. EHNHEEE

7. Caring for the Community

7. BERE

5. Robust Governance

5. RREHER

ESG issues of general materiality

—REEESGEE

Corresponding sections in ESG report

ESGIR&EEEEH

19. Risk management
19. ke & 1

20. Abundant educational resources
20. HEEREE

21. Protection of intellectual property right

21 IR R

22. Tackling climate change
22 EHERIRE

23. Energy management
23. BERER

24. Environmental education
24 RIRHE

25. Greenhouse gas emission management
25 R EREHRE R

26. Waste management
26. FERYETE

5. Robust Governance

5. IBEmER

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. BMHHEEE

5. Robust Governance

5. IBEmER

6. Establishing a Greener Campus
6. HEHERE

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

6. AR ERE

6. Establishing a Greener Campus
6. HEHKERE

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

6. REZERE

6. Establishing a Greener Campus
6. HEHERE

BN HEEEEERA

2025 FEHE
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OUTSTANDING TEACHING QUALITY

The Group is a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational

education group in South China. The colleges under the Group provide

private higher education and private vocational education in multiple applied

science fields to a multitude of students. During the Reporting Period, we

had an aggregate of 55,667 students enrolled at our three schools, namely

Huali College, Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College.

3.1

3.2

China Science and Education Industr

Education Mission

The Group adheres to high-quality development and operates top-
tier higher vocational colleges. The Group’s teaching philosophy is
characterized by application-focused, practice-oriented specialized
courses. We emphasize social responsibility and human development,
adopting an “integration of production and education, cooperation
of school and enterprise” model for talent cultivation. Continuously
innovating, we actively enhance teaching quality in colleges to

cultivate students’ social service capabilities.

The colleges within the Group are strategically located in core
areas of Guangdong Province. Through career-oriented programs,
practical curricula, and extensive employer networks, we enhance
students’ competitiveness in the job market and facilitate the practical
application of knowledge and skills. In response to the evolving job
market, we consistently innovate and enhance specialized course
offerings to equip students with the necessary knowledge base,
professional skills and vocational qualifications for job-seeking
and career advancement in specific professions and industries.
This approach aims to develop students with integrity, a blend of
knowledge and skills, and a mindset of practical innovation.

Excellent Teaching Management

The Group is committed to creating a high-quality teaching and
learning environment, bringing all-around cultivation and growth
to students through rich educational resources and continuously
improved teaching competencies. In terms of education and teaching
resources, we focus on disciplinary construction and deepening the
integration of production and education. We have established a
relatively sound, collaborative and practical talent cultivation teaching
system to guarantee teaching quality through “evaluations promoting
teaching and learning, mutual learning and improving teaching
quality”.

y Group Limited
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To oversee teaching methods and maintain the quality of education,
we have established and implemented a range of teaching standards
and systems. These include Teaching Work Standards ( (22 T{E4F
&) ), Standards for Teaching Management ( (B ZEE TIEHRE) ),
Code of Professional Ethics for Teachers ( (ZRAMEE 2B ERE) ),
Treatment Methods for Teaching Accidents ( (ZXZE =R E R IE M
7%) ), and Teaching Quality Monitoring and Management Measures
((HE2EEHEREEIE) ).

The Group has set up a teaching quality monitoring framework based
on college-specific goals and criteria. It assesses talent development,
teaching standards, facilities, professionalism, curriculum, and
innovation to enhance education quality effectively. The University
Teaching Supervision Office and College Academic Affairs Offices
oversee this process, ensuring ongoing improvements and

advancements in teaching quality.

Graduates’ Career Development

The Group aims to build provincial top-level higher vocational
colleges. The graduate’s employment rate has always been one of our
focused goals and priorities, as well as feedback on teaching quality.
We have formulated relevant systems, measures and documents to
assist graduates’ employment and boost the employment rate and
have carried out a series of campaigns in this regard.

For the 2025 cohort, we have set specific employment targets
and expanded our efforts to address practical challenges faced by
graduates. Our approach focuses on empowering students with the
skills, guidance, and positive outlook needed for successful careers,
and on minimising the effects of economic uncertainty on graduate

employment outcomes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group encouraged graduates
to actively participate in various employment initiatives. These
included on-campus and off-campus job fairs, recruitment seminars
and workshops, career planning competitions, and the “Hongzhi
Navigation Program” ( {REBIAETE]) ). We supported student
engagement in high-profile recruitment events such as the 2025
“Nanyue Spring Recruitment Fair” Job Fair, campus recruitment drives,
and dedicated school-enterprise recruitment seminars.

3.3
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Collaboration with industry partners remains central to our strategy.
The Group co-organised large-scale campus job fairs with over 921
companies, offering valuable training and employment opportunities.
By leveraging both “online matching + offline connection” models,
we facilitated direct student-employer engagement and professional
networking. For graduates experiencing employment challenges, we
reinforced individualised support through “one-on-one” assistance

programmes, ensuring timely job placements.

The Group places great emphasis on cooperation with enterprises
and actively explores school-enterprise cooperation opportunities,
and continuously optimize such collaboration model. Through this
practical collaboration, our students benefit from internships, hands-
on training, and employment pathways, further enhancing their
integration into the workforce and contributing to consistently strong
employment outcomes.

Campus Health and Safety

Ensuring the health and safety of employees and students is one
of our top priorities. We are committed to building a safe campus
and a harmonious campus. We have formulated Campus Safety
Comprehensive Management Target Responsibility Letter ( {(IRE %2
KAEEEBEZEEMEE) ) for management.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations relating
to health and safety protection of schools, teachers and students,
such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases ( (HZEARKFBEBERVIEZE) ), the
Regulation on Sanitary Work of Schools ( &4 TIEIEHI) ), the
Fire Protection Law of the PRC ( (R ZE AR ZLMEIHEPTZE) ) and the
Food Safety Law of the PRC ( (R EARKEMBRBLZEE) ).

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or
regulations related to health and safety, nor had any work-related
fatal accidents or loss of working days due to work injuries occurred.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Campus Safety Initiatives

During the Reporting Period, the Group has proactively enhanced
campus safety awareness. Targeted initiatives were introduced,
including drowning prevention education, anti-fraud awareness
lectures, and legal education training. These initiatives are designed
to help students and employees recognise and mitigate key risks.
The Group also launched an anti-fraud awareness campaign, which
attracted over 2,400 representatives from our institution and sister
colleges for on-site participation. With live online sessions alongside
in person events, we built a robust “anti-fraud firewall” across the
campus community, ensuring widespread engagement and a culture

of vigilance.

Fire Safety

To ensure campus safety during fire emergencies, the Group has
created customized emergency plans for each college that comply
with laws and regulations. The Group have formulated a Fire
Safety Management System and Methods for Dividing Fire Safety
Responsibility Areas for management. Additionally, we conduct
daily facility inspections and hold fire safety drills every year. During
the Reporting Period, the Group conducted seven targeted fire
drills, further raising awareness and enhancing overall preparedness
among staff and students, while strengthening preventive measures

throughout our campuses.

Food Safety

The Group resolutely complies with laws and regulations such as the
Food Safety Law of the PRC ( (REAREFERREZ2IE) ), as well
as food hygiene standards and management measures. The Group has
established and improved internal rules and regulations including the
Regulations for the Implementation of the Food Safety Law of the PRC,
Regulations on Food Safety and Nutrition Management in Schools,
Implementation Guidelines for Catering Food Safety Inspection,
Dietary “Three Views” Work Policy, and Meal Management Policy.

These policies ensure that the Group defines the roles and
responsibilities of management personnel, optimizes our food
hygiene and safety management network, and covers environmental
cleanliness, food procurement and storage, personal and operational
hygiene, among other aspects. The Group continues to strengthen its
routine internal inspections to ensure the cleanliness and hygiene of
the dining environment, utensils, and equipment.
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3.5

Mental Health and Wellbeing

We pay attention to the mental health of employees and students,
in hope of students’ healthy growth and integration. Through
psychological surveys, we comprehensively and accurately understand
the mental health of new students, so as to enhance students’ mental
health quality and promote campus harmony and stability. In this
regard, we have established Health Management Policy ( (fi£EE%E I 4|
J£) ) and Mental Crisis Precautions and Intervention Policy ( {0 2/E
HIEEMTIEGE) ).

Furthermore, each college organizes annual activities tailored
to enhance students’ physical and mental health, such as choral
competitions, sports competitions, and campus cultural and arts
festivals. Distinctive mental health initiatives include psychological
health lectures, mental health awareness months, and mental health
knowledge training for counsellors. Additionally, we conduct regular
health check-ups for teachers and students every year to promptly

address any health concerns.

Dormitory Safety

The work of student dormitory safety management bears great
responsibility. In order to enhance the safety awareness of teachers
and students and ensure the life and property safety of students in
dormitories, we have implemented the Student Dormitory Residential
Safety Plan ((EEFEAEBLEER) ),
prevention and education on unexpected safety incidents occurring

which includes fire

in student dormitories. Dormitory managers, together with relevant
personnel, regularly inspect various facilities in dormitories, and
confiscate various blunt and sharp instruments from students’
dormitories.

Reflection and Self-improvement

Continuous improvement of education quality is our mission. We have
established an open and transparent review mechanism to resolve
issues and address concerns.

Communication with students and parents is extremely important
and indispensable, as good communication can promote student
learning and growth, provide personalized educational support, and
achieve good interaction and cooperation between the school and
students. The Group provides multiple communication channels such
as telephone, email, mail office, chairman’s mailbox, WeChat, etc.
Students are more than welcome to learn the details of political and
ideological education, rewards and punishments, behavior norms
construction, and comprehensive quality assessment of students
through the Student Affairs Office.
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Guangzhou Huali College has formulated the Work Plan for
Complaints and Appeals of Huali College (&N HE 7 2P Z 55 (%
) TIEE M A Z)), so that faculty, staff, other organizations and
individuals can express their situation, suggestions, opinions or
complaints to the school or higher authorities through social network,
letters, telephone calls, emails, visits, etc. The Complaints and
Appeals Working Group will comprehensively analyse the situation
and problems reflected in the letters and visits from the public,
conscientiously study and handle the relevant policies, and report to
the school leaders and relevant higher authorities timely.

In addition to expressing opinions through public channels, students
can also lodge complaints to the school in accordance with the
Administrative Measures for Student Complaints ( (E 4% 5 & 12 it
7£) ). Upon submitting a complaint, the case is promptly escalated
to the Committee for Student Complaints’ Handling (241 FEEE
B&). This committee comprises dedicated members who are tasked
with impartially investigating and addressing student grievances to
ensure a fair and supportive learning environment for all students.

During the Reporting Period, we received 6 complaints (2024:
8 complaints), all of which arose from misunderstandings
regarding teaching-related policies and procedures. Through open
communication and constructive dialogue with students, parents,
and staff, all issues have been thoroughly investigated and effectively
resolved. Our commitment to providing a supportive and constructive
learning environment remains unwavering, ensuring that all
stakeholders feel heard and valued.

CARING AND WELFARE FOR EMPLOYEES

Our employees are one of the Group’s most valuable assets, and fostering
harmonious employment relationships is a vital foundation for the Group’s
stable and forward progression. We are committed to creating a caring
working environment that supports employee development. The Group
protects employees’ rights and interests, enhances employee welfare,
holds annual staff activities, and provides continuous training to support
employees’ professional development. Each college has developed relevant
employee manuals, employee welfare management measures, annual
training plans, annual health and safety support arrangements, and human

resource planning according to their own circumstances.
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China Science and Education Industr

AR

Talent and Recruitment Management

The Group provides employees with equal talent management
mechanisms and transparent recruitment procedures in a responsible
manner to safeguard their rights and interests and reasonably
manage talent. The Human Resources Department formulates relevant
management regulations such as the Recruitment Guide ( { A BREE
TE3EF) ), Employees’ Manual ( (8 TF) ) to standardize the
employee recruitment process.

The Group strictly complied with the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Labour Law of the PRC ( {FEARLMBELEE) ),
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ( (FZEAREMBALEH &R
7£) ) and the Regulation on the Implementation of the Employment
Contract Law of the PRC ( {H#E AR KEME L B4 FIEE &
#1) ). During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, benefit packages, equal opportunity, diversity, and
anti-discrimination that may have a significant impact on the Group.

The Group strictly prohibits any form of discrimination based on
gender, ethnicity, race, religious belief, nationality, age or other
factors in recruitment, compensation, working hours, promotion,
termination, dismissal and other aspects. We also respect diversity
and religious beliefs. The Group sources potential talents through
the internet, job fairs and on-campus recruiting at colleges and
universities. Their educational background, qualifications and relevant
work experience are assessed during the selection process.

y Group Limited
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During the Reporting Period, we have a total of 3,479 employees. The
statistics on the Group’s employment data are as follows:

Employees distribution by gender

BRIE - HeNERATRE

K& HER - HFIHE3,479%
BT « REEBREZEGAT

Employees distribution by age

EHRSDNET S M RFREIDPNETI DM
502
(14%)
1,527
(44%)
1,937 1,542
(56%) (44%)
1,450
(42%)
uMale B © Female % ¥ Below 30 ©30-50 Above 50

308 A T 30£505% 5088 A -

Employees distribution by employment type
BRERBEINET DM

148 39 252

(A4%)(1%) (7%)

|/

3,040
(88%)

m Short-term contract/ = Full-time junior employees
part-time employees 2HOMET
EHARL RBET
Full-time mid-level = Full-time senior
management management
ZRTEEEAS 2HEEEEAR

We strictly comply with the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors ( {(FEAREMB KK F AREL) ), the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ( (ZEIHFRETHREY ) and
Provisions on Special Protection of Minor Workers ( (REF T4
RIREIITE) ). We also strictly comply with the Labour Law of the
PRC ( (RZEAREMBILENE) ) to avoid any employment of forced
labor. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
significant violations of laws pertaining to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour that could have a substantive impact on the
Group.
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4.2

China Science and Education Industr

In accordance with the laws and regulations including the Education
Law of the PRC ( (FEARIMBEHEE) ), the Higher Education
Law of the PRC ( (EARHKEMEZEFHF L) ) and the Non-state
Education Promotion Law of the PRC ( (ZEAREFMBE RS Rk
(EHEZITER) ) has been

formulated to enhance the work initiative and efficiency of employees

7)), a Performance Appraisal Scheme (
at various levels and positions.

The Group has established two types of evaluation methods:
department-wide evaluations and individual staff evaluations. They
are carried out by the Quality Monitoring and Evaluation Center
and the Human Resources Department respectively. Multiple aspects
of performance metrics are assessed, such as teaching plans and
completion rates, teaching quality, work ethics, and classroom
effectiveness, with results given in five levels. The evaluation results
are associated with salary adjustments and bonus payments to
motivate teachers to maintain a high standard of teaching quality.

Employees Welfare

The compensation and welfare policy not only acts as work
rewards for employees but also motivates their growth. The Group
is committed to providing competitive salaries and benefits to
employees. We are giving our effort to expand talent education
services and improve employee motivation. We provide employees
with annual physical examinations, annual departmental exchange
activities, and welfare supplies etc.

For employees who have worked for one year, the Group provides
monthly seniority bonuses starting from the following year. Teachers
with practical experience are also given industry or skills allowances to
encourage innovative teaching among employees.

y Group Limited
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In addition to fixed salaries and the insurances and housing fund
mandated by national laws, we also provide housing subsidies,
faculty apartments, and benefits and incentives for outstanding talent
through talent introduction policies.

Our employees are also entitled to marriage leave, sick leave, and
bereavement leave to cater to their daily needs. We provide education
subsidies for the children and grandchildren of our employees
studying at our school, demonstrating our heartfelt care.

Employees Training and Capacity Building

We have implemented a comprehensive talent development program
that includes a three-level study training system consisting of
“national training,” “provincial training,” and “school training.”
Through these training programs, we provide continuous learning
opportunities for our employees. The Group has formulated relevant
training management policies, such as the Teacher Development
Center Training System ( (B # R R L EEFIHIE) ), Teacher Training
and Professional Development Management Measures ( {ZAT5S3I|H#E
BB L) ), the Interim Measures for Sending Domestic Visiting
Scholars ( GERBEINFHEEETEIEIE) ), and the Regulations
on Learning and Training Education Management ( ( E2ZHI%H A &

BRED ).

School
training

2REI
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During the Reporting Period, The Group arranged various types of
trainings for teaching staff, including:

Main type of training
FEFIER

RBEMEA - AEBRSHBI L
BT BB B

Training content
BN

Induction training for new teachers

e GIPN =

Professional and ethics

BRER

Advanced technology

JEHE BT

Al and digital innovation

ATE R LHBFEIH
Technical and practical skills
By} B e Re

Academic and industry exchange

By RATERR

Health, wellbeing, and counselling

2R - fau KA
Emergency response and
first aid training
STEE N RUE

Safety and legal awareness

RE AR
Visiting scholar programme
RS E S

Higher education principles, psychology, professional ethics, and introduction to
higher education laws and regulations

SEHES  LBE  BEER SSHEERYH

Modules on business, subject knowledge, safety, management, ethics, and
relevant regulations

(% MEANE - w2 TR BELEBESRIER

Microelectronics, automation, information technology, and new digital tools to
enhance teaching quality

WEF - Bk EERMEMEMFTAUMBHEES

Al efficiency improvement, Al tool application, smart construction, and digital
teaching transformation

AR - AITEAER - BERRNETFHEEE

Centralized conference learning, hands-on computer skills training

SHeREE  BHBRIERESI

Knowledge sharing within the teaching unit, school-enterprise collaboration, and
external exchange programmes

EHRBEMANETHEN - REAIERIMNDRZIRETE

Training in basic psychology and mental health includes psychological assessment,
counselling, and disease prevention
EROEEROBRENZIARSE OG- BB U RKREAY

CPR, AED usage, emergency equipment handling, and foundational first aid
training

DFBIERE - AEDE A - FERRBIRIE R 2R ER 5054

Anti-fraud seminars, drowning prevention, fire safety drills, and legal compliance
education

REFEEHE ~ DK Hh T2 ER ARG RBE

Professional learning through academic visits and exchange initiatives
BABME RN ERREXSE

These training initiatives continue to strengthen the professional
capabilities, safety awareness, and overall wellbeing of all staff
members. During the Reporting Period, 90.69% of the Group's
employees received training, with an average of 46 training hours
per employee. For details of employees trained, please refer to the
“APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY DATA SUMMARY”.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report
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5. ROBUST GOVERNANCE

5.1

Compliance Control and Operations

We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, improve our
internal control system, enhance risk management, and insist on
integrity in our operations. We are committed to operating with
integrity and eliminating corruption.

We strictly comply with the Company Law of the PRC ((FZE AR
FMBEATEY), the Education Law of the PRC ({RFEAREMEHE
%)), the Law of the PRC on the Promotion of National Education
(REARKFBEBIRZE (2:£%)), the Higher Education Law of the
PRC ((FREAREFBEEEHEA)), the Vocational Education Law of
the PRC (R EARLFEB X2 E %)), and other relevant laws and
regulations of the country and place of operation, as well as industry
regulatory requirements. The Group is actively identifying, preventing,
and controlling industry and market risks.

To enhance the effectiveness of compliance management, strengthen
self-regulation and promote the Group's stable operation and
sustainable development, the Group has established the Compliance
Management System ((& R EIEFIE)), which applies to all matters
relating to compliance risks within the Company and its subsidiaries.
The system defines compliance as compliance with laws and
regulations, industry norms, ethical standards, and internal rules.
Responsibilities are clearly delineated amongst the Board, the
Supervisory Board, senior management, compliance officers,
department heads to each employee to ensure that compliance
risks are effectively identified, assessed, monitored, and reported
throughout the Group.

The Group is committed to safeguarding intellectual property rights
and strictly abides by relevant laws such as the Patent Law of the PRC
((hEAREFIBEEFE)), the Copyright Law of the PRC ((FFEAR
HMBEIZEVERE)), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC ({F
FEARKFBERTNIEEHFE)), in order to protect intangible value
of assets and prevent possible intellectual property infringement.
We formulate and implement different intellectual property related
management systems internally. For example, the Intellectual Property
Risk Management Policy (€ %0 &% 2 # 2 iz & I | & ) ) strengthens
the protection and management of school intellectual property and
regulates the intellectual property behaviour of school affiliated units
and teachers and students.

RIE - L8 MEIAWRE

BENES
5.1 SREEEEE

BB ETHRERER &
NEPEHI RS - IR ER - &
FHEEE - MBI RBEE
B HBER -

BB ETCPEARLME
REDE) (PEARAMBEHE
E) (R E ARKMBEIBRME (2
BE) (FEARANESEH
BE) (PEARKMBEREH
BE) UREEMAERR MR
MEMARARE AR RITREER
oo AEEBARMR R - By # A2 B
TTEMT ISR -

RESARBTENERE - mEas
HEE  REAEENBEZEEN
AREER AEERIT(ER
EEGIE)  WERARARA LA
MEBARAMERERERE R
BB - ZHERAREERETE
BB TERS  ERBENR
MR- REFE  EFEE - S4&
EEE - -ARIME - BHEXTER
BRETINREHEHERE - A
ERAERESERNEGZBRER - 5F
i BEENHmE S RER -

REBH NN EEMBERE - L&
RET(REARKXMBEFE) -
(hEARKMBZELE) (P
ZEARANMBRNEEHRFE) S
HEER  UREEENEVER
R L 7T B B A 1) R B EE R IR AETT
£ o BAE R AR HIE XL E 5 R Y
MBEEMBERSE - flm -
R 38 EE M [ B 3 B ) oA
ERAMBERNRENEE - RE
SRR B AIRD A B A EE AT T

EXEREGRA 107
2025 FEHE



Envwonrnenuﬂ Social and Governance Report
R g kERWmE

108

5.2

China Science and Education Industry

During the Reporting Period, in terms of trademark protection, the
Group authorized 39 new patents and maintained 213 registered
patents.

In pursuit of our commitment to enhance external outreach and
communication, the Group will regularly disseminate information
through various platforms. We maintain strict adherence to all
relevant laws and regulations, including the Non-state Education
Promotion Law of the PRC ({1 ZE A RHE MBI RPFHF (23#)%)) and
the Advertising Law of the PRC ((HZEARKXFMBEEEE)). To ensure
the veracity, reliability, and accuracy of our information, we require
the inclusion of source, author, responsible editor, and other pertinent
details in our published materials. Our Rules on Information Release
Management govern the publication of school-related information on
the internet, thereby preventing the circulation of inappropriate or

false information.

No laws or regulations relating to advertisements and information on

the educational services are violated during the Reporting Period.

Risk Management

Effective risk management and internal control systems are key factors
in maintaining a high level of corporate governance. The Group has
established appropriate risk management and internal control systems.
We set up the Compliance and Risk Management Department to
establish and enhance the Group’s internal risk control system and
management processes, and also formulate unified risk management
policies and procedures. Through the oversight of legal affairs,
contracts, audits, and risk management, the department effectively
mitigates potential risks, thereby elevating the Group's overall risk
control capabilities. Besides, we focus on improving risk identification,
assessment, and the development of risk management strategies.

The department pays a continuous effort in conducting risk
management activities and enhancing the reporting system to
establish a comprehensive risk prevention framework to safeguard the
company’s operational security within the Group.

Group Limited
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The Risk Management Policy (R EZH|E)) aims to standardize
risk management, establish an effective risk control framework,
and enhance risk prevention capabilities, ensuring the Group’s safe
and stable operation while improving management practices. It
covers all risk management aspects and related departments within
the Group. We have identified risks such as strategic, operational,
market, financial, legal and climate risks, and risk assessment involves
identifying, analysing, and responding to risks.

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management approach
encompassing five key procedures: establishing risk management
philosophy and risk appetite, setting risk management goals,
identifying risks, analysing risks, and formulating risk responses.

Based on the risk response analysis, the Group develops risk
management solutions for various risks during the monthly risk
assessment meetings. These solutions generally outline the specific
goals, organizational leadership requirements, relevant management,
business processes, required resources, and concrete response
measures to be taken before, during, and after a risk event occurs,
along with risk management tools. After the meeting, a Risk
Assessment and Response Table (@& T FFEL R )) will be drafted
for approval by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Competitive Behaviour
Policy

We firmly believe that compliance with the law, integrity and
quality service is the core business philosophy of the Group. We
set an example for school students and society, solidly promote
anti-corruption and anti-bribery work in commercial activities and
strengthen corporate internal control mechanisms. The Group strictly
abides by the Criminal Law of the PRC ({ R #E A R & ME L)),
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ({ A % A R £ F1 Bl [z % 8
%)), Criminal Procedure Law of the PRC ({(Fh#E A R HMBEF|EF70
%)), Oversight Law of the PRC (R ZEARLFEEEZ%)) and other
relevant national and regional anti-corruption laws and regulations,
and has established Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery Control Procedure

(RES - REBEBEHIRF)).
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5.4

The procedure aims to prevent corrupt practices and bribery within the
Group. It establishes a commitment system to curb corrupt behaviour
and foster a culture of lawful and ethical conduct. The scope covers
various economic activities, including procurement, sales, and
management processes, which is equally applicable to all individuals
and engaging entities in business with the Group. The procedure
outlines several measures, including mandates for the signing of
the Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Commitment Agreements by key
personnel within the relevant company and suppliers, holding them
accountable for maintaining integrity. The document also specifies
the responsibilities of different organizational levels, including the
Board, supervisory board, and company management, in monitoring
and enforcing anti-corruption practices. Furthermore, it emphasizes
proactive measures, such as establishing a reporting mechanism,
conducting investigations, and applying sanctions to address
corrupt practices effectively. The Group encourages whistleblowers
and maintains strict confidentiality throughout the reporting and
investigation processes.

During the Reporting Period, anti-corruption training for directors
focused on compliance, ethical conduct, and risk prevention,
thereby further strengthening the culture of integrity throughout the
Group. The Group did not receive any reports of corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other related cases involving
the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.

Data Privacy

We strengthen the security and confidentiality management of the
campus network, maintain public order, provide a stable, reliable,
and safe computer network environment for all teachers and students
at the schools, and support the schools’ teaching, research, and
management work. We strictly abide by the Decision of the Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress on Preserving Computer
Network Security (2BEIARREAREEBRZESHNHETHEL
2K 3RF )), the Regulations of the People’s Republic of China for
Safety Protection of Computer Information Systems ({## A R0
Bt B{E B RAEL 2 REIEF)) and relevant laws and regulations
and continue to invest in information security and data protection to
ensure the security of personal information.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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We have set up an Information Security Management System ({ {5
BLZ2EEHE E)), the “Password Management System”, and the
“Website Management Regulations”. These documents outline the
management of information system data. The data management
is governed by principles of standardization, full-cycle control, and
regular assessment including the maintenance of a unified data
language and data accuracy, prevention of unauthorized alterations,
establishment of the backup and disaster recovery mechanisms,
safeguard of data confidentiality, and facilitation of data services.
The document also defines the roles and responsibilities in terms of
data management at school, with different departments assigned
with specific functions. For units or individuals who have caused
losses due to violation of these measures, subject to the severity of
the circumstances, they would receive the appropriate administrative
penalties.

We have established specific regulations and systems, such as the
Regulations on Student File Management ({24 EREIERFE)) and
the Prevention of Information Leakage Statement ([ 1E{E BURFESE
%13 )), to ensure the security of student information. These measures
safeguard highly confidential student data from unauthorised access
or disclosure, with all transfers or access requiring departmental
approval. This framework enhances archive management, protects and
utilises student records effectively, and supports the school’s teaching,
research, and administrative operations.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations relating to data privacy matters in connection with services
provided during the Reporting Period.

Supply Chain Management

We are dedicated to establishing enduring and mutually advantageous
business partnerships with our partners and suppliers. To ensure
equitable competition and responsible supply chain management, the
Group has devised the Supplier Evaluation Standard (&R T &2
¥£)) and the Supplier Management System (({EREEIREE K )). These
systems outline the supplier selection process in order to effectively
monitor supplier production, quality, management and production
processes, develop and maintain stable suppliers, ensure that suppliers
provide products that meet quality requirements and are reasonably
priced, and establish a long-term and stable supply and demand
relationship with suppliers.
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The Administrative Measures for the Supervision of Suppliers ({{it fE7%
EERE IR YA )) introduces the Supplier Regular Evaluation Report ({f
FETE T HIFT (AR )) and Supplier Assessment Form ((HEFEFEZ K )).
The annual Supplier Assessment Form ((HLEREZEK)) categorizes
suppliers into four different levels, while monthly evaluation reports
are conducted for our long-term suppliers. Following the assessment,
we communicate the results to the suppliers and provide suggestions
for improvement when necessary. In cases where suppliers
consistently performs poorly in the comprehensive assessment, we will
discontinue our collaboration with them after reporting and obtaining
management approval, all in the interest of maintaining the quality of
our supplier network. During the Reporting Period, we confirmed that
there are 267 suppliers implementing practices related to engaging
suppliers.

We have set up a Suppliers’ Assessment of Environmental Protection
and Corporate Social Responsibility (( # fE 7 B 17T B R k i ¥
tt & & 1L F f& ) ), to strengthen suppliers’ management, reduce
environmental and social risks, and evaluate suppliers’ compliance
with environmental and corporate social responsibility standards.
The assessment covers multiple aspects such as whether suppliers
provide environmentally friendly products and services, employ child
labour, forced labour, ensure safe and healthy working conditions
for employees, practice non-discrimination in recruitment, respect
reasonable working hours and holidays, comply with legal and ethical
standards and prohibit corruption, fraud and unethical conduct.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had 267 major suppliers for
providing products and services. The regional distribution is as follows:
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ESTABLISHING A GREENER CAMPUS

As environmental pollution has become increasingly serious, governments
across the globe have established stricter environmental laws. The Group
strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations related to the emissions
of exhaust gases and greenhouse gas (“GHG"), pollution discharge to water
and land, and the production of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any significant
material non-compliance issues with laws and regulations that may have a
significant impact on the business operations of the Group are related to
environmental laws and regulations. These laws include, but are not limited
to the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (/& A R HMEIRIE (R &
%)), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC ((FRZEAR
HFBE S BRE%)), the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC ((FFEEAR
HFBFEAIEEIRER)), and the relevant laws and regulations on environmental
protection.

Our business has no significant negative impact on the environment and
natural resources. The main areas of impact include electricity consumption,
domestic water usage, the use of materials in schools and offices, waste
generated by schools, offices, and cafeterias, as well as the use of vehicles by
the Group. The Group is committed to building a responsible green campus.
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The Group has implemented a range of initiatives to advance sustainable

development. These efforts encompass enhancing afforestation, adopting

clean energy practices, conserving water and electricity, and enforcing waste

segregation procedures. These measures aim to curtail greenhouse gas

emissions, diminish water resource depletion, and minimize the production

of both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Through our collective

endeavors, we aspire to instill a sense of environmental consciousness in our

students, fostering a harmonious coexistence with nature and collectively

building a more sustainable campus.

6.1

Energy Saving

The Group focuses on energy conservation in daily office operations
and campus management. We call on students and staff to work
together to save energy whenever and wherever possible. The energy
conservation measures of the Group mainly focus on lighting systems,
HVAC systems, and the use of electronic devices and appliances.

In terms of lighting system, we suggest turning off lights when offices
are not in use and making use of daylighting whenever possible.
Keeping lighting fixtures and bulbs clean helps maximize their
energy efficiency. Dividing offices into several lighting zones with
independently controlled switches saves energy. We have already
adopted high energy efficiency luminaires during renovation.

In terms of heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems, the
Group advocates turning off air-conditioning when offices are not
in use. On days with hot weather, we allow employees to not wear
ties and full suits in order to reduce air-conditioner usage. The Group
has established the “Regulations on the Use of Air Conditioning in
Office” ({(MAEZ=FFEAEIEME)), whereby the energy-saving
air-conditioner can be turned on when the temperature reaches or
exceeds 29 degrees Celsius. The air conditioner temperature should
not be adjusted to below 26 degrees Celsius.

In terms of the use of electronic devices and equipment, the Group
reduces energy consumption through putting computers into
automatic sleep/standby mode when idling and completely turning
off electronic devices during non-working hours. When installing
equipment, multiple servers are concentrated into a single higher-
capacity server, in order to reduce energy consumption and free up

more office space.
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The Group conducts monthly electricity statistics to monitor
electricity usage. During the Reporting Period, the Group's total
electricity consumption was 42,268.97 MWh, with a per capita
electricity consumption intensity of 0.71 MWh. A marginal increase
in consumption intensity was observed, primarily due to growth in
student numbers. The Group remains dedicated to implementing
energy-saving strategies and advancing our reduction targets.

Water Saving

Water consumption is one of our focused areas. The Group has taken
a series of measures to save water, improve water use efficiency, and
reduce water waste.

Firstly, we conserve water resources from the source. The Group has
installed water taps and toilets with water-saving labels, as well as
dual-flush toilets. In terms of water resource management, any leaking
water taps will be repaired immediately, and the water pressure of
taps will be lowered to the lowest feasible level. Wash water and

sewage are recycled for cleaning and irrigation purposes.

We pay attention to enhancing the water-saving awareness of
employees and students. Water-saving slogans are posted in
washrooms across campuses to remind staff and students to turn off

taps tightly, thereby improving their water-saving awareness.

During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the
Group was 2,434,362 tonnes, with a water consumption intensity of
41.16 tonnes per capita. The increase in water consumption intensity
compared to the previous year can be attributed to the growing
number of students. Our tap water is sourced from approved suppliers
in Guangzhou, ensuring that we consistently access water that meets

our requirements without any issues.

Paper Conservation

The Group is committed to promoting paperless campuses and offices
to reduce paper waste and enhance the paper-saving awareness
of teachers and students. We have formulated the Paperless Office
Management Measures (CEARAL QB IRIE)).

We control paper consumption by pasting reminders next to
photocopiers/printers, reminding staff to use double-sided copying or
reusable paper, and to utilize electronic communication technologies
to reduce paper usage as much as possible. An electronic office system
(OA System) is used to replace paper-based administrative systems in
offices.
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6.4

China Science and Education Industry

We purchase printing paper, tissues and toilet paper containing
recycled materials. Recycling bins are used to collect paper materials
such as wastepaper, posters, letters and envelopes. Teachers and
students are encouraged to reuse blank pages of wastepaper.
We conduct regular paper quantity statistics to monitor paper
consumption and make appropriate improvements.

During the Reporting Period, the total paper consumption of the
Group was 2,794.18 kg, and the intensity of paper used was 47.24 g
per capita.

Waste Disposal

The Group is dedicated to minimizing waste disposal and maximizing
resource recycling and reusing efforts. Key waste items generated
through our daily operations include office paper, fluorescent tubes,
toner cartridges, ink cartridges, and other domestic waste. The Group
prioritizes the reduction of single-use and non-recyclable products
by opting for options like rechargeable carbon powder cartridges/ink
cartridges, replacing single-use batteries with rechargeable ones, and
repurposing items like envelopes, binders, and file folders. We have
established internal management measures to ensure effective waste
treatment and disposal practices.

On our campuses, we have implemented waste sorting bins and other
appropriate mechanisms to facilitate the recycling of materials such
as paper, metals, and plastics. Dedicated collection points are in place
for the disposal of waste batteries. Additionally, the Group conducts
regular assessments of material usage to prevent excess inventory and

minimize waste generation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of 504
tonnes of non-hazardous waste, with a generation intensity of 8.52 kg
per capita, of which 332 tonnes were successfully recycled. In terms of
hazardous waste, 254 tonnes were produced, resulting in a generation
intensity of 0.0043 kg per capita. To manage hazardous waste, the
Group engages professional third-party disposal services to ensure
compliance with relevant environmental regulations and laws.

Group Limited
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6.5 Emission Management

During the Reporting Period, the Green House Gas ("GHG") emissions
generated by the Group primarily consisted of direct emissions from
the Company’s motor vehicles, natural gas, and refrigerants (Scope
1), as well as indirect emissions from electricity use (Scope 2). With
an increase in the number of employees and students, there was
a corresponding rise in GHG emissions. Nevertheless, the Group is
implementing measures to mitigate air and greenhouse gas emissions,
such as encouraging employees to utilize public transportation,
practice energy-saving habits, and reduce overall energy consumption.

Driven by our ongoing commitment to environmental stewardship,
the Group continued to advance its afforestation efforts during the
Reporting Period. A total of 13,818 new trees were planted across our
campuses, representing a 2% increase from the previous year (2024:
13,495 newly planted trees). This initiative highlights our dedication to
enhancing green spaces, supporting biodiversity, and contributing to
long-term ecological sustainability.
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Greenhouse gas emissions and removals’ Unit 2025 2024
BEREIEMR R B 2025%F 20244
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tonne of COse 1,617.26 1,401.71
HERERBHM(HEE) yNU IRy
Greenhouse gas removals (Scope 1) tonne of COe 317.81 310.39
RERERMR(SEET) RS iR E =
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) tonne of COse 26,227.90 20,449.70
MEAEREHN(EE?2) AP —Eftig s
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tonne of CO,e 27,527.34 21,541.03
mERBHNES (HEK2) yNU IR (=
Greenhouse gas emission intensity? (Scope 1 and 2) tonne of CO.e/capita 0.47 0.37

mERETE 2 (E R2) N — B CHEE

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and
is based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX, “Global Warming
Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, 2021 (AR6), the
“Announcement on the Release of Electricity Carbon Footprint Factors for the
Year 2023" published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

2. As of August 31, 2025, the Group had a total of 3,479 employees and a student
enrolment of 55,667 (2024: 3,519 employees; 54,017 students).
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6.6 Tackling Climate Change

The Group understands the risks and importance related to climate
change. We have identified and addressed material climate-related
issues that have impacted or may impact the company as well as
relevant mitigation policies and response actions. Concurrently, we
have optimized the utilization of resources and energy. To better
handle disasters and accidents that can be triggered by extreme
weather conditions, we have bolstered our disaster response
capabilities. In the face of potential risks induced by climate change,
we are steadfast in our commitment to enhancing our climate
resilience.

Acute Physical Risk

Acknowledging that extreme weather events like typhoons, heavy
rainfall, and floods present acute risks, the Group is aware of the
potential consequences, including damage to documents, equipment,
buildings, campus water, and power disruptions, as well as
interruptions to the teaching schedule. These consequences could lead
to substantial economic losses and increased operational costs for the
Group.

Tailored measures have been developed across different campuses
and emergency scenarios to minimize the adverse impacts of extreme
weather events. Emergency plans have been established, especially
for typhoon control, with immediate reporting of safety hazards, and
prompt evacuation of teachers and students to secure areas.

Chronic Physical Risk

Recognizing that long-term shifts in climate patterns, such as
prolonged higher temperatures, can pose chronic risks, the Group is
attentive to potential outcomes like heightened susceptibility to heat-
related illnesses among outdoor workers, increased turnover rates,
and work-related injuries. Extended periods of elevated temperatures
contribute to heightened electricity consumption, affecting
operational costs and increasing energy usage on campus. Moreover,
the warm working environment can affect employee productivity.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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To address this, the Group concentrates on optimizing ventilation and
air conditioning systems’ efficiency to reduce power consumption
during temperature spikes. Additionally, we elevate employee
awareness regarding heat-related illnesses and establish preventive
and control measures.

Policy and Regulatory Risk

Understanding that non-compliance with national and industry
standards for carbon neutrality and failure to adhere to reporting and
disclosure requirements carry policy and regulatory risks, the Group
recognizes potential consequences like loss of student enrolment
impacting profitability, increased compliance costs, and financial
implications.

The Group addresses these risks through a series of measures. This
includes staying informed about the latest laws and regulations
related to climate change and integrating them into management
strategies to minimize compliance risks.

Reputation Risk

In response to stakeholders’ escalating expectations for businesses to
elevate their commitments to climate action, the Group acknowledges
that inadequately addressing these demands can influence corporate
reputation. Possible repercussions include indirect effects on
school enrolment rates and potential financial ramifications such as

decreased operating income and available funds.

The Group has made public disclosures of GHG emissions data and
initiatives in low-carbon operations within our ESG report. Moreover,
we have enacted policies to combat climate change, offer enhanced
training opportunities for students and teachers, and consistently

advocate for energy conservation and emission reduction initiatives.

Sustainability Target Plan

The Group regards sustainability as a continuous and evolving
undertaking, informed by regular assessment and a commitment to
adaptability. The objectives established in the previous year continue
to serve as a framework guiding our efforts to mitigate environmental
impacts across all operations.
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Despite encountering operational challenges during the Reporting
Period, including factors that influenced the rate of growth in
student numbers and impacted the attainment of certain targets,
the Group has maintained its resolve to instill sustainable practices
among employees and students. These practices include reducing
consumption and expanding tree planting initiatives aimed at curbing
greenhouse gas emissions. We remain diligent in reviewing our
progress and advancing the process of formulating more precise and
measurable environmental goals, thereby enhancing our capacity
for environmental stewardship and the sustainable management of
natural resources.
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Environmental aspects Targets Progress

RIBERE B EE

Energy Conservation The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and In Progress
measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of electricity consumption.

B fE REEGEREESETEIME  AfFARLBETE - HEITH
Water Conservation The Group will actively implement the water-saving plan and measures to In Progress
maintain or reduce the intensity of water consumption.

g7k REEGEGEE KT EIMEE - ABFIRLBKREE - HEITH

Waste Reduction The Group will actively implement the material-saving plan and measures In Progress
to maintain or reduce the intensity of waste production.

WA RERY) REBGEEEEMBESOEIMER  NEFIRLBEEMELTE - HETH

Greenhouse Gas Emissions The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and In Progress
measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of GHG emissions.

BEREEBEN REEBEGEEETEIMNEN - ARSI DR EREBHNEE - HETTH
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CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

The Group is deeply committed to creating positive social impact through
education and community engagement. During the Reporting Period, we
conducted 115 community activities, and dedicating 480,100 volunteer

service hours to various social causes.

Student Financial Support

Education equity remains our foremost priority. The Group provided
substantial financial assistance through scholarships, grants, and work-study
programmes to students from economically disadvantaged backgrounds to
ensure equal access to quality education.

Community Outreach and Social Development

Our volunteers actively engaged in diverse community programmes,
including disability support through rehabilitation centres and social
inclusion activities, elderly care services at nursing homes and rural
communities, and extensive education outreach with over 40,000 volunteer
hours dedicated to rural schools across multiple provinces. Environmental
stewardship initiatives focused on tree planting and waste management
education, whilst rural revitalization efforts supported infrastructure
improvements and educational development. The Group also promoted
community health through blood donation drives, first aid training, and
public health campaigns.

The strong culture of volunteerism within our institutions reflects our
commitment to social responsibility and community development. Moving
forward, the Group will continue expanding community partnerships
and aligning initiatives with the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals, particularly Quality Education, Reduced Inequalities, and Sustainable

Communities.
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APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY DATA SUMMARY

fisg— : INEXRBERE

2025 2024
Environmental’ BIE Unit B 20254 20244
Air pollutant emissions ERITRUHR
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) REILP(NO,) kg T2 604.44 431.87
Sulphur oxides (SO,) HE (S0, kg Fr 1.55 1.54
Particulate matter (PM) TR (PM) kg F 57.92 41.38
Greenhouse gas emissions and B % 5% B8 B & R BR
removals
Direct greenhouse gas emissions HEREREHER tonne of COe AN —F/LiE S 1,617.26 1,401.71
(Scope 1) (#E=1)
Greenhouse gas removals BEGEEM(EE)  tonne of COe AME—H/LIitEE 317.81 310.39
(Scope 1)
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions B = REEBEK tonne of COe ARAME—&AIIREE 26,227.90 20,449.70
(Scope 2) (#E2)
Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBEHIREE tonne of CO.e R —&ALIREE 27,527.34 21,541.03
(Scope 1 and 2) (BEI1%2)
Greenhouse gas emission intensity? 8= RESH K E? tonne of COe/ AMEZGA(tIxE =, A 0.47 0.37
(Scope 1 and 2) (BE1X%2) capita
Energy consumption BRZERA
Natural gas consumption RKARKERE m? S5 K 92,573.00 83,690.00
Natural gas consumption intensity ~ XARFERZE m3/capita SHEKS A 1.57 1.45
Gasoline consumption SRS litre g 98,483.95 97,821.28
Gasoline consumption intensity URERZE litre/employee  2F /BT 28.31 27.80
Diesel consumption LHERE litre ~F 6,473.90 6,116.28
Diesel consumption intensity SHERTE litre/employee  AF /BT 1.86 1.74
Purchased electricity consumption  SMNEE HFERE MWh JK LB 42,268.97 35,857.80
Purchased electricity consumption  SMNEE HERAHE MWh/capita KEE, A 0.71 0.62
intensity
Water consumption KIRFEH
Total water consumption EREIKE tonne N 2,434,362.00 2,095,026.80
Water consumption intensity FERZE tonne/capita N PN 41.16 36.41
Paper consumption HKRFER
Total paper consumption Rawes kg T 2,794.18 2,594.52
Paper consumption intensity RE=EE g/capita N 47.24 45.09
Waste generation and recycling BEYESREUK
Non-hazardous waste generation MEREVELAS tonne N 504.00 428.00
Non-hazardous waste generation BERFRBYELARE kg/capita T/ A 8.52 7.44
intensity
Non-hazardous waste recycling mEEZEYLOKE tonne N 332.00 281.00
Hazardous waste generation BERZEYESLS kg T 254.00 241.00
Hazardous waste generation EEEENEERR kg/capita T,/ A 0.0043 0.0042
intensity
! GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not ! BERBHEREBA-—ELREELY - WER
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limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards”
issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX,
“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, 2021 (AR6), the
“Announcement on the Release of Electricity Carbon Footprint Factors for the Year 2023"
published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

As of August 31, 2025, the Group had a total of 3,479 employees and a student enrolment of 2
55,667 (2024: 3,519 employees; 54,017 students).

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report
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Social

Total number of employees

Total number of employees
(by gender)

Female

Male

Total number of employees
(by age group)

Below 30

Aged 30-50

Above 50

Total number of employees
(by employment type)
Short-term contract/Part-time

employees
Junior employees
Middle management
Senior management

Total number of employees
(by region)
Guangdong Province

Total turnover rate of
employees?

Turnover rate (by gender)?
Female
Male

Turnover rate (by age group)?
Below 30
Aged 30-50

Above 50

Turnover rate (by region)?
Guangdong Province

e
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person

person
person

person
person
person

person
person

person
person

person

percent

percent
percent

percent
percent
percent

percent

B

> >

> > >

> >

3 Number of (specific category) turnover employees/total number of (specific category) employees

x 100%

3

2025

20254

3,479

1,937
1,542

1,527
1,450
502

252
3,040

148
39

3,479

12.10

11.77
12.52

11.00
11.31
17.73

12.10

2024
20244

3,519

1,922
1,597

1,515
1,238
766

371
2,976

136
36

3,519

8.41

8.17
8.70

7.99
11.39
4.44

8.41

MEBTABGEEER), BT RAREEER)

X 100%
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2025 2024
Social b Unit B 20254 20244
Percentage of employees ZIETHBEET percent Bt 90.69 70.59
trained to total number of Elalr 4
employees*
Percentage of employees FIEITESTHE
trained (by gender)’ (BRI S )s
Female 18 percent =Rl 94.79 76.12
Male ES percent Aotk 85.54 63.93
Percentage of employees ZIETEIL(RERE
trained (by employment type)® R E 45 )5
Short-term contract/Part-time HEHART #BET percent Ao N/A N/A
employees TEMA g
Junior employees PRET percent Bkt 99.08 78.63
Middle management RARETRE percent Bkt 83.78 87.50
Senior management SREIEE percent Bkt 48.72 69.44
Average training hours per BEE T B IIRFEE
employee® (by gender) (RMERIES)
Average training hours per B2 B T FHEEZ hours ANi=: 47.92 41.96
female employee
Average training hours per FZEE T FHEIEZ hours ANi=: 43.32 39.23
male employee
Average training hours per BEBE T B IIRFEE
employee® (by employment (REREERES)
type)
Short-term contract/Part-time HEART #BET hours N N/A N/A
employees TER NiEA
Junior employees MHZRETL hours AN 46.01 40.09
Middle management RERERE hours AN 46.22 59.97
Senior management EREERE hours AN 42.26 19.84
Occupational health and safety BXRERZE
Number of work-related fatalities ~ 2025F FE T T A no. of people A 0 /
in 2025
Number of work-related fatalities ~ 2024FFE T T A no. of people A 0 0
in 2024
Number of work-related fatalities ~ 2023FFE T T A no. of people A 0 0
in 2023
Lost working days due to work ATEEEAIIEAH days = 0 0
injury
4 Number of trained employees/total number of employees x 100% SHEBIAS BITHAZEX100%
B Number of specific category trained employees/total number of specific category employees x BERERZINETAS, BERNEITHEAR
100% X 100%
6 Total training hours of specific category employees/total number of specific category employees BEMRI B THRIFIIRNE 4SEERIE TRARK
124 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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APPENDIX Il: CONTENT INDEX OF THE ESG figg—= : (ESGHREIECI) AR

REPORTING GUIDE

Index content

EEAR

%5

Relevant Sections

HEEE

A. Environmental Area
AJRIBERE
A1: Emissions General

1 BER) Disclosure

—RRIEE

AT
A1.2

A1.2
A1.3

A1.3
Al.4

Al.4
A1.5

A1.6
A1.6
A2: Use of General
Resources Disclosure
A2 - BIRMER — MR

A2.1

A2.1
A2.2

A2.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and 6. Establishing a Greener
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and Campus
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRERERIOREREHEN - MKRITMMEES - AELESEYNESLS 6 ARZERE
B (QBUR ¢ K(o)BFEEITABERZENMEER RPN ER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
HERUIE R K ABRRHE R - MitE— : AIREEREBRHE
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions in ~ APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
total and intensity. DATA SUMMARY
HiE(ESE) REREE (SE2) R ERBEFNEREE - Mige— : AIREEREERHE
Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
FELEEREMRERTE - MitE— : AIREERIEBRHE
Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
ECEEEEVRERTE Mige— : AIREEREEREE
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 6.5 Emission Management

6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
PRI SL R BE R E B IR R R EDE L B 1R ER IR 8% - 6.5 BFRE R

6.7 AIFFEER B 1RETE
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 6.4 Waste Disposal

description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
HEIR A E MEEERENO L - R I A RE B R R REREL 6.4 BEREVEE
B ZPTEREREV P 5] - 6.7 AIFFEE R B ISRl
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 6. Establishing a Greener
raw materials. Campus
BREAER(BIERER - K REAMRME)HBOR 6. KR ERE
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas, or oil) APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
in total and intensity. DATA SUMMARY
R B S ERE R, SRS - Rk BREEREE - Miggk— - AIERREERHE
Water consumption in total and intensity. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
BREKE NEE Mige— : IREERMEEREE
FERHELEEMERA 125
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EBREAR HRAEH
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 6.1 Energy Saving
them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
A2.3 FEIPA T S K BRI s B 1R MU ZE B iE L B AR FTERER A 2P 5% o 6.1 Higk
6.7 AIFFE IR BIRaTE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 6.2 Water Saving
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
A2.4 FAREGE /KR E R A EE R - ARFTRI B R/K M B IR R RERIE 6.2 #iK
L B IR FTEREREY 2P B 6.7 AIFFEE R B IRaTE
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference to  Not applicable to the business
per unit produced. of the Group
A2.5 ERRAREMHNEERFGEESMEE - REEBERER
A3: The General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and 6. Establishing a Greener
Environment Disclosure natural resources. Campus
and Natural ~ —f&##= BIEBETAHRERRAERERKERZENBOR © 6. HRGZERE
Resources
A3 RIERARARE
R
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 6. Establishing a Greener
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Campus
A3.1 MR EHHRBERRARNERNEATERDRKRERBATENTY - 6. ARZERE
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 6.6 Tackling Climate Change
Change Disclosure which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
A4 RIREME —RRIRER HRIREHDERARGUBTAEEZENEARGEASENRE - 6.6 BHRIKEL
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, 6.6 Tackling Climate Change
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.
A4 B R gHETAEELZENEARIZIEBRSEE - RIEHTE - 6.6 EHRIEE L
B. Social Area
B2
B1: Employment  General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws 4.1 Talent and Recruitment
1: & Disclosure and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to Management
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
—RRIRER BRAFN L ARE - BIERET - TERE - RE - FTERS - 2ok R4 ASHEBRERE
BIAREA B RABMEY - ()R - R(b)BTHETABEATENIERA
ER NI ER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical ~ APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
region. DATA SUMMARY
B1.1 IR BIEEE - FRARIRMEEDHE T - Migk— - AIEEREERE
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Relevant Sections

EBREAR HRAEH
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
B1.2 IR - FieERI MBI DB TRAKLLE Mg — : AIREEREEREE
B2: Health and General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws 3.4 Campus Health and Safety
Safety Disclosure and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
B2 : {2z providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— AR ER ERRHZE2THERRRRBE TREBENEEMN - @BCK : Rb)ETE3.4 RERRSR
BITABERZENHEBERE RPN ER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three  APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
years including the reporting year. DATA SUMMARY
B2.1 BE=ZF(BRERFE)FFRIUHAABILLE - Miggk— - AIBRREBRHE
B2.2 Lost working days due to work injury. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
B2.2 ETGERTIERS - Mige— : AIREEREERE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they 3.4 Campus Health and Safety
are implemented and monitored.
B2.3 HE PR AR B R R R B 2 FE b - A SMBRIT MBS 0% - 3.4 RERFEEZ S
B3: Development General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties 4.3 Employees Training and
and Training Disclosure at work. Description of training activities. Capacity Building
B3 : BEKIEI —MIRE BERA B TR1T TS B A SRRV ER i sliEE) o 4.3 BETHEIERRE HER
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
senior management, middle management). DATA SUMMARY
B3.1 REFNRETHEAN(NSREERE  FREEEZ)EASNZIEIADL - MiEF—  IHERREERHE
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
employee category. DATA SUMMARY
B3.2 ZURIRETHEMNE D - 8RB ITNZINNFIGREL - Mige— : AIREEREERE
B4: Labour General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws 4.1 Talent and Recruitment
Standards Disclosure and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to Management
B4 : BT %8| preventing child and forced labour.
— AR ER BRI ETRRGIZTH - @BXK  ROETHETAGERAZENREI 1 AT BFEER
ERRIRBIRE RS -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 4.1 Talent and Recruitment
forced labour. Management
B4.1 R S R E I M AR R T R &4 T o 4.1 NA BEREEE
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 4.1 Talent and Recruitment
Management
B4.2 FAE BB E ARNE BB IR B RIS S P ERER A 2558 4.1 ANAHEIREERE
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Relevant Sections

HEEH

B5: Supply Chain  General

Disclosure
— AR ER
B5.1

Management

5: fHERER

B5.1

B5.2

B5.2

B5.3

B5.3

B5.4

B5.4

B6: Product
Responsibility
B6 : EmE(E

General
Disclosure

—RRARER

B6.1

B6.1
B6.2

B6.2
B6.3

B6.3
B6.4

B6.4
B6.5

B6.5
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Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 5.5 Supply Chain
Management
5.5 s EIR

5.5 Supply Chain

EIRHEENIRE T S RRBUR o

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
Management

5.5 ffrERE R

5.5 Supply Chain

i E D R HERHAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented Management
and monitored.

Epu=tca) ke Sl - S U
BIEVAIT R BB A »

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 5.5 Supply Chain

MERITAREHOHERNE  ARBHESS fEEER

the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
A B HA MRS IR IRE LR ED - AREEHTRE 5.5 HEHEIE
BHE -
Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 5.5 Supply Chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management

implemented and monitored.

HAE SR HEE R RS ARRERMRIGOED] - ARARERHITMER 5.5 HEREE
JE e

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and 3.4 Campus Health and Safety
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health 5.1 Compliance Control and
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products Operations

and services provided and methods of redress. 5.4 Data Privacy
BREMRHERTREHRERERZS BYE  REMEBEEARERS L34 RERRERZ S

B (QBUER - M(o)BFHETABERTENEMEEIRPINER - 5.1 &REHEESE

5.4 BUREM

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and Not applicable to the business

health reasons. of the Group

EEIEEXEMEH TR BREEHMARNNE D AREEHEBEN
Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they 3.5 Reflection and Self-
are dealt with. improvement

EEMARERMRBRFERE AR EEIE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

35 REBEARTE

5.1 Compliance Control and
property rights.

it B 4 N RS AR RE A R0 1E

Descr|pt|on of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

Operations
5.1 BREH EEE
Not applicable to the business
of the Group
REENERTER
5.4 Data Privacy

HVE S 19 F 912 K 2 m Bl R
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HUHEEBERVREBRALRBEGK - ARARBRTRERTE - 5.4 BURETL
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Relevant Sections

HE R

B7: Anti-corruption General
B7 : REF Disclosure

—RRIEE

B7.1

B7.1

B7.2

B7.2
B7.3

B7.3
B8: Community  General
Investment Disclosure
B8 : @&
—RRIRER

B8.1
B8.1

B8.2
B8.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and 5.3 Anti-Corruption and Anti-
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, Competitive Behaviour
extortion, fraud and money laundering. Policy

BRERILERER - BIR - BGFRORRER @R ROETHETABEAS3 RBEMRERITABE
FERNOBBEERBAPINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 5.3 Anti-Corruption and Anti-

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes Competitive Behaviour
of the cases. Policy
REERRE A 21T ASKH B TR W D BAEN EISRAR MOV EIE KAFaAE 5.3 RIBBAGRF1T RBER
o
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how 5.3 Anti-Corruption and Anti-
they are implemented and monitored. Competitive Behaviour
Policy
TP E S N R RAR T - ARABRARIT REER Ak o 5.3 RIGBFREF1TRBUR
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 5.3 Anti-Corruption and Anti-
Competitive Behaviour
Policy
fmEE N E TRENRESHE - 5.3 RBEASHFITRIE
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 7. Caring for the Community

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
B RSERTRBTACEMEHEFSENRREEBZHSZRL 7. BELR
@& H)BUR -
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 7. Caring for the Community
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERER(MHE BEFHE BIHEX  @F b 85) - 7. HEMR
Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Caring for the Community
FEEIHEMPHER 7. BAEHER
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To the Shareholders of China Science and Education Industry Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Science and Education Industry
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 140 to 232, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at August 31, 2025;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

3 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at August 31, 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code"”), as applicable to audits of financial
statements of public interest entities. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

2025 Annual Report

B BEMAEXEEARA AR
(RFASREEMERLNERAF)

EMEBETHAR
FRERMHAEXEEEERARD(UTHBIEA
ANREMBAR(ATHRE E£E ] EHIRL
F140Z232EMA FHBHRE - BIF

. MR2025F8 A3 HMAHEERER

«  BERALEEOAMHFAKEER

ZBIEFENEHERERK
IEFERNEHEeRER &k

o AHBBRENE  BEIBeHKE
BHRAGRBIER -

RMHER
ﬁﬁﬂ‘vﬁﬁém%ﬁﬁﬁaﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MARBHNE BB RE S HEA AT+

BT H£ER2025F8A31BMA G
HBRAREBEZBLLFENEHTERIR
MEHRERE  YEEBRBEB(RIEH)H
WA T Z AR -

HMPEREEES M ASEMN(EERALE
AN(TEBEEL ) ETES - HPIEZS
EATAZENEEEERNRSE [RBRAA T
B A BRERAAEN T BD FEE— M
o

HPEE - RAIAES E BRERETE R KB
iR Fﬁﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁkﬂ\

Bt

RIBBEB ST A RMANERRERRA
B BB BRRNC(EXGEER TR
TEEISFAD  BABLR BEEE - &M
MERBTHRITEMEXBBEL



Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

RREFEFEASRBERMANERHE - RRY
AHAHEMBRENEARDEENEH - &
LERITERMBAEBAHYBRRREA
EREETREMN - LM G HELRHEREH

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees

o Assessment of control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through .

Contractual Arrangements

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees

BERTEENRARER

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
E2HE M SRR RS -

Revenue mainly comprised tuition and boarding fees from
students, amounting to RMB1,406 million for the year ended
August 31, 2025. These fees are mostly received in advance
prior to or at the beginning of each academic year and are
recognized proportionately over each academic year.
WATEBHEBENBERFTEE  #E2025F8H31HIEF
ERAR¥1,40668 T - FHEERAT S NI 2FFHBAIH
BRTEAK - RNEBERLPIHER -

We focused on revenue recognition due to its magnitude and
the large volume of transactions, such that we have incurred
significant time and resources in carrying out our work in this
area.

HREBEAERZEAN  BHMZIRNWAER - BitE &
THRERTIERIRAARBRREER o

FENER -

HFIEST R AR s EA FEMA T

. BERHFEENRARER

BiA ORI HEE AR R
RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B RN RERARESSE

In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

ST E FH  RAIT T U TR -

We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over the
revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees.

BATE - FHERARRERTEE WA RS -

We checked on a sample basis the student names, academic subjects
and student grades in the student records of the relevant universities
to the official student records registered with relevant education
authorities and reconciled the total number of enrolled students in
the current academic year from the student records of the relevant
universities to the official student records registered with the relevant
education authorities of the People’s Republic of China.
BPBRBEFEARANBBEHE BHELHNE HEELEMEER
AREBBERHFHHNBEME  BRIRBEFH - WEHEBARSEETDHR
RABERB B L QYRTIEBHE NI ELNE A SEREETZ
B
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI NARERARESSE

We checked the tuition and boarding fees charged to the students
on a sample basis to student enrolment forms and academic score
records, payment records, price of tuition and boarding services as
detailed in the student enrolment guide.
BPIRBERENBRE|RB RBMT DL - MR EARBERER
AN RERFTEREHERBERNSERDNBERTEE -

We checked on a sample basis the existence of the students by
interviewing students and agreed the student information in relevant
official student records including the student names, their personal
identity card numbers, student identification numbers and academic
subjects to the student’s identity card and student cards provided by
the students.
BMBAESTRERSHEBAE A S2ERSTNEEERN(BEEEY
ZAAFHER  PEBHRLER) BBERENBE G (HE KRS
ERRE - MERERDIFE -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group's tuition and
boarding fees tested were supported by available evidence.
RIBFIERIE I - BPIER - PPAEE) EEESRENTHEERGER
S o



Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Assessment of control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities through Contractual Arrangements

BBENRIEEE AN REEERIEHENTMG

Refer to Note 2(ii) and 4.2(a) to the consolidated financial
statements regarding the accounting policy, critical
judgement and related disclosure note of the control over
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through Contractual
Arrangements.

BRGTEER BRAGEBEANTHEEAARBESR
B HENEEREN T - F2HE 0B R 2 20 &
4.2(a) °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI NARERARESSE

In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

SRR E FH  RAIRT T U TR -

We discussed with management to understand the latest regulatory
development and whether there were any changes in facts and
circumstances which might have an impact on the Contractual
Arrangements;
BMEERELET T m  THREINEEERARESEFENER
HIREE - AR g@HEATHEETE

We obtained the written opinion from the Company’s PRC external
legal counsel and discussed with them to understand their analysis
and views as to the validity and enforceability of the Contractual
Arrangements with respect to all relevant PRC laws and regulations
officially promulgated, publicly available and publicly known, and
evaluated whether these evidences support the relevant judgements
made by the Company with the assistance of our internal legal expert;
HfEEKRE BEQAPBIMPEIEERNERER  WEAREER
KEWMBI T - EEEETHW - N TRRERSIERXEM - RFEFIES
KA RZET A A BT BERERE GO HEB B R ATHITIER
DI REE  ARFEZERECDRT SRRMERREAE
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

A substantial portion of the Group’s business is conducted
through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC due
to the regulatory requirements that restrict foreign ownership
in higher education service industry in the PRC. The Group
does not have any direct legal ownership of equity interest in
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Nonetheless, through the
establishment and implementation of a series of contractual
agreements (“Contractual Arrangements”), the Group has
rights to exercise power over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, has exposure, or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and
has ability to affect those returns through its power over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors of the Company
concluded that the Group has control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, consequently, the Company regards the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities as controlled structure entities
under HKFRS Accounting Standards and consolidates the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
R EHEEHERBITENINE TR EFERGIMEEER
E ;‘%l@_iﬂ,ﬁ%é})\ﬁ%% EERNHMEETASINE
% o lﬂ?%é)\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ SERNRAERY NERBEEE
EFTEHE - BE L LiﬁuT_ﬁ Bit— R A K0 [E4
ZHEl) E\’EIEF*TZ AREAE BB/ TR - 2 HLR
A)\%Fﬁ@?‘%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁf—fﬂﬁl#&ﬂﬂﬂ % ok 5 REER 1S R & [0l 3R -
NERERBBRGEARAEESRNEIZEZS DR
h BARE %I&ﬁm EEE AR AEEI% EEEEAES
*%E © .lH: g RERBEEEVBRESA R B EE ARAH
E‘é‘i‘fﬁﬁx&,u% 'R UGEae A\RBEBEMA &
SEHE I BERE

hlﬂ’ kﬂ\

Ell:l
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI NARERARESSE

We assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
Company’s PRC external legal counsel;
BMFHET BERARRBIINEDERERNER BN REEM
We evaluated Company’s assessment and judgements on the
validity and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements and the
assessment of the Group’s control over Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through the Contractual Arrangements; and

BMHET BERREETHABIEMAI BT LA E - A
% EREBGBAOTHHGE ARBETRBEHRNTE X

We assessed the adequacy of related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

HPIRHE T A MR T EEREN T E -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgements made
by Company to continue to control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and therefore consolidate these entities in the consolidated
financial statements were supported by the evidence obtained.
EREHATHER - BHMRE B ARMEH B EEZE GRS ARREE
EBV BRI EZZEREHMNASHABHRERONAE - 9BBAK -



Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

During the year ended August 31, 2025, the directors
reassessed, with the involvement of an external legal counsel
appointed by the Company, whether there were any changes
in facts and circumstances that may impact the validity and
enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements. Based on
the results of the assessment, it was concluded that the
Contractual Arrangements among the Group’s wholly-owned
entities, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their equity
shareholders continue to be in compliance with all relevant
PRC laws and regulations officially promulgated, publicly
available and publicly known, and are legally enforceable.
BZE20256F8A31HIEFE - £ ERRIFMEFINDEEER
WHBT  BEFEFALEREFEMBERLEEE @ Aleee
HEALHNBRENAIHTHEEERE - ERNTEHER - &
ERR EEEZEEE A ARBMETBLEREREA
2RI ENLBHNFEEEREM - ARAIEGERARR
FTAnE P A MR BUREER - WA HORFLT

Accordingly, the directors are of the view that Company
continues to control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and therefore consolidate the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at
and for the year ended August 31, 2025.

At - EFR%A - BRAREBEEHNGEAREEESE  Am
e AREEERAHAA BEXEEN2025F8H31H kA
EZHIEFENEHFIBERE

We focus on this area due to the complexity, high level
of judgements involved in determining the validity and
enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements in order
to evaluate whether it is appropriate for the Company
to consolidate the Consolidated Affiliated Entities under
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which could have significant
and pervasive implications to the consolidated financial
statements.

ARENRHAREMAIRITHENEEEM - B RaKTED
G At FRMEHEEZEE - UATE SERFREEEY
BHREGTENGREARFEEBSHEINRTIRE » BEA]
RRHEHUBRRELEEAEEZZE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEMWESNAEEEREETSE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Ja N iz BLRD ¥R &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

136 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

HMNER  RHEHPBHRERERESTE
R AFER AR T S BB A M RRAEG
BIERE - LW EAHE R B R A% &
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

\We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Pong Fei Ho (practising certificate number: P05268).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, November 24, 2025
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Year ended August 31,

HZ8A3MALEE
2025 2024
202545 20244
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Bt 3 ARBT ARBT T

Revenue A 5 1,445,442 1,268,533
Cost of sales SHE AR 8 (722,823) (602,214)
Gross profit ER 722,619 666,319
Selling expenses SHERRY 8 (45,691) (29,212)
Administrative expenses TEREY 8 (181,892) (139,332)
Other income — net Ha A FEE 6 58,554 51,464
Other gains — net HAh a5 58 7 11,702 24,411
Operating profit & FE 565,292 573,650
Finance income BRI A 1,026 3,764
Finance expenses g 13 (70,460) (89,816)
Finance expenses — net WSS F 58 10 (69,434) (86,052)
Profit before income tax Fi 8% 5 R E 495,858 487,598
Income tax expenses FriSfiF s 11 (37,565) (36,508)
Profit for the year FERFE 458,293 451,090
Other comprehensive income Hipir & W
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to ~ BT & E# HIEE 1801

profit or loss HH
Revaluation gains arising from transfer of property, E#&¥% « KE K& EAEE

plant and equipment and corresponding right-of- {FHEEEEEAKREYEM

use assets to investment properties, net of tax EAMEHKZE(EFF) 1,353 6,045
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMZRE KRR (EHH)

net of tax 1,353 6,045
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAGREWRZEHE 459,646 457,135
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LT A TGRS WA :

— Controlling shareholder of the Company — AR AEARARER 459,646 457,135
Earnings per share for profit attributable to AATFERBRREEREHER

the controlling shareholder of the Company BR(UAEBRARETER)

(expressed in RMB per share)
Basic and diluted BEAR R EE 12 0.382 0.376

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in it A prER A W e 2% FE S B BE BT A9 BT o — OF RS
conjunction with the accompanying notes. =
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax assets
Prepayments

Current assets
Prepayments
Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from related parties

Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Share capital and share premium

Statutory surplus reserves
Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

aE

FERBEE
EREEE

ME - BB RERE
REME
BIZAE
BIEFSHE E
B FRIA

REBEE
FAN R

B 5 K E AR GRIA

JiE U5 A RS 7 SR 0R
SRHRE
RENREEFEY

HEE

RS

PR B B 3 i (B
EEBGBREE

H b4

RE &

BRE

Note

=
=
4

14
15
16
17
29
19

19
20
33
21
22

23
24
24
24

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ART T AR T T
1,408,117 1,369,868
5,259,715 4,909,887
243,300 223,800
7,916 10,984
43 12
25,412 91,467
6,944,503 6,606,018
5,201 4,693
18,013 31,765
24,972 16,931
8,240 498
966,554 840,875
1,022,980 894,762
7,967,483 7,500,780
603,188 603,188
146,566 140,765
443,110 416,362
3,110,231 2,657,739
4,303,095 3,818,054
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LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Accruals and other payables
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to related parties
Contract liabilities

Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

&

FRBEME

f& 3%

HEAE

FEFT B A R B A A 5R0R
BEMFHRER

RBAE

FERTE A R B Al A 5R0R
F& 1~ B BSE 77 SR IR
AHAE
EHMREHAR

&3k

HEAE

WA

HmEB

BEREEARE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

Note

=
=
4

28
14
26
29

26
26
27

28
14

As at August 31,

H8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®ETT
1,896,996 1,944,161
4,619 3,195
31,237 29,821
67,998 58,433
2,000,850 2,035,610
403,618 336,017
24,668 20,277
1,064,661 981,505
15,21 17,656
152,214 290,850
2,210 532
956 279
1,663,538 1,647,116
3,664,388 3,682,726
7,967,483 7,500,780

bt & BF 8 B B A 5% e R BE P /O B 5 — 61 B3

s °

The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 232 were approved by the FI40E2NEMNAEHUBERREBESTZRN
2025F 11 A4BHLETRREZSHE -

Board of Directors on November 24, 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng Ye Yaming
RE Y4
Director Director

EE EFE
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Attributable to the controlling shareholder of the Company

KA RERRRENS
Statutory
Share Share surplus Other Retained
capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
R ROBE EEBHEE Hitt REEF Azt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®Tn AR%TR ARTn AR%Tn AR¥ET:R
(Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 24(a)) (Note 24(b))

(MizE23) (FzE23)  (MizF24(a))  (BiEE24(b))

For the year ended August 31, 2025 HZE2025%8A31HLEE
As at September 1, 2024 R20245981H 140,765 416,362 2,657,739 3,818,054
Comprehensive income FalE
Profit for the year FRFE - - 458,293 458,293
Other comprehensive income HitimA e
Revaluation gains of investment properties REMEER KRS - 1,353 - 1,353
Total comprehensive income for the year FERGERREE - 1,353 458,293 459,646
Appropriation to statutory reserves EREETRE - 51,419 - (51,419) -
Utilization of school development funds FRERERED (45,618) - 45,618 -
Deemed contribution from the controlling BIERRBERRELE

shareholder of the Company - 47,289 - 47,289
Deemed distribution to the controlling BRERADAIERRES R

shareholder of the Company - (21,894) - (21,894)
As at August 31, 2025 R2025%8A31H 146,566 443,110 3,110,231 4,303,095
For the year ended August 31, 2024 HZ202458A31BLEE
As at September 1, 2023 ®2023F9A1H 134,256 415,605 2,213,158 3,366,207
Comprehensive income REwE
Profit for the year FRFIE - - 451,090 451,090
Other comprehensive income Rz als
Revaluation gains of investment properties REMFEMNR - 6,045 - 6,045
Total comprehensive income for the year FRGENRAE - 6,045 451,090 457,135
Appropriation to statutory reserves BERSLTERE 53,538 - (53,538) -
Utilization of school development funds FRERERES - (47,029) - 47,029 -
Deemed distribution to the controlling RIEERADAIERRES &

shareholder of the Company - (5,288) - (5,288)
As at August 31, 2024 #2024%8A31R 140,765 416,362 2,657,739 3,818,054

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in it OF 1 2 5 B 3% P 53 (R BE MY A B R — OF B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o
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Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets

Payment for the acquisition of a land use right

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayments of bank borrowings

Proceeds from other borrowings due to the
controlling shareholder of the Company

Repayments of other borrowings due to the
controlling shareholder of the Company

Proceeds from other borrowings due to
related parties

Repayments of other borrowings due to
related parties

Principal elements of lease payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

RETHNRERE
REmSRE
EAHLE

B ATIS

REEBIBREFER

REZDNRERE

BEWE BELRE
ERREEERETLERE

HEME - BB RREWR
B EERNMEHR

Yst B + 58 PR A 151 3R

RERBTAREHER

MEZDNRERE

RITIEFRPIITRIA

EERITER

e AN AR AR AR ER E At
18 TR T 15 5008

BE BN AR AR AR A9
H A R

JRE S B BSE 77 B9 EL b A5 R A0
PR 3A

{BIE FE 15 RS 77 e E b fE 5K

HENRNAEE D

BMEEB T ABRLFER

RERRELSEYEM
(RS ) F

BE MRS FEWRE L BB

FORERREEEY

FRAEREEEED

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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Year ended August 31,
BE8A3IHLEE

2025
20254
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China Science and Education Industry Group Limited (the “Company”,
formerly known as China Vocational Education Holdings Limited) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on May 24, 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands.
The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in providing private tertiary education services, including tuition services
and student accommodation services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond Limited
(“HL-Diamond"). The directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider the
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also an executive
director and the chairman of the Board of the Company (the “controlling
shareholder”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange"”) since November
25, 2019.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on November 24, 2025.

(i) Going concern assumption

As at August 31, 2025, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by RMB640,558,000. The Group's total borrowings as
at August 31, 2025 amounted to RMB2,049,210,000 which included
RMB152,214,000 repayable within the coming twelve months. The
Group also expected to incur capital expenditures of RMB174,430,000
in relation to construction of property, plant and equipment within the
coming twelve months.
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Going concern assumption (Cont’d)

In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the Company have
given careful consideration of the future liquidity and operating
performance of the Group and its available source of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. The Directors have reviewed a cash
flow projection of the Group prepared by management covering a
period of not less than twelve months from August 31, 2025 taking
into account of (1) the Group’s unutilised long-term bank facilitates
of approximately RMB163,970,000 for its capital expenditure as at
August 31, 2025; (2) subsequent to August 31, 2025, the Group
obtained long-term bank facilities for working capital with aggregated
amount of RMB50,000,000; and (3) the Group is able to comply
with the bank covenants of its existing bank facilities and such bank
facilities will continue to be available to the Group.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the
Group's expected net cash inflows from its operating activities and
the availability of the Group’s bank facilities, the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to fulfil its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from August 31,
2025. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.
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(ii) Consolidation of subsidiaries controlled through

contractual arrangements

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Guangdong Huali
Shengda Business Service Limited (“Huali Shengda”, formerly
known as Xizang Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited),
entered into the contractual arrangements with the Guangzhou Huali
College (“Huali College”), Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology
Vocational College (“Huali Vocational College”) and Guangdong
Province Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician College”),
(collectively the “PRC Operating Entities”), and the legal owner
of the PRC Operating Entities, on March 23, 2017 and entered into
supplemental contractual agreements on August 30, 2018 (collectively
referred to as the Contractual Arrangements), which enable Huali
Shengda and the Group to:

- exercise effective control over the PRC Operating Entities and

Huali Investment;

- receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
in consideration for the corporate management and educational
services, as well as technical and business support services
provided by Huali Shengda. Such services include development,
design, upgrade and ordinary maintenance on educational
software and website; design on college course and major;
compilation and selection and/or recommendation on college
course materials; recruitment and training supporting on
teachers and other employees; admission and enrolment
supporting services; public relation services; market research
and development services; management and marketing
consulting and related services; and other additional services as
the parties may mutually agree from time to time;
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(ii) Consolidation of subsidiaries controlled through
contractual arrangements (Cont’d)

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all equity
interests in the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
from the respective equity holders at nil consideration or
a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. Huali Shengda may exercise such options at any
time until it has acquired all equity interests in and/or all assets
of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment permitted
under PRC laws and regulations. In addition, the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment are not allowed to sell, transfer,
or dispose any assets, or make any distributions to their equity
holders without prior consent of Huali Shengda; and

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment from their equity
holders to secure performance of the obligations of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment under the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Group does not have any equity interest in the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment. However, as a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment, and is considered to control the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment. Consequently, the Company
regards the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment as the
indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs. The Group has included the
financial position and results of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment in the consolidated financial statements.
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Consolidation of subsidiaries controlled through
contractual arrangements (Cont’d)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, due to the
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system to impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment. The Directors, based
on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements among the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
and their equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

See Note 37.1 for other potentially material accounting policies on
consolidation.

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties which are carried at fair value.
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(iii)

(iv)
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(v) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (v) REBRMFET REE

EIREL
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the (a) FEEFFRABFETR
Group: AEIEFTER -
The Group has applied the following new and amended AEEE 5 2024F9H81H
standards for its annual reporting period commencing B 0h B F & RS HA R FE A A

September 1, 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1

EEGEERIE1REFTA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

EERBESH(BET)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEMBRESTERE 165 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

NETR] R AERT R

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

BEREARDIGERD MM HRENIERDEE
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

2IHMBHRER - BERAE R EREREREGRNEHMETNDHE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERERRSTHEHERE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

BEEGERNET R RBBHBRE HEBRERY

EETERIET7IR(BRTA)
The amendments and interpretation listed above did not have Fit{EET AR R E Y B
any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods and BERZ S %N ET A
are not expected to significantly affect the current or future 2 . JPHI RN & B A HA 5k R

periods.
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(v) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (v)

(Cont’d)

(b) Certain new or amended accounting standards and interpretation

NG B BR AN BYHT T R AR 4B

" 2RI ()

(b)

have been published that are not mandatory for August 31, 2025

reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group.

These amendments are not expected to have a material impact

on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on

foreseeable future transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 21
HERLFERE21R(BETA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BEP WSS ERER K
ERPHHRESHERBETREFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

BBV BHEGHER (BRTA)

HKFRS 18

FRMBHESHERFE 185

HKFRS 19

BRI BRE G ERIE 1958

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEM S ERE105E R
B ERTERIE 285 (BFTA)

Lack of Exchangeability
TR = AT H ARt

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments and
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity

SR TASHEGE R R
KRB ARREREEE HEY
SHIUERTAR)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs — Volume 11

ERPBHESEHENNFERE-F 1S

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (new standard)

BATERER B0 2 SR EE GrAERl)

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures (new standard)
FARZAEEMBAT - BEEGTER)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REERABENTNAEREZHD
BEHERLE

BTG kS ] 25 2ER
REABEEMER202558
A 318 3R E B s AR08 Hl A
W BMABAEERER
W o ZEBFIAERTER
AN 25 B Bk R 2R 3R 5 HA T

HERNEAIERNRER
DERERNZE °

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
AT B sk
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January 1, 2025
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(v) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

(Cont’d)

(b) (Contd)
These standards except for HKFRS 18 are not expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
As for the HKFRS 18, it will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
financial statements. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact
the recognition or measurement of items in the financial
statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are
expected to be pervasive. Management is currently assessing
the detailed implications of applying the new standard on the
Group's consolidated financial statements. From the high-level
preliminary assessment performed, some potential impacts
have been identified, such as the Group expects that grouping
items of income and expenses in the statement of profit or
loss into the new categories will impact how operating profit is
calculated and reported.

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program of the Group focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
financial performance of the Group.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates in the PRC with most transactions
being settled in RMB, except that certain cash and
cash equivalents are denominated in Hong Kong dollar
("HKD") or US dollar (“USD") which are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk. Details of the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents denominated in HKD or USD
are disclosed in Note 22.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy, and manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates.

If the USD or HKD had strengthened/weakened by 5%
against the RMB while all other variables had been held
constant, the impact on the Group’s post tax profits for
the year ended August 31, 2025 would be immaterial
(2024: immaterial) for various non-RMB financial assets
and liabilities.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii)

2025 Annual Report

Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank deposits
and borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by cash at bank with floating interest
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. Other than the loan
due to a related party and portion of the loan due to
the controlling shareholder of the Company as disclosed
in Note 28 (d) bearing interest at fixed rate, all of the
Group's borrowings bore interest at floating rates during
the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market interest rate
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group closely monitors trend of interest rate and its
impact on the Group's interest rate risk exposure. The
Group currently has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging interest rate risk
should the need arise.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, if the interest rates on
the borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower
than the prevailing rate announced by People’s Bank of
China, with all other variables held constant, interest
charges for the year would have been RMB8,581,000 and
RMB9, 195,000 higher/lower, respectively.

The Group monitors interest rate fluctuation to ensure
that exposure to interest rate risk is within an acceptable
level.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and
other receivables and amounts due from related parties.

(ii)

Cash at bank and restricted cash

At August 31, 2025 and 2024, substantially all of the
Group’'s bank deposits were deposited with major
financial institutions incorporated in the Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong and Macao, which management
believes are of high credit quality without significant
credit risk.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables were mainly tuition and boarding fees
receivables. The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables and requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of
the receivables.

The Group assessed the loss allowance of trade
receivables based on an assessment of the expected credit
losses to be incurred, including an assessment of the
historical collection rate and forward-looking adjustments
when applicable.

The Directors are of the view that the industrial
characteristics factors with regard to trade receivables
collections have been taken into accounts in the
assessment on the expected credit loss rate throughout
the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 31 YA =

3 B 75 3R MY 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
E!zi2025¢8)ﬂ 31 Eutir‘

o= =y
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

3 SEERE

3.1 SREAREE(AE)
(b) =EER (&)

=1 (48 )

(i) Trade receivables (Cont'a) (i) B ZEWFHE
(%)
The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on the ERE 5 RN KRIERE
recognition and the loss allowance of trade receivables RREBEBENES
was determined as follows: & 5 5 T BR B o0 AT 7B
EWT
As at August 31, 2025 Less than 1 year 1to 2 years 2 to 3 years
M202558H31H DSRE 122F 2E3F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT
Expected loss rate FEHEREE 1.3% 10.4% 100%
Gross carrying amount RE&E 4,471 208 14
As at August 31, 2024 Less than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
7202458 A31H NS 1226 2835
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Expected loss rate HHEEE 1.5% 10.6% 100%
Gross carrying amount RE4E 4,629 181 28

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities
and the collectability of these receivables and considers
that the expected credit risks of them are minimal in
view of the historical experience and forward-looking
information. The loss allowance provision for these
balances was not material and no provision was recorded
during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 3.1 REAKREE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d) (b) EERE (&)
(iii) Other receivables and amounts due from (iii) B A EYL A

related parties

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

The general expected credit loss model is summarized
below:

The financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on
initial recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and has its
credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. The
expected credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis.

If a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved
to “Stage 2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
The expected credit loss is measured on lifetime basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The expected
credit loss is measured on lifetime basis.

The Group assessed the credit quality of the counter
parties by taking into account their financial position,
credit history and other factors. Management also
regularly reviews the recoverability of these receivables
and follow up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any.
The Directors are of the opinion that the risk of default
by counter parties is low and no provision was recorded
during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(c)

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to
fund its future cash flow needs mainly from internally generated
cash flows from operations and borrowings from financial
institutions. As at August 31, 2025, the Group held available
deposits of RMB966,554,000 and expected to stably generate
cash inflows from the tuition income and boarding income
for managing liquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group treasury maintains flexibility in
funding by committed credit lines. As at August 31, 2025, the
Group has unutilised long-term bank facilities of approximately
RMB163,970,000 for its capital expenditure. As at the date of
this report, the Group had unutilised long-term bank facilitates
of approximately RMB163,970,000 for its capital expenditure
and an unutilised long-term bank facility RMB50,000,000 for its
working capital. The Group maintains regular communication
with its banks and the Directors are confident that the Group
is able to comply with the bank covenants of its existing bank
facilities and such bank facilities will continue to be available to
the Group. The Group will also consider obtaining more banking
facilities when there is any likelihood of shortfall in working
capital.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(c) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial

liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the

remaining year at the balance sheet date to the contractual

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the

contractual undiscounted cash flows.

As at August 31, 2025

Borrowings (principal plus
interests)

Accruals and other
payables (excluding
non-financial liabilities)

Amounts due to related
parties

Lease liabilities

Total

As at August 31, 2024

Borrowings (principal plus
interests)

Accruals and other
payables (excluding
non-financial liabilities)

Amounts due to related
parties

Lease liabilities

Total

®202548A31R
fER (RS IFE)

JE=H B AR bR
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SRARE)

& < BB 05 50OR

HERE

it

®202458A31R
fERR (A& M E)

FERH B A R E MR
TR BEFE
SRARE)

& 1< BREEE 05 50OR

Less than
1 year
DRE
RMB’000
AR®T R

208,685

365,438

24,668
2,601

601,392

371,319

297,265

20,277
670

689,531

Between

3.1 SEEAREE(AE)

(c)

Between

1and 2 years 2 and 5 years

1225
RMB’000
ARETR

336,461

2,437

338,898

269,116

674

269,790

2E5%F
RMB’000
AR¥TR

780,793

34,944

1,213

816,950

1,046,234

34,945

1,422

1,082,601

mBEZERE ()

TRAMDHBREEERES
SEEEEEN S e
BEETESBRABIRR
RIS EMAR - RIEHR
BOSEAANRAARS

==
JLE °

Over 5 years Total
S5ERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT T
1,084,141 2,410,080
- 400,382

- 24,668

1,294 7,545
1,085,435 2,842,675
940,167 2,626,836

- 332,210

- 20,277

1,724 4,490
941,891 2,983,813

2025 FEHE



3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as total debt (including external borrowings) divided by
total equity.

The gearing ratios as at August 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

Total borrowings PR =R
Total equity R
Gearing ratio BELXR

The decrease in the gearing ratio as at August 31, 2025 resulted
primarily from the increase in total equity and decrease in total

borrowings.

Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value was
disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs are categorized into

three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

3 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).
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3.3 Fair value estimation (Cont’d)

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See Note 16 for disclosures of the investment properties that are

measured at fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties and financial liabilities including
current accruals and other payables and current amounts due to
related parties, and current borrowings, approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities. The fair values of non-current bank
borrowings and other borrowings due to the controlling shareholder
of the Company amounting to RMB93,500,000 are estimated based
on discounted cash flow using the prevailing market rates of interest
available to the Group for financial instruments with substantially
the same terms and characteristics at the respective balance sheet
dates. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current accruals and
other payables and non-current other borrowings due to a related
party and the controlling shareholder of the Company amounting to
RMB249,101,000 also approximate their fair values because they are
recognized by taking into account the imputed interest rates.
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Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Income taxes and deferred taxation

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), private
schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy
preferential tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide
that the private schools for which the sponsors do not require
reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments
and related policies applicable to private schools requiring
reasonable returns. However, as of the date of this report, no
separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by
the authorities in this regard. Based on the historical tax returns
filed to the relevant tax authorities, the PRC Operating Entities
have historically enjoyed preferential tax treatment since their
establishment.

Significant judgment is required in interpreting the relevant
tax rules and regulation so as to determine whether the
Group is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series
of judgments about future events. New information may
become available that causes the Group to change its judgment
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes
to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the year that such

determination is made.
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4.1 Critical accounting estimates (Cont’d)
(b) Useful lives and residual values of property,

(c)

plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual values
periodically to ensure that the method and rates of depreciation
are consistent with the expected pattern of realization of
economic benefits from property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and economic environment
changes in response to severe industry cycles. If there are
significant changes from previously estimated useful lives and
residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses may
change.

Fair value of investment properties

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. When level 1 inputs
are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors of the Company
work closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The fair value of investment properties is determined by using
valuation technique. Details of the judgment and assumptions
have been disclosed in Note 16.
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4.2 Critical accounting judgement 4.2 BESTTHE
(a) Scope of consolidation (a) BH&EE

Consolidation is required only if control exists. The Group
conducts a substantial portion of the business through the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the PRC due
to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership in the
Group's schools in the PRC. The Group does not have any equity
interest in the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment. The
Directors assessed whether or not the Group has control over
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment by assessing
whether it has the rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment. After assessment,
the Directors concluded that the Group has control over the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment as a result of
the Contractual Arrangements and accordingly the financial
position and the operating results of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment are included in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements throughout the years ended August 31,
2025 and 2024 or since the respective dates of incorporation/
establishment, whichever is the shorter period. Nevertheless,
the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede
the Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment. Where the
factors of control are not apparent, significant judgement is
applied in the assessment, which is based on an overall analysis
of all of the relevant facts and circumstances. The Group is
required to reassess whether it controls the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment if facts and circumstances indicate
a change to aforesaid factors of control.

The Directors, based on the advice of its PRC legal counsel,
consider that the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their equity
shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally enforceable.
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The Group is principally engaged in provision of private tertiary education
and ancillary services in the PRC. Management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM") that are used to make strategic decisions. The CODM
has been identified as the executive directors. CODM examines the Group's
performance from the service perspective.

Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance, is on a school by school basis. Each
individual school constitutes an operating segment. The services provided
and type of customers are similar in each operating segment, and each
operating segment is subject to similar regulatory environment. Accordingly,
their segment information is aggregated as a single reportable segment.
CODM assesses the performance of the reportable segment based on the
revenue and gross profit for the year of the Group as presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The accounting policies
of the reportable segment are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 37.3. No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities is
regularly provided to the management of the Group for review.

As at August 31, 2025, approximately 99.9% of the carrying values of the
Group's assets were situated in the Chinese Mainland. All of the Group’s
revenue are derived from activities in, and from customers located in the

Chinese Mainland and no geographical segment analysis is prepared.

Revenue during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

MR- HERER

Recognized over time

— Tuition fees —E5
- Boarding fees — BB

— BB RBE

— Other education service fees

Tuition fees and boarding fees are recognized proportionately over each
academic year. No customers individually accounted for more than 10% of

the Group’s revenue during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.
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1,294,979 1,164,804
110,841 103,729
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Accounting policy of revenue recognition
Revenue represents tuition fees and boarding fees from provision of services

by the universities of the Group, and other education service fees.

(a)

(b)

Rental income

Catering and relevant service income — net
Campus cleaning service income
Government subsidies

Site use and relevant service income — net

Tuition fees and boarding fees

Tuition and boarding fees are mostly received in advance prior to
or at the beginning of each academic year and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognized
proportionately over the terms of the applicable program or the
beneficial period for the students, where applicable. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but not yet
earned is recorded as contract liabilities.

Other education service fees

The Group engages in providing training services to students.
Other education service fees are mostly received in advance prior
to or at the beginning of each program and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Other education services fees are recognized
proportionately over the relevant course schedule in which the services
are rendered. The portion of other education services fees received
from students but not earned is recorded as contract liabilities.

HEWA
RN IR A R
REERIRFE A
BT 8 Bh

Service income of school-enterprise R{EVEE B RBEWA
cooperation projects
Others HAh
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 OTHER GAINS - NET

PR TS SRR BT R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Eﬁzi2025$8ﬂ 31 Eutil*

H b U 22 75 58

Year ended August 31,

BZ8A3MALFE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T
Net fair value gains on investment properties KEMELAFEWZFHE(HE16)
(Note 16) 14,418 28,674
Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEVE BELRE  BEEEN
plant and equipment, intangible assets Uz (E518) 8 (683)
Provisions for litigations (Note (a)) W}%{%(ﬁﬁ?(a)) (2,250) -
Net exchange losses bE N B 18 (82) (3,617)
Others HAth (392) 37
11,702 24,411
(a) In September 2024, certain group entities were accused by a supplier who claimed itself (a) 2024598 ETEEERK —ZER

as the service provider of school-enterprise cooperation projects, for compensation
of RMB6,930,000 in total, for incurred service fees, corresponding default interests
and expected reasonable returns associated with future operations of the school-
enterprise cooperation projects. According to the court order, the Group’s bank deposits
of totaling RMB6,930,000 have been frozen as a guarantee to execute the potential
claim in respect of the case (Note 21). Pursuant to the judgment of the first instance, a
provision amounting to RMB2,250,000 was provided accordingly.
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Employee benefit expenses (Note 9)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(Note 15)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)
Property management fee
Maintenance fee
School consumables
Marketing expenses
Office expenses
Utilities expenses
Travel and entertainment expenses
Training expense
Allowance granted to students
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17)
Other taxes
Consultancy and professional service fees
Auditors’ remuneration

— Audit services
Rental expenses (Note 14)
Student activities expenses
Insurance expenses
Joint tuition support fees
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling expenses and
administrative expenses
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Year ended August 31,
BEZ8A3MHLEE

2025
20254
RMB’000
AR®TR
1B B (3E9) 462,130
M - BB RERETE (HE15)
204,502
FREEENE (ME14) 46,429
MEERE 36,697
BEEEE 35,651
BRI 30,250
HERY 20,522
N 20,365
ARREHEX 18,991
ER RGBT 14,816
b= = 8,740
B AL 7,071
m A EEE(ME7) 6,148
HAbFi1E 5,294
DA EERGE 3,511
% HAD B &

—ZH RS 2,780
e (MfizE14) 2,690
BEEHMAY 1,512
RS 1,280
EETHRE 350
HE 20,677
HMEHERA - HEMXRITHAX

950,406

2024
20244
RMB'000
AREF T

364,457

170,413
43,637
31,565

6,884
27,044
15,321
13,222
19,277
12,174

9,148

4,737

6,305

6,421

3,674

2,606
474
1,260
1,181
14,386
16,572

770,758
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2025F8HA31HILEE

=H A == =
AT B 3z 68 LA N LK riia Z8 71N

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERAAX
Year ended August 31,
HBESAMALEE
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T AREF T
Wages, salaries and bonuses IT% - #Hokitid 311,789 281,842
Contribution to pension plan BIRGET BB 42,109 23,418
Welfare and other expenses 18 ) J2 Foh R =2 108,232 59,197
462,130 364,457
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) EEBREFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group FARKEFHERSNERALE
for the year include three (2024: three) directors whose emoluments E=4(2024% : =R)&EH - H
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 35(a). The emoluments B < i Bl 74 BfY 5E35(a) FT /R 2 AT o
payable to the remaining two (2024: two) individuals during the year FRNEMNEARTMAE (20245 - W
were as follows: BIATHEIT

Year ended August 31,

BZE8A3MHLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREF T
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& - e R 587 606
Contribution to pension plan BIRE IR 159 41
Welfare and other expenses B R EMAS 182 98
928 745
The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell B MIEEE A TN R
within the following bands: TEE :

Year ended August 31,

BZE8A3MALEE
2025 2024

2025F 20244
Nil - HK$ 1,000,000 £ 71,000,000 7T 2 2
During the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024, none of the B E2025F %2024F8A31H It
five highest paid individuals waived or has agreed to waive any FENRN  Afme i A TBEME
emoluments, and none of the five highest paid individuals received HEEREEMME - TFEBERA
emoluments from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining the SENMESERMAREESIMMA
Group, or as compensation for loss of office. ANER B & A BB SRR A 1 o

EXEEERA 169
2025 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

aHPBHmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2025%8H31HILEE

N S —

" ITB Z R AN K iz 2k /N

10 FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

10 BB FERE

Year ended August 31,
BZ8H3MHLEE

2025 2024
2025F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREEF T
Finance income: A ONE
— Bank interest income —IRITFEMA 1,026 3,764
Finance expenses: Mg
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings —SRITERF EFAEZ (54,338) (80,524)
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of —ER AR BRI R &R A E b
long-term other borrowings due to the BRMHEEERRF EHAX
controlling shareholder of the Company (829) -
— Interest expenses on other borrowings due to  — BT AN A T AR AR ZE &Y
the controlling shareholder of the Company Hih & F B
(Note 33(b)) (B E33(b)) (6,119) (1,752)
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of — REAHE 55K e B 5 R B
long-term other borrowings and long-term ERFSEE
interest payables due to a related party BEREAF SRR (14,537) (17,350)
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of —WE - BERRENRBEMNRK
long-term payables for property, ERNEEEIRF SR
plant and equipment (1.416) (2,359)
— Net exchange gains on bank borrowings — IRITIE R K a5 - 778
Less: Interest expenses capitalized in property, & : ¥ - BEMRHEENCHOFE
plant and equipment (Note (a)) sz (FfsE(a)) 7,079 11,967
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of — PETEE 7 2P S R AR (E IE B
compensation payable for the Conversion EEBBIRF SR
of Huali College - (416)
— Interest expense for lease liabilities —HEaENNERXZ (FFE14(b))
(Note 14(b)) (300) (160)
70,460 (89,816)
Net finance expenses MRS F 58 69,434 (86,052)
(a) The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be (a) BT TFTEMEMERKASERERN

capitalized is the interest rate applicable to the entity’s borrowings for construction
during the year. The capitalization rates were 3.40% and 4.20% for the years ended
August 31, 2025 and 2024 respectively.
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(a)

(b)

(9]

Cayman Islands profits tax

The Company and its direct subsidiary were incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as exempted companies with limited liability under the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, are

exempted from income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the Group
did not have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the years ended
August 31, 2025 and 2024.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the Group’s entities
located in the Chinese Mainland (the “PRC entities”) is 25%
according to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic
of China effective on January 1, 2008.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education (the “Implementing Rules”), private schools,
whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential
tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide that the private
schools for which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are
eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools,
and relevant authorities under the State Council may introduce
preferential tax treatments and related policies applicable to private
schools requiring reasonable returns. Despite the fact that no separate
policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by the authorities
during the years ended August 31, 2025 and up to date of this report,
based on the historical tax returns filed to the relevant tax authorities,
the colleges within the Group have historically enjoyed preferential tax
treatment since their establishment.

(a)

(b)

(c)

BISHENEH
ARRAREEENB NS
BRIEFASHEADE(EE
M AEREEREEAR B
W PRS-

ERREH

AR S B R E 2025 %2024
FRANBIFEEE BN MEE
FERBFE - A EA B BFSH
SRR o

hElBEFREH ([ ¥R
BBl
BIE2008F 1 A1 HBAERM(FE
ARKEMBSEMEHE) - @A
MAEBERERENEE([HER
B DOCEMBHKER25% °

BIZCR PR B R#EEEHIEH)
([EBEEH])  RESERER
BERGERRK  HAUZZHB
BE - EHIEORE - MEHER
BRETNEREEER - ZBRA
ZHEEQNVERBRNBHES
i B 78T T B AERE Z0 P sk 2 1T
AR ERAEEH 2 RFBRET
BEBRABERE - BERBE
20258 A31H L FERAEEARR
= AHE R ESIMETTEUR » 05
BILEA - ERER FHRERIEE
FRHRBARNE  AKESE2REK
AR —EZEXMIGESR o

2025 FEHE



(9]

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") (Cont’d)

Management considered that no CIT would be imposed by the local
tax bureau on the income from provision of formal educational
services based on the PRC relevant tax regulation. As a result, no
income tax expense was recognized for the income from the provision
of educational services in respect of the PRC Operating Entities during
the period.

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC enjoy
the preferential income tax treatment for Small and Micro Enterprise
with the income tax rate of 20% and are eligible to have their tax
calculated based on 25% of their taxable income. Guangdong Shengli
Technology Company Limited and Guangdong Huashi Education
Support Service Company Limited enjoy the preferential income tax
rate of 15% based on the relevant tax preferential policy granted
to Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County. The applicable tax rate for
Guangdong Huali Technology Company Limited is 3% as it enjoys
both preferential income tax treatment for Small and Micro Enterprise
and preferential policy granted to Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County at
the same time.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in
respect of earnings generated in the periods subsequent to January 1,
2008.

2025 Annual Report

(c)

REIEEREH ([ XA
Bl (&)
EEERA - BEPEARRLS
TR RTERIBHBER
7 FRAS P15 WA B 12 PG Bt -
B - 34 B ER PO B B E 4R
B3 B AR5 40 M B R A 1S L B
%o

AEBAFENETE2ENB AR
ZHIDMEEMSHRESRSS
FIiefifi R 520% @ B EKR
HERTWRAB25%THHIHE ©
BARFLRIE R B8 ARG E
BEGR - EREHHBRAERARR
EBEREMHEHPREERAFE
ZI5%MEBAMEHME - BE
HEZRBRAERARZEARE S
3% AERBZES/NMISEMSE
RERFBRAREKERAEET
B EBUR °

BIRCREAREMBE DB
E) 0 IR B R AR L AN IR E
HERINRIZEE SRR E AR
10% B R BAMTEHE o BN
HEHNBIIR & E FTE R A B R AT
BERWIHE - ATERARETENE
K o REEARZFRN A B A
B SZ /9Bt A B 70 20084E1 A1 H
1% BAMR FTEE A B A1 99 IR B AR B 8 4
TEE -



(d) United States of America (“USA") corporate income

tax

No provision for USA corporate income tax was provided as the Group
did not have assessable profits in USA during the years ended August
31,2025 and 2024.

Analysis of the Group’s income tax expense was as follows:

Current tax on profits for the year (i)
Current withholding tax

Deferred income tax (ii) (Note 29)
Deferred withholding tax (Note 29(b))

(i)

(iii)

FRFEEE EFIE)
E HTERL
EFEFT SR Gi) (P5E29)

Current tax on profits for the year mainly represents tax imposed
on other education service fees, site-use service income, rental
income and joint tuition income earned by the colleges of the
Group and service income earned by wholly foreign owned
subsidiaries of the Group from the PRC Operating Entities and
dormitory management fee earned by Huali Investment from the
PRC Operating Entities.

Deferred income tax mainly represents tax on the revaluation
gains of investment properties, right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities and temporary differences on the recognition of rental
income.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, deferred income tax liabilities
of RMB244,556,000 and RMB212,646,000 have not been
recognized for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings amounting to RMB3,260,742,000 and
RMB2,835,280,000 of the PRC Operating Entities, respectively.
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC Operating
Entities for reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted
out of Chinese Mainland in the foreseeable futures.

EFETEFOF (M 7E29(b))

(d) ZRBER

B (X8 ] &

EmEH

AR AEBERE E£2025F %2024
FIANBIEFEIYERERESE
FERRFAAE - S R E R AT
SEEL#E

AREBMRERAIDTET

Year ended August 31,

BE8H3MHLEFE

2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREETT
28,482 27,493

- 1,500

3,707 7,485
5,376 30
37,565 36,508

(iii)

FAMNENE AVIRE R
ARER B & B MR ALY E {3
BIRBE - SR RBK
A HeBRAREEER
A VAR R = B 50 i 78 & I
R A e B A SRR
m%ﬁWA&$2&§&¢
HEEERRMcEsER
BB BIR

BEMBHEZIEFRIEE
MESHWE  CHAEEE
REE & EHTHIARERME
SIMARERFIEZERE o

M 2025 F K& 2024 F 8 A
31 - FEEERER
EHARAMD B AARKE
3,260,742,000 T & A B
# 2,835,280,000 7T @ 1A
ﬂi?ﬁﬁfﬁiﬁa‘ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ@
REEFEHRABARE
244,556,000 TREAR
212,646,0007T ° A B & F|
TEHR P S EREBRE
RBEERE - A RAE RS
SELFERM -

2025 FEHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A [2f YA =

& OF 51 75 i 3= MY T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2025%8H31HILEE

11

174

.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)

11 FEHRAX(HE)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of PRC, the

principal place of the Group's operations, as follows:

7R £2 18 P45 750 A )8 £ A5 7R B4 AR o
(REBX2ELHE) HRFENER
SRANTER

Year ended August 31,

BZSA3MHLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Profit before income tax i 15 B4 A I 5E 495,858 487,598
Calculated at applicable corporate income tax rate IZEBE T EMEHETE 126,946 128,317
Exemption of corporate income tax for income NEBEHE RGWANTERESH
from formal educational services (101,754) (99,589)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AR S IS R &
purposes 5,520 5,176
Previously unrecognized tax losses now recouped 2 AR R &% 18 &5 1837 i g (2]
to reduce current income tax LR A& BAFT S0 (418) (240)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset KREERIELSHEENTIEEE
was recognized 1,895 1,314
PRC corporate income tax B EATER 32,189 34,978
PRC withholding income tax R FEH TSR 5,376 1,530
37,565 36,508
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income REMAGESINETERN SR8
Year ended August 31,
BZS8A3MHLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TF T ARBT T
Deferred tax: Revaluation gains of investment RIEFIIE - WA S =
properties 451 2,014

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

13

(a) Basic
The basic earnings per share were calculated on the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended August 31, 2025 and
2024 respectively.

& FF % m R M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2025F8HA31HILEE

=H A == =
AT B 3z 68 LA N LK riia Z8 71N

12 BRER

(a) EXR
BREREF D BIHRE E2025F
N2024F8 A31 B I FEARRARGE
B AE(EFER D 31T EmAR N
BETEHHEE -

Year ended August 31,
BIZE8A3MHLEE

2025 2024
2025%F 2024%F
Profit attributable to the controlling 2NN A AR AR BR AR i F1)
shareholder of the Company (RMB’000) (AER¥ETIT) 458,293 451,090
Weighted average number of ordinary B a7 T AR INE T HE(FR)
shares in issue (thousand shares) (Note 23) (F3E23) 1,200,000 1,200,000
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB)  SRRERZF| (AARBTER) 0.382 0.376

(b) Diluted
Diluted earnings per share presented were the same as the basic
earnings per share as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
issued during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend had been paid or declared by the Group for the years ended
August 31, 2025 and 2024 nor has any dividend been proposed subsequent
to August 31, 2025.

13

(b) #5%
Fr 270G REE 2R HGREAR
BFER @ RERREE20254F
N2024F8A31BILFERITED
BITBEEEL AR -

BB

B E20259 M2024F8A31HIEEE -
AEEMEL RS REMBKE - INE
MR2025F8 A31 BB ED R E T MR

B o

BN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 31 YA =

& OF 51 75 i 3= MY T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
BIE2025%8H31HLLFEE

(x5 A A

J7T /\ E£C XN
14 LEASE 14 HE
(a) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance (a) REDEEEBRERN
sheet ot}
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts relating AHEBEEARBREYTHBEES
to leases: ok
As at August 31,
A8H31H
20254 202445
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARBFIT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Land use rights (i) =+ st fsE A RED) 1,402,748 1,366,328
Leased properties (i) FEEWE) 5,369 3,540
1,408,117 1,369,868
Lease liabilities HEaeE
Current BN EH 2,210 532
Non-current JERNER 4,619 3,195
6,829 3,727

(i) Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended August 31, 2025
were RMB87,315,000 (2024: RMB63,192,000), among which RMB83,086,000
(2024: RMB62,378,000) was incurred from the acquisition of land use rights for
the expansion projects in Jiangmen campus of Huali College and RMB4,229,000
(2024: RMB814,000) was incurred from the lease of properties.

176 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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(i) HZE202568A31ALFEE  £H
HEERE B ARKS7,315,000
7 (2024 F : A R ¥ 63,192,000
Jo) + HAPE N BT PR E R
BERSTHEREELEARYE
83,086,000 7T (2024 4 = A R ¥
62,378,0007T) * HEWMEEEA
R#4,229,0007T (2024%F : AR
#814,0007T) °



(b) Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

(c)

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets fFRAESEREER
Depreciation charged in consolidated statement R & fHéra R NBAITE

of comprehensive income (Note 8) (P E8)
Depreciation capitalized in construction in EREIRERINE
progress

Interest expense (included in finance expenses) #| S (5 AR &BIZ)
(Note 10) (M¥sE10)

Expense relating to short-term leases and leases 248 HIFAE X (K EBEEEHEMN
of low-value assets (included in administrative  BE&IFI Sz (5 ATTEFISZ)
expenses)

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended August 31,
2025 was RMB87,203,000 (2024: RMB63,319,000), among which the
cash outflow for short-term lease included in operating activities was
RMB2,690,000 (2024: RMB474,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various land use rights and offices. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 3 months to 50 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

(b) EREEENEER

(c)

Year ended August 31,

HZE8A3MHLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREETF T
46,429 43,637
1,759 1,846
48,188 45,483
300 160
2,690 474

HE202548A31HLLEE -
HERERSREBEAARYE
87,203,000 7T (2024 % : AR
63,319,000t ) + HFFF AL
EBMEHAERSAEAAR
#2,690,0007T (20244 : AR¥E
474,0007T) °

FEENHEEXERAS
R
AEERESEHERBRRD
= BEAN—RIRIEAZ0F
2 IS B AT ST -

BHANNBEERFTDEREE -
I B B3R 2 AR O R B AR
THE W=D hEAR5E - HEEAE
AR A MHE B ET M E RS
o - HEBENSRAERETIER -

2025 FEHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN [ /s =
& OF 51 75 i 3= MY T
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2025%8A31HILLFE
/‘7: N Ff ZH |, /A'\ l‘,' Az ,“\/ N
15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - BMERRE
Electronic Furniture Interior Construction
Buildings  equipment and fixtures Vehicles  decoration in progress Total
P ETRE HFULREE RE ZEREE ERIR h
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETn ARETr AR%Tr AR%Tn AR%Tn ARET:n
Year ended August 31, 2025 BZ202558A31ALERE
Opening net book amount BOEmFE 3,955,818 135,695 149,336 7,331 196,824 464,883 4,909,887
Additions NE - 42,402 43,574 995 - 469,775 556,746
Transfer from completed WERTERAE &4
construction projects 237,705 - - - 58,253 (295,958) -
Transfer from investment properties {43 & ¥12 8% (isk16)
(Note 16) 4,209 - - - - - 4,209
Transfer to investment properties  EEZ A% (W 16)
(Note 16) (6,609) - - - - - (6,609)
Disposals HE - - - (16) - - (16)
Depreciation charge FEER (86,895) (27,879) (24,690) (1,241) (63,797) - (204,502)
Closing net book amount BRREFE 4,104,228 150,218 168,220 7,069 191,280 638,700 5,259,715
As at August 31, 2025 12025485318
Cost AR 4,706,408 348,604 282,082 16,338 404,440 638,700 6,396,572
Accumulated depreciation 258 (602,180) (198,386) (113,862) (9,269) (213,160) - (1,136,857)
Net book amount FEFE 4,104,228 150,218 168,220 7,069 191,280 638,700 5,259,715
Year ended August 31, 2024 HZ20458A31ALEE
Opening net book amount BOEEFE 3,674,012 118,157 139,695 6,401 100,747 600,881 4,639,893
Additions RE - 41,403 29,835 2,189 - 369,870 443,297
Transfer from completed RERTERARER
construction projects 366,631 - 128 - 139,109 (505,868) -
Transfer from investment properties #R& M EEE (HizH16)
(Note 16) 2,671 - - - - - 2,671
Transfer to investment properties ~ EEZRENE (t516)
(Note 16) (4,681) - - - - - (4,681)
Disposals il = (710) (54) (116) = - (880)
Depreciation charge HEER (82,815) (23,155) (20,268) (1,143) (43,032) - (170,413)
Closing net book amount BREmFE 3,955,818 135,695 149,336 7,331 196,824 464,883 4,909,887
As at August 31, 2024 12024585318
Cost A 4,471,367 306,202 238,508 15,653 346,187 464,883 5,842,800
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (515,549)  (170,507) (89,172) (8322)  (149,363) = (932,913)
Net book amount EHFE 3,955,818 135,695 149,336 7,331 196,824 464,883 4,909,887
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Depreciation charges were included in the following categories in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Cost of sales SHE AR
Administrative expenses TR 2
Selling expenses HER X

During the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group has capitalized
borrowing costs amounting to RMB7,079,000 (Note 10) (2024:
RMB11,967,000) and imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term
payables amounting to nil (2024: nil) on property, plant and equipment.

Accounting policy of depreciation methods and useful
lives

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income during the
financial year in which they are incurred.

NEERFAGHEAEKERNIATE
Al

Year ended August 31,

BESA31HLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
197,935 165,027
6,479 5,371
88 15
204,502 170,413

HE2025F8A31HIEFERN  AEH
BRAYE - BB KRR ERE R b1E KK
ANAANEH7,079,0007T (KisE10) (2024
& AR#11,967,0007T) & & B &
REMNGHEEMBENERAX AT (2024
F )

BRTEL EZRAERAFHK
Bt RE

FAME  BE R HERE L R AT
EAR - BELEASERBZSERE
BRI -

REERBE AR RKLENDRA
BEMAAREE  BHBARARAIENE
B RRKATD G5t ABEREERE
ARBUEE(WER) - BB
FREESDUHMER - B EMmE IR
BAFAZAEENMRFENS H 47
alER -

2025 FEHE



Accounting policy of depreciation methods and useful
lives (Cont’d)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40-50 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Electronic equipment 5-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-20 years
Interior decoration 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 37.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognized within ‘other gains — net’ in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Accounting policy of construction in progress
Construction-in-progress mainly comprises school buildings under
construction in the PRC for expansion projects.

Construction in progress represents buildings, electronic equipment,
furniture and fixtures and interior decoration under construction and is
stated at cost less impairment losses. Historical expenditure that is directly
attributable to the construction comprises construction costs, the cost of
plant and machineries and applicable borrowing costs incurred during the
construction year. No provision for depreciation is made on construction in
progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to relevant categories of property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

2025 Annual Report

BRAELERAEAFHN
Bt RR(H)

¥ - BB RRAEZ I EEBESR
CRE O DGR TS

B(EHNBRFIREER) :

BF 40FE504F
B 5= 104
BFE 5ZE104F
BILREE 5E204
EANEE 3ES54

BEZRSKBERAIEAFHANSRE
FRETRE RARNER)

HWEERHRESRMG T RESE @ &K
EE BN OB = T U Bl £ 2R (M 5E37.7) ©

HE KRB IR BB BRAEFIRER
HEEE TRatEARERZ [Hit
Yo 25 5 2R R

FRAERIRNEEE
ERTREIBOERTEERANNE
B -

ERIREEEET  BF&RHE KL

KEUAREZTAEKE  URARERE
BRI - EREZELNBERXES
EERFEEENERRAE - BER#
ERAAMABRAE KA - BRABEETK
WA ERE &R - TEHRERTE
ZHERE BEHEERARAR -
HEKAEEBEYE BB KRENHE
RASRRI - IR EERITE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& FF % m R M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2025F8HA31HILEE

27 N A R MRS =)
[7 IR IA N\ LEC i3 ZX N J

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWHE

As at August 31,

A8H31H
202545 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREEFTT
At fair value BATE
Opening net book amount R A AR B 223,800 183,670
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (i) EH¥%Z - BE &R EEE() 6,609 4,681
Transfer from right-of-use assets (i) 1 RS A (i) 1,630 1,760
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (ii) BAME - BE KA (4,209) (2,671)
Transfer to right-of-use assets (ii) B A {5 P A (i) (752) (373)
Revaluation gains recognized as other gains TSR A E b W a5 9 2B i W e (P9 RE7)
(Note 7) 14,418 28,674
Revaluation gains recognized as other R AHAMIR S WS EHIER()
comprehensive income (i) 1,804 8,059
Closing net book amount B R EBR R E 243,300 223,800
Unrealized gains for the year included in RERFELEETABENFA
profit or loss for assets held at the end of REF U - DA [ E b 88 ]
the year, under ‘other gains - net’ 14,418 28,674

(i) During the year ended August 31, 2025, certain areas of properties with carrying 0)

amount of RMB6,609,000 (Note 15), together with corresponding right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of RMB1,630,000, were leased to tenants as stores with leases
term of one year. The Group expects to continuously lease aforesaid properties to
tenants in the foreseeable future. Therefore, these properties and corresponding right-
of-use assets were transferred to investment properties. Revaluation surplus amounting
to RMB1,804,000 (2024: RMB8,059,000) was recognized as other comprehensive
income on the date of transfer.

(ii) During the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group terminated the leases of certain (ii)
areas of investment properties with fair value of totaling RMB4,961,000 and changed
the use of these properties from holding for long-term rental yields to holding as own-
occupied properties used in education related activities.

HZE2025F8A31AILFE  REABEAA
R %6,609,0007T (FHsE15) 89 E TYHE
1o 3 [F] B T (& & A R #1,630,000 7T 79 18
EERAELAES LA FHESRAEEMS - &
MR—F - REBTET A RS RAELE W
EEMEE FyE - At - Z5WERE
BERELECERERANE - EHR
AR ¥ 1,804,0007T (2024 4F : AR
8,059,000t ) RER E B R A EMIRE

BZE202548A31HIEFE - AEEK L
HEAFEATABARKS,961,0007THIE
BMEDBDED - THZEMENRRL
BENERRHASKSS ABHEERA
AMERNHEEEED -

EXEEERA 181
2025 FERE



(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

Investment properties of the Group included land and buildings for a
primary school and ancillary facilities which were leased to a related party
with rental income as disclosed in Note 33(b), and certain areas of the
properties for stores which were leased to third parties with rental income
of RMB18,840,000 during the year ended August 31, 2025 (2024:
RMB17,232,000).

Fair value hierarchy

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, an independent valuation of the
Group's investment properties was performed by an independent
professional qualified valuer to determine the fair values of the
investment properties.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, all of the Group’s investment
properties were within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the
valuations were arrived at by reference to certain significant
unobservable inputs. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

Valuation processes of the Group
The Group's investment properties were valued as at August 31, 2025
and 2024 by an independent qualified valuer.

A team from the Group's finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes.
This team reports directly to the head of finance team. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the finance team and
valuer at least once a year.

Valuation techniques

Investment properties in use: income approach which takes
into account the current rents of the property interests and the
reversionary potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary
yield, to derive at the market value.

2025 Annual Report

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(e)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

Property category

VS h

Completed investment
properties

BERTIRENE

Completed investment
properties

BRTRANE

Property category

PIESH

Completed investment
properties

BRTIRANE

Completed investment
properties

BERTRANR

Description

8

Primary School and
ancillary facilities

NERRER

Stores

Description

B9

Primary School and
ancillary facilities

NERRERE

Stores

o
i

Fair value at
August 31, 2025
R®2025%8A31A

WAFE

RMB133,400,000

AR#
133,400,000
RMB109,900,000

ARH
109,900,000t

Fair value at
August 31, 2024
R2024%8A31A

WATE

RMB 134,900,000

AR

134,900,0007C
RMB 88,900,000

AR%
88,900,0007C

Valuation
techniques

fhIEH i

Income
approach

WaE

Income
approach

WaE

Valuation
techniques

fhEH i

Income
approach

Wa%

Income

approach

Witz

(e) RAERAAEEGAR
BNAFEFEER(F=

&)

Unobservable Unobservable

inputs inputs
FHUER

TUERBABE BAHE

Market rents 22.04

(RMB/sq.m./

month)

mEEe (AR 22.04

THK/R)

Market rents 22.50-101.25

(RMB/sq.m./

month)

mHHe(ARET/  22.50-101.25

¥5K/R)

Unobservable Unobservable

inputs inputs
FUER

TUERBAYE BARE

Market rents 22.04

(RMB/sq.m./

month)

mEEe(ARSTL/ 22.04

THA/R)

Market rents 22.50-81.00

(RMB/sq.m./

month)

m5He(ARET/  22.50-81.00

E5K/R)

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
TUBRRBABER
DNLENEE

The higher the market
rents, the higher the fair
value

mHEeHs  ATEER

The higher the market
rents, the higher the fair
value

mHEeHE  ATEES

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value
TUBRBABER
DNEENEE

The higher the market
rents, the higher the fair
value

mHEeHE  ATEES

The higher the market
rents, the higher the fair
value

msHeHEs  ATELS

2025 FEHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RR M 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE20258A31HLLFE

17

184

BF
Fhr

HYIN

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17 BREE

Computer
software
BB
RMB’000
AR%T T
Year ended August 31, 2025 B ZE202558A31HLFE
Opening net book amount BV AREFE 10,984
Additions NE 3,080
Amortization charge BiHEA (6,148)
Closing net book amount HRAREFE 7,916
As at August 31, 2025 72025688318
Cost B#N 47,181
Accumulated amortization Rt (39,265)
Net book amount BREFE 7,916
Year ended August 31, 2024 BiE2024F8A31HLEE
Opening net book amount B BRERE 13,475
Additions NE 3,818
Disposals HE (4)
Amortization charge BiHEA (6,305)
Closing net book amount HRAREFE 10,984
As at August 31, 2024 72024488318
Cost %N 44,101
Accumulated amortization Rt (33,117)
Net book amount BREFE 10,984

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d) 17 B EE (&
Amortization expenses were included in the following categories in the BRI AAHGEARSRNATSE
consolidated statements of comprehensive income: Bl -
Year ended August 31,
BZ8A3MALEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARET T
Cost of sales SHER A 5,374 5,466
Administrative expenses THAX 774 839
6,148 6,305
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 REFETWEMIAE
As at August 31,
HA8H31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
Financial assets at amortized cost REBHERAARNEMEE
Amounts due from related parties FE U B 5 SRR 24,972 16,931
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AW IR 18,013 31,765
Restricted cash SR HIER 4 8,240 498
Cash and cash equivalents BHeEMBEEEY 966,554 840,875
1,017,779 890,069
Financial liabilities at amortized cost REBERETARNCREE
Borrowings B 2,049,210 2,235,011
Amounts due to related parties FE {5 BB 75 ;RIE 24,668 20,277
Accruals and other payables (excluding FEET & A N H At FE A FOA
non-financial liabilities) (TREFEHmEaE) 400,382 327,086
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,829 3,727
2,481,089 2,586,101
FEMBERKERRA 185

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& SRR W A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE202568HA31HLLFE

(B EHIEHS) - BT 2 BEANRERT)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RR M 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE20258A31HLLFE

(R ZE ) B2 BEUANREE
19 PREPAYMENTS 19 FEHRRE
As at August 31,
A8H31AH
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Prepayments for purchase and construction of BEMERYME - B MR EE
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets &7 & FE H B 5B 25,412 91,467
Others Hitb 5,201 4,693
30,613 96,160
Less: non-current portion of prepayments A RN IR IEE HiE (25,412) (91,467)
5,201 4,693
20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 EZREMEWRKE
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 e RIE
— Tuition fees receivables from students —ERELENER 4,644 4,747
- Boarding fees receivables from students —EWELNEEE 49 91
4,693 4,838
Other receivables H th pE U 5118
— Utilities receivables from campus logistics —ERREZSRFRERNH QA
service providers EERT 5,305 5,378
— Receivables for rental income —ERAES A 3,212 3,087
— Tuition fees receivables from financial —ElRErEENEE
institution 856 6,341
— Catering fees receivable from staff —ERETEHE 7 6,997
— Others —Hfh 3,940 5,124
13,320 26,927
18,013 31,765

186 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the aging analysis of the trade receivables
based on the recognition date was as follows:

& FF % m R M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

20

Eﬁzi2025¢8ﬂ 31 ElJtiF

B 5 R HABEWR

2025 % 202458 H31H

RIE (48 )

B REK
FIRENTER B HHRE DT

As at August 31,

MA8H31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Less than 1 year D1 4,471 4,629
1 to 2 years 18224 208 181
2 to 3 years 2E3F 14 28
4,693 4,838

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, trade and other receivables of the Group
were denominated in RMB.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk was the carrying value of each class of trade and other receivables
mentioned above. The Group currently does not hold any other collateral as
security.

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and the collectability
of these receivables and considers that the expected credit risks of them
are minimal in view of the history of cooperation with them and forward-
looking information. The loss allowance provision for these balances was not
material and no provision was recorded during the years ended August 31,
2025 and 2024.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the fair values of trade and other
receivables approximated their carrying amounts.

20254 202458 A31H - AEEW
25 REMEYKBENARETE

R20254F K 202448 A31H + A&EEFT
HAENSEAEERRALASHEES R
HMEWREZREE - A%® B Al
ER A M EAEERIERER -
EEERYERZEERFENEEE
ZRAIKRERE - %ﬁééﬁifﬂz%ﬁﬁﬂ&A
ERRIEMHER  RAEZERIETEL
FER R RIE - aizozsi)&zouis
A31HIEFE @ ZESH#EBHBLEES
B NEA - M

120254 % 202498 A31H
i IR R A

FEERLREERE

FERMHEEEIAERA 187
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN
=

o B 75 i % Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE202
s

HiESE

771

F8H31

=g,

21 RESTRICTED CASH

188

21 ZR&BE

As at August 31,

A8A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Restricted cash PR HIER & 8,240 498

As at August 31, 2025, balance of RMB6,930,000 (August 31, 2024: nil)
was restricted for a litigation of a school-enterprise cooperation project
as disclosed in Note 7, balance of RMB1,107,000 (August 31, 2024:
RMB498,000) were restricted as the regulatory deposits for driver training
service fee, and remaining balance of RMB203,000 (August 31, 2024: nil)
were restricted as the guaranteed deposits for electricity supply.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FF B 1% ¥R & MY 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22

A

BZE2025F8HA31HILEE

& AR AN KB ZRIN

ReERREEEY

As at August 31,

H8H31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AR T T
Cash at banks RITER 908,059 802,307
Cash on hand EFRE 733 1,055
Cash at non-bank financial institutions RIERITEREENIRS 57,762 37,513
966,554 840,875

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following

AEBENReRRSEEWATIERE

currencies: FHE
As at August 31,
MH8HA31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T
RMB AR 961,163 831,056
HK$ BT 4,993 9,517
us$ ET 398 302
966,554 840,875
(@)  The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies (@) ARBHEEHBRERINERBF

(b)

and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk was the carrying value of cash at banks and cash at non-
bank financial institutions mentioned above.

PE R S OMNETHE < SRITAE R 2

AESTHERFREM 26

B

SINGE & Il 35 Bl e 4R A5

(b) 20254 K2024%F8H31H @ K
SETAGNRAEERR A it
RITF R RN IERITE BB

&2 BREE °

R E R

189
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A [2f YA =

& OF B %5 3 2% MY 7%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

23

24

190

BTBLFE

Ff

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

23 RARRMDRE

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
ZEREE EEREE
Us$
ESH
As at August 31, 2025 and 2024 — US$0.0001 each 7820254 20248 A31H
— &AXMA{E0.00013ET 2,000,000,000 200,000
Equivalent
Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary Share
Issued: BT shares shares shares premium
BERE
EBRYA EBREE EHE AR 1E
us$ RMB’000 RMB’000
EY AR®T T ARBT T
As at August 31, 2025 and 2024 20254 %202468H31H 1,200,000,000 120,000 820 602,368

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) Statutory surplus reserves

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC should make appropriations
from after-tax profit to certain non-distributable reserve funds as
determined by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries.
These reserves include (i) statutory reserve fund of the limited liability
companies, (i) general reserve funds of foreign invested enterprise
and (iii) development funds for the schools.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report
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(a) Statutory surplus reserves (Cont’d)

0]

(i)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in
the PRC now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”),
the PRC Subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
annual statutory net profits, after offsetting any prior years’
losses as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to
the statutory reserves fund before distributing the net profit.
When the balance of the statutory reserves fund reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further
appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares
to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

Before January 1, 2025, pursuant to the laws applicable
to China’s Foreign Investment Enterprises, the Company’s
subsidiary that is foreign investment enterprise in China has
to make appropriations from its after tax profit (as determined
under the PRC accounting standards) to reserve funds including
(i) general reserve fund, (ii) enterprise expansion fund and (iii)
staff bonus and welfare fund. The appropriation to the general
reserve fund must be at least 10% of the after tax profits
calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting standards.
Appropriation is not required if the reserve fund has reached
50% of the registered capital of the company. Appropriations
to the other two reserve funds are at the discretion of the
company.

From January 1, 2025, foreign investment enterprise in China
is also subject to Company Law of the PRC. The Company’s
subsidiary that is foreign investment enterprise are required to
appropriate its after-tax profit to the statutory reserves pursuant
to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC as disclosed in Note
24(a)(i).

(a)

EEBRRFEE(H)

(i)

(if)

B B AR AE ROE R A
7N 52 [ 35 5 B T PA P B A
B2z AR ([HEHEA
AMEBZERMA - P
BB AR ARSREFHE
FTEERIGTE M F A TE LT
(N FFEEEBIER)10%
BAELIERATES  AR%EAHTA
DIREEF] c EERTEESHE
HRIED R EME A R EMRE
AN50% B ¢ AR B AT By B R
TERBEERR - AEARE
SR BB A EEE R
(nE)smBmRERRA
FEAR Eb BB 1T 30 AR 1T 85 A AR
N EBBEITER  EEA
BEBREIBIREMER
BI25% °

M2025F 18 1HAT - &R
FENERE S EEANRE
AEE - BRAEINERE
e 0 RN/NG [N PR
EHEgEEREENTEZ
FHEBREREES - B>
—REEE  (VEERRE
& R (i) g B /e 4 R & | &
o EBE—REESHS
BELAEPESEN
FTEBEAEN10% © fHFE
HLEINZARFEMERN
50% ' RBEEIE - E|EE
HtMERESNSEHZ
RAIMERTE °

B202591A18# @ fAEH
BN ERERZRE R
AR o tNFfFE24(a)()Fr
W ARFEIERE DR
X8 A B ZEAR TR P B AR RS
AR ORI G H B 18 R R
NEEREE -
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(a) Statutory surplus reserves (Cont’d)

(iii)  According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, private
schools are required to appropriate to a development fund of
not less than 25% of the net profit or the annual increase of
net assets of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards. The development fund is for
the construction or maintenance of the school or procurement
or upgrading of educational equipment and not available for
distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring the corresponding
expenditure, an equivalent amount is transferred from
development fund to retained earnings.

(b) Other reserves as at August 31, 2025 and 2024 mainly represented

(c)

(i) the combined paid-in capital and capital reserves of the PRC
Operating Entities and the student accommodation service of Huali
Investment transferred to the Group during the reorganization;
(ii) the carrying value of certain land use rights, buildings, and
properties related to the tuition services and student accommodation
services that were in possession and used by the Group and deemed
contributed by the controlling shareholder during the reorganization;
(iii) revaluation gains arising from the transfer of property, plant
and equipment and corresponding right-of-use assets to investment
properties; (iv) deemed contribution from the controlling shareholder
of the Company arising from the differences between the
undiscounted amount of non-current interest-free borrowings and
payables due to a related party and the controlling shareholder and
their fair value which are initially recognized by taking into account
the discount impact; and (v) deemed distribution to the controlling
shareholder of the Company arising from the early repayment of
partial aforesaid interest-free borrowing and payables as disclosed in
Note 33(d)(iv) and Note 33(d)(v).

In accordance with the principal regulations governing private
education in China, a private school that does not require reasonable
returns cannot distribute dividends to its sponsors. As Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College had elected
to not require reasonable returns, the retained earnings of the
PRC Operating Entities amounting to RMB3,260,742,000 and
RMB2,835,280,000 as at August 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively,
were not distributable to its legal owner.
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The Group's principal subsidiaries at August 31, 2025 are set out below. AEBR2025F8A31HNEBHNER

Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary RIFFNANT - BRBEHEIN 0 BB AT
shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership MR AERAEBREZEFAEN L AKRA
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of K BENEEESLNERAER
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. BHAENRFE - TS ELHRER

TR RS B A, o

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation  Principal activities and Particulars of issued  interest of the Group
Name of entity and kind of legal entity place of operation share capital AREEERE
atfitE LB As at August 31,
ERERE ERERER FTEERREE BRTREHE H8A31H
2025 2024

2025% 20245

Directly held by the Company:

ARAEERA
Huali Investment Holding Limited Cayman Islands, limited Investment holding in Cayman US$50,000 100% 100%
liability Islands

Huali Investment Holding Limited HEHE HREM HEHEREER 50,000% 7T

Indirectly held by the Company:

ARAIREESE :

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited

BMEURRYERBBRAR hE - AREME HERERR A& #300,000,0007

Huali Shengda PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%

ESV YN hE - BREMR hER AR AR 100,000,0007C

Guangdong Qinmian Property Management PRC, limited liability Property management service in RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited the PRC

EROUNFERERAF HE - BRER hERER R AK%10,000,0007

Guangdong Huashi Education Support Service PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited

ERERSEEDREBRAF hE - BREMR HERDRG AR5,000,0007T

Guangdong Shengli Technology Company Limited ~ PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%

EREBRRERAF HE - EREMR HEHHRS AR5,000,0007

Hainan Huashi Investment Company Limited PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%

BEHEEMREERAR hE - BREMR thER A HER AR #100,000,00070

Jiangmen Huali Shengrong Education Technology ~ PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB350,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited

IFIMELRRA B RRERAR hE - BREMR hER B AR #350,000,0007C

Guangdong Mairong Catering Company Limited ~ PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%

BRBRERBRAT hE - BERER HEHDRS AR #5,000,0007

Guangzhou Shigeshijie Motor Vehicle Driver PRC, limited liability Motor Vehicle Driver Training RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Training School Company Limited School in the PRC

EMNBFRARDERR SEIERER AR B AREMR HERBERR SETIER ARH5,000,0007
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Name of entity

ERLR

Guangzhou Zengcheng District Bida
Self-examination Center Co., Ltd
ENTESRYEEZROARAA

Treated as subsidiaries under

the Contractual Arrangements:
BESHZHREANBAR -
Huali College

2yuek
Huali Vocational College

Huali Technician College

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity
FMEK LR
ERERERY

PRC, limited liability

hE - BRAMR

PRC, private independent
college

HE - RIE Sk

PRC, formal higher
education institution

HE - BEREHERE

PRC, private tertiary
vocational school

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEXRREEHE

Education support service

YERYRG

College in the PRC

PRI
College in the PRC

hE S
College in the PRC

Particulars of issued

Attributable equity
interest of the Group

EVRMENR T RESSRESR  TEER
Huali Investment PRC, limited liability School Sponsor in the PRC
EURE e AREME HRESREHE

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese names
have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors on a best effort
basis.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits held by Huali College, Huali Vocational
College and Huali Technician College amounting to RMB898,712,000 as at
August 31, 2025 (2024: RMB783,642,000) are subject to relevant education
related regulations and can only be used for its own education related
activities.

Cash and short-term deposits held in the PRC are subject to local exchange
control regulations. These regulations provide for restrictions on exporting
capital from those countries, other than through normal dividends.

The carrying amount of the assets included within the consolidated financial
statements to which these restrictions apply is RMB965,969,000 as at
August 31, 2025 (2024: RMB824,223,000).
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share capital AREERRE
As at August 31,
E?éﬁ'ﬁz'ﬁ#% ,7.@8)5]31 B
2025 2024
20255 2024%
RMB 100,000 100% 100%
AE#100,0007
RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
AK#10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
AK#10,000,0007
RMB500,000 100% 100%
AE#500,0007T
RMB400,004,000 100% 100%
AR #400,004,0007T

M) : DA EEYHIEAREEH - Z
HMHESESABNRTXEHEE &
H2ZE -

BEKRRH

M202548A31H » FE & - ER
¥ERREURMBREANRE RE
HiTE X AR #898,712,0007T (20244 :
AR #783,642,00070) X BEH A
EHRFTRR c BERTAREASNHE
HRAEED ©

R IR E M RF R T B NE
EHIERGIZR o BRIGREIREE BRZ
ZERHHEARNR S GRBIERBRS R
1) o

M202548A31H » ZERHEAD
AAGHUBRENEERTEAA
R #965,969,0007T (2024 F : AR
824,223,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PR TS SRR BT R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

Eﬁzi2025¢8ﬂ 31 Eutil*

FEEr B AR RN KA
LAK: A3 BB Bk 75 =R IR

As at August 31,

A8HA31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Payable for construction and purchase of EENEEIETRBEENENIE

non-current assets 310,483 205,797
Government subsidies payable to students JE A< 22 A B9 IS 46 B 46,183 52,276
Employee benefits payables EfHE BfER| 25,793 33,631
Miscellaneous fee received from students BREERFE (M @Q))

(Note (a)) 10,123 15,624
Interest payable FEASTFIE 9,006 9,641
Other taxes payable E fth pE A 18 8,680 5,121
Payables for canteen suppliers FENT R = L FE R FRIE 6,643 6,081
Payable for property management service V) 5B IR AR 7S FE A~ F0E 3,646 6,317
Payables for utilities expenses FET A A BRI A 2 2,644 5,728
Auditor’s remuneration payable FEZ SR < 1,218 1,242
Payable for joint tuition support fees BERB RN KE - 14,386
Others Hih 10,436 9,994

434,855 365,838
Less: non-current portion A SEEEE S
Payable for construction of non-current assets ERIEMENE = B FE R B (31,237) (29,821)
Current portion EHHRS 403,618 336,017
Amounts due to related parties (Note 33(d)) (< RA RS 75 XA (B EE33(d))

— Current — = H 24,688 20,277

(a) The amounts represented the miscellaneous fee received from students which would be (a) ZEFEEAEBBREBET RSB E
paid out by the Group on behalf of students. WERE IR B A ©
(b) As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the fair values of current accruals and other payables (b) M2025F % 202458 A31H - EHIfE &
and current amounts due to related parties approximated their carrying amounts due to A e B Ath 8 A< SR TE LA S BB A< BB 77 0 & R
their short-term maturities. REMAFEEEREERES  RESH
REHAA R -
(c) As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the non-current accruals and other payables were () F2025¢&2024$8ﬁ31 B - JEE HAERT

initially recognized at fair value at discount rate available to the Group and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

ERAREMEN KRR SR AR B ES
MR EUAR Trﬁﬁ@ C HRERERD
RORRBHRKA A E -

FERHEXEEERA 195
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The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities: AEEEERUATEKZBENELHE

f& :
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 2024
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARET T
Contract liabilities related to tuition fees HMBEABRNESNAR 911,390 869,082
Contract liabilities related to boarding fees HEFEERENGNEE 107,775 92,510
Contract liabilities related to site use and relevant 2323 {# F3 & A8 B8 AR 75 U A AE A 9
service income aHAaE 45,496 19,913
1,064,661 981,505
(a) Revenue and other income recognized in relation to (a) HEeHNaBHEENERA
contract liabilities Wz & H fth W 2
The following table shows how much of the revenue and other income TR REE20259 £20244F8
recognized for the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024 related to A31BLFEEBEEENAR
carried-forward contract liabilities: BB MRS R M SRR
Year ended August 31,
BZEZ8A3MALEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Revenue recognized that was included in FFAB LB EHERN
the balance of contract liabilities at the B R =
beginning of the year
— Tuition fees — 8% 869,082 765,045
- Boarding fees —FEE 92,510 83,861
— Other service fees — HEfn RS & 19,913 9,922
981,505 858,828
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’'d)
(b) Unsatisfied contracts

N/ RSN
B B Em&M T
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B Z2025%8
(= HHEBI - BB EEL

(PR Z3H 1H

27 EHEEE
(b) KBITEH

As at August 31,

A8HA31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT ARBT T
Expected to be recognized within one year — FEHIA —F NHER
— Tuition fees — 85 911,390 869,082
- Boarding fees —&5EE 107,775 92,510
— Other service fees —HAb iR % & 45,496 19,913
1,064,661 981,505
28 BORROWINGS 28 B
As at August 31,
R8A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARET T
Current: B :
- Secured bank borrowings — B RRITER 135,714 274,350
— Unsecured other borrowings due to the — AR IR AR R A
controlling shareholder of the Company EE R E A ISR
(Note 33(d)) (PfFEE33(d)) 16,500 16,500
152,214 290,850
Non-current: JERE :
- Secured bank borrowings —BEPRITER 1,486,915 1,454,628
— Unsecured other borrowings due to — FE{S RA RS 5 A A IR LA fE 3R
a related party (Note 33(d)) (PfFEE33(d)) 83,980 396,033
— Unsecured other borrowings due to — FEST AR A B AR AR R &Y
the controlling shareholder of the Company K 1R E At B R
(Note 33(d)) (F7E33(d)) 326,101 93,500
1,896,996 1,944,161
Total borrowings Rk 2,049,210 2,235,011
PENAELEEERA 197
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RR M 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE20258A31HLLFE

C= =g =g:/=P A

H 187171

5

28 BORROWINGS (Cont’d) 28 fEaM(&A
(a)  As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, bank borrowings were pledged by (@) H2025F K2024%F8A31H » 1B
the equity interests of certain group entities and the charging right of BEHZH  BITEFUETER
the service fees owned by a group entity according to the Contractual ERAOREN —HEEERESN
Arrangements. AR 75 B W B i (AR -
(b)  The weighted average effective interest rates (per annum) were as (b) IIEFHEBRFEMNERDOT :
follows:

As at August 31,

R8A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR ARBT T
Bank borrowings IRITER 3.40% 4.15%
Other borrowings due to a related party JE -t B BSE 7 B0 H b B X 4.30% 4.30%
Other borrowings due to the controlling JEA-E AR B 22 R A BR A E At fE 3R
shareholder of the Company 5.61% 6.25%
(c)  The maturity dates of the borrowings were analysed as follows: () EBREHAIWWOT :
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
Less than 1 year NS 152,214 290,850
1 to 2 years 1226 285,612 195,247
2 to 5 years 2&E54F 656,160 915,641
QOver 5 years S5 E 955,224 833,273
2,049,210 2,235,011
198 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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(e)

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the carrying amount for bank
borrowings approximated their fair values as they were carried at
floating interest rates.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, other borrowings due to a related
party were interest-free and initially recognized at fair value at
discount rate of 4.30% per annum and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. During the
year ended August 31, 2025, the Group early repaid the borrowings
amounting to RMB348,484,000, which resulted in reduction in
reserves as disclosed in Note 33(d)(v). As at August 31, 2025 and
2024, amortized cost of other borrowings were RMB83,980,000 and
RMB396,033,000 respectively.

As at August 31, 2025, the carrying amount of other borrowings due
to the Owner of the Company amounting RMB93,500,000 (August
31, 2024: RMB110,000,000) approximated their fair values as they
were carried at floating interest rates while remaining balance of
RMB249,101,000 (August 31, 2024: nil) were interest-free and initially
recognized at fair value of RMB248,272,000 at discount rate of 3.50%
per annum and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method pursuant to a agreements as disclosed
in Note 33(d).

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, all borrowings of the Group were
denominated in RMB.

Accounting policy of borrowings
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction

costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost;

any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and

the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income over the year of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as

transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all

of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the

draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-

payment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to

which it relates.

(d) 720254 20248 H31H -
RIRTTREFROUF B M EETE - A
SREERAFERS -

M 20254 K 20248 A31H8 -
FEMBEM T MEMERARS
¥ # 5 F R A4.30% 1 3 B K R
R HBERERMRRIREH
AN E 8 o B E 202598 A 31
BIEFE  AEERFEEELSH
A R # 348,484,000 7T #) & 5 -
BB R A (B M 3 33(d)(v) B
) o 20254 & 20248 A 31
B EMEROEHEKAD B
A R # 83,980,000 T & A R ¥
396,033,0007T °

MN2025F8 A31H » AREXR
NEFBMEAE  BHEMFAR
AEAEANEMERETEA
R # 93,500,000 7t ( 2024 £ 8 A
31H : AR 110,000,000 5T )
MEAFEESE  MHEBEAR
# 249,101,000 7T (2024 F 8 A
318 B)ARE 15 BFIK
350% MR RURFERRAR
#248,272,0007T * HEBIRE T
BAVFTEENRE - FRERF
RIKIRH SR AT E ©

(e) 20254 K&2024F8A31H @ A&
EEFMAEERGUARETE -

BERERNETBE
BRNARD FELNBEEZ X B
ARHERR o fE B R IRE AT ¢ BT
BRIE(MB RS A) B2 B BENE
AZREAERHRERERELES
BHRA WS R IR -

EERREA LSO R MBRIMNE
AT RIBEFRBMEMNNEBER
REFRGKAN - ERIFRAT - ZEH
BEZRDERBIL - MEEEBAZE
RREAIGEEMO A EMRER - % E
RFABERERRBE S RBEOTEN K
B WRARRE R -
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Accounting policy of borrowings (Cont’d)

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is

recognized in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting year.

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities was as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: BLEMEHREE
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — #1218 A LA - HAR U [E]
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 A Rz E
— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to — IR IR S AR T K S IR I A IR
set-off provisions afE
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFTBHEE -
— to be recovered by more than 12 months — #5121 A BA _E BB U )
- to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 B R El
— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to — RIS R E IR AR IR
set-off provisions =N
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BRERNETBER (F)
EANREZEEBAET  EHRE
R ERREERERBR - DHR
EWHEB—FHeREEEEERD A
RE(BECBEFRSEERMEARR
) 2 MEZER AR RRAEMBA
R B -

RIEAEEAEKRGKABEERERS
FRESZL12EREFE  BTABRSHE
BnEatE -
BEMSHEERABEITOT :
As at August 31,
MN8A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T T
1,095 742
561 107
(1,613) (837)
43 12
69,013 59,149
598 121
(1,613) (837)
67,998 58,433



The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the years

ended 31 August 2025 and 2024, were as follows:

Deferred tax assets

As at September 1, 2024
Addition
Credited to profit or loss

As at August 31, 2025

As at September 1, 2023
Addition
Charged to profit or loss

As at August 31, 2024

Deferred tax liabilities

As at September 1, 2024

Addition

Charged to profit or loss

Charged to other comprehensive income
(Note 11)

Reversal of withholding tax

As at August 31, 2025

As at September 1, 2023

Addition

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss

Charged to other comprehensive income
(Note 11)

Payment of withholding tax

As at August 31, 2024

EERBEE

2024594 1H
NE
st A8z

R2025F8H31H

R2023%9A1H
NE
B B IRk

7R202458H31H

EEFEHAMR

R202459A1H

"E

BE&MR

B AR S Rk
(B&E11)

EMHAR

R2025%8A31H

R202359A 18

NE

BEZNG/GtABR)

AEMEA KSR
(BizE11)

¥ AENE

R2024%58H31H

Fair value
gain of
investment
properties

NP ERE
RMB’000
ARBTR

46,354

3,604

451

50,409

37171
7,169

2,014

46,354

HE20259F M2024F8A31BIEEE -

ERFAEREERABRZESHNT

Tax losses Lease liabilities
HIEER HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR® TR ARBT T

- 849

- 76

- 731

- 1,656

140 771

- 106

(140) (28)

- 849
Withholding
tax
Timing recognized
differences for the
on services
recognition income

of rental earned by  Right-of-use
income WFOE assets

BAEEE

BaHe LERRH
LN R A
KEZ BINENHR ERREEE

RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARETR ARMTR AR¥TR
5,517 6,562 837
- - 76
134 5,876 700
- (500) -
5,651 11,938 1,613
5,327 6,532 773
- - 106
190 1,530 (42)
- (1,500) -
5,517 6,562 837

Total

wEt
RMB’000
ARET R

849
76
731

1,656

911
106
(168)

849

Total

act
RMB’000
AR¥TR

59,270
76
10,314

451
(500)

69,611

49,803
106
8,847

2,014
(1,500)

59,270
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(a) As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the Group did not recognize
deferred income tax assets in respect of tax losses amounted to
RMB1,895,000 and RMB1,314,000. As at August 31, 2025 and
2024, the unused tax losses amounting to RMB31,059,000 and
RMB27,708,000 can be carried forward against future taxable income
under the PRC CIT Law and these tax losses will expire after 2029 and
2028 respectively.

(b)  As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB11,938,000 and RMB6,562,000 have been recognized for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the remitted earnings
amounting to RMB119,380,000 and RMB65,620,000 of certain PRC
subsidiaries that are not under the Contractual Arrangements.

Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:

FR884 A7
BATSEEL A
— W BERRETE
GEAE)
— B R REEA FIER
B A RRITE R

— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 15)

— Interest expenses on borrowings and long-term
payables and net exchange losses on bank
borrowings less interest expenses capitalized

in property, plant and equipment (Note 10) ¥ BE REED

2R (BfRE10)
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) —(FEREEETE (ME14)
— Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) —EmREEERE(ME17)

— P EE ST BB R A fE
FIENGEEEIEFE
A (HEE10)
—HEWE  BEREEBEAR
EREENBEME7)
— BN EiE R (M aE7)
—-HEBENFERAX
(FF&E14)
—BEWMENFERE (HE7)

— Imputed interest expenses on discount of
compensation payable for the Conversion of
Huali College (Note 10)

— Losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets (Note 7)

— Net exchange losses (Note 7)

— Interest expense for lease liabilities (Note 14)

— Fair value gains on investment properties (Note 7)
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ERERFRBEEAEAY

720254 K% 202448 A31 8 -
AEBAGBSBEINAARKE
1,895,0007t & AR #1,314,0007T
WBIEEBERREFMSHEE -
20254 %2024 8A31H @ &
5 R A ARE31,059,0007T K& A
R#27,708,0007T AR B AT IB IS
BIREFBCEMEHAR EEIK
SHARRERBWA - ZEHIEEE
2 Rl 20294F K& 2028F £ EIHA -

$ 2025 4F K% 202448 A31 8 -
EnETHREMBRQA (LI
BEGOAZHE) MEHAEF A
R # 119,380,000 7t & A R #
65,620,000 7T &) & {4 T8 17 e ;R R
EFBRHAaEARE11,938,0007T
F AR#6,562,0007T °

Year ended August 31,

HESHAZMALEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
495,858 487,598
204,502 170,413
70,160 89,240
46,429 43,637
6,148 6,305
- 416
(8) 683
82 3,617
300 160
(14,418) (28,674)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB IS ERER M 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE202568HA31HLLFE

(BRBEIELS - B EAARKEET)
30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Cont’d) 30 KEMBHES(F

Year ended August 31,
BIZE8A3MHLEE

2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Operating profit before changes in working EEESHPHIMNKEFE
capital: 809,053 773,395
Changes in working capital LEEGEH
— Contract liabilities —EHAaE’ 83,156 122,677
— Trade and other receivables — 8 5 R HE M EYRIE 13,752 (12,809)
— Prepayments —TEfTRIE (508) 1,905
— Restricted cash —XRFIHE (7.742) 1,925
— Deferred revenue —EEWA 677 (4)
— Accruals and other payables —EET & B N E A E N 38 (35,669) (60,336)
— Net movement with related parties — AN S B)FE 3,537 (5,736)
Cash generated from operations REMBRS 866,256 821,017
EMAERREARAT 203
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RR M 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2025%8H31HILEE

G =p=F s

kA

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Cont’d) 30 KEMBIRE(E)
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) RIEEBHESCEE2HER
activities
Non-cash movement
E3RA 5|
Imputed  Financing  Financing
September 1, Additions  Discount interest cash cash Interest ~ August 31,
2024 of leases impact  recognized inflows  outflows  payments 2025
20245 BER i RE 20255
9A1H BEEm RR¥E fhEFHE HERA Refd HERK 8A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  AR¥TR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR AR¥TR ARETx
Bank borrowings Tt 1,728,978 - - - 168,001 (274,350) - 1622629
Other borrowings due to the ~ ERAATERRE
controlling shareholder of EpfER
the Company 110,000 - (47,289) 829 295,561 (16,500) - 342,601
Other borrowings due to R —EE A
arelated party Eipfei 396,033 - 21,894 14,537 - (348,484) - 83,980
Lease Liabilities HERE 371 4,229 - 300 - (1379) (48) 6,829
Liabilities from financing BETHELNARE
activities 2,238,738 4,229 (25,395) 15,666 463,562 (640,713) (48) 2,056,039
Non-cash movement
ReEY
Imputed ~ Financing ~ Financing
September 1, Additions  Discount  Unrealized interest cash cash Interest ~ August 31,
2023 of leases impact exchange loss recognized inflows ~outflows  payments 2024
2035 2%  EER BE BE 20245
9B  HEHM  FRYE  EXER  #EFE BERA  RERM  FENR  8A3A
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARBTT AREBTT ARETR ARETR
Bank borrowings FIER 2,030,060 = = 2823 1805 610,000  (915,710) - 1728978
Other borrowings due to the ~ ERAATERRE
controlling shareholder of EifER
the Company - - - - - 110,000 - - 110,000
Other borrowings due to Ef—2BH AN
a related party Einfei 415,718 = 3,557 - 17007 - (40,259) - 396,033
Lease Liabilties HEAR 3,200 814 - - 160 - (450) (1 3727
Liabilities from financing BERHELNARE
activities 2,448,998 814 3,557 2,823 18,982 720,000 (956,419) (17) 2,238,738
204 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& FF % m R M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31 BEXAEE
As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the Group had the following capital R2025%F &2024F8A31H - AE@EA
commitments on construction and purchase of property, plant and UTEENBEYE BELRENE
equipment: AN
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Contracted but not provided for EEFORER S 272,770 457,587
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 32 REHERE

As lessor

The Group leased its investment properties to a related party as school and

third parties as stores respectively and certain space to a telecommunication

company as signal stations under operating lease arrangements, with leases

negotiated for terms ranging from one year to twenty years.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling

due as follows:

ERHEA
AEERBEEREREDBIRAY
EHATHHSRESREHATES
S REESARE TR AT EER
AREEREN  BREHANT14E
20%F -

R2025F 202468 A31H » {REHEM
PR HEECEHE  A"EER T
BRI B R R R E WA S 42580 T -

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Less than 1 year LRI 7,778 7,095
1 to 5 years 1854 31,488 30,440
Over 5 years S E 56,841 65,092
96,107 102,627
FERBEXEMARAT 205
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The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond. The Directors
consider the ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also
the executive director and chairman of the Company.

(a) Names and relationships with related parties
The following companies and individuals are related parties of the
Group that had balances and/or transactions with the Group during
the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

Name of related parties
RS A

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng
REEEE
Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited

("Hualiyuan Technology”) and its subsidiaries (Note (i))
BEREVRREARAR([ELBERE ) &EHE A B (i)

Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District)

("Yunfu Bilingual School”) (Note (i)
BIFNEREE B[ BIHR R ()
Guangdong Huali Construction Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

("Huali Construction and its subsidiaries”) (Note (i))
EREVEERERARDIAMBAR([EYREREMBE AR 1) (HEI)
Guangdong Huali Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (“Huali Real Estate”) (Note (i)
BREMESEARAD(EILHE]) (FE()

Guangzhou Huali Lion Baby Care Services Co., Ltd. (“Huali Lion Baby")

(Note (i)
BMNELHEELYZEERBARLR([ELHEE ) (FEEG)

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese
names have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors on
a best effort basis.

2025 Annual Report

KR RIH S EFERR A F) AHL-Diamond °
BEERAE REERAARESELE
BIBARRBINAITESTRERE -

(a) BEBEA N EBRER
T3 AR REANBEE2025F &
20248 A3THIEFENEAE
EREHEBR S AEE EY
Eo

Relationship with the Group
HAKENEE

Controlling shareholder
R AR R

A Company controlled by the controlling shareholder

R R E SR A ]

A Company controlled by the controlling shareholder

R AR R B A A

A Company controlled by the controlling shareholder

AR AR R AR Y 2 B
A Company controlled by the controlling shareholder
BRI B A A

A Company controlled by the controlling shareholder
B 12 AR AR SR A2 ) Y 8 )

M) bR ESWMIEAREN 2%
RXEBHEERRABNEHX
EIERE - EH2E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/ ZAr = =
B 75 3 2% B 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
Eﬁzi2025¢8ﬂ 31 ElJtEJ*

AN K

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 33 BEBERS (F)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) EHEBAINEARS

Year ended August 31,
BZE8HA3MALEE

2025 2024
2025F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Related party transactions with AR AR R BRI R R 5
Yunfu Bilingual School
— Rental income (i) — 2 BA) 6,748 6,748
— Catering and relevant service income —ZERRAEERBKA 82 -
6,830 6,748
Related party transactions with Huali EREE RERHNE QTR
Construction and its subsidiaries RARE T 325
— Construction of expansion projects —EEBEEER - 41,115
— Catering and relevant service income %@&*HE@HE?&%H&)\ 1,574 494
- Repayment of loans ((Note 33(d)(v)) — (BB E R (MEE33(d)(v)) 348,484 40,259
350,058 81,868
Related party transactions with EREE N M E M RREE T R 5
Huali Real Estate
— Catering and relevant service income —ZERRAEERBEA 116 24
Related party transactions with Hualiyuan EREE N B R R BB R F
Technology and its subsidiaries BT R 5
— Catering and relevant service income — B RAEBERE A 9 2
Related party transactions with the RN AR AR AR SR A R ESE 5 X 5
controlling shareholder of the Company
— Repayment of loans ((Note 33(d)(iv)) —BEE R (MIEE33(d)(iv)) 16,500 -
- Loans received (Note 33(d)(iv)) — BEE K (FFEE33(d)(iv)) 295,561 110,000
— Interest expenses paid or payables — B EMAF B
(Note 33(d)(iv)) (PRFEE33(d)(iv)) 6,119 1,752
318,180 111,752
Related party transactions with HEVHEENRE A
Huali Lion Baby
— Catering and relevant service income —Z 8k R AE R AR YA 454 -
(i) Certain Group's investment properties were leased to a related party for rental (i) AEEETREMEREET —F
income amounting to RMB6,748,000 during the years ended August 31, 2025 Famt Ty - BlE202568 A31HIEF
(2024: RMB6,748,000). ErmfEsBA A ARKE6,748,000
7t (2024 F : A B # 6,748,000
JT) °
SENBEREEERAT 207
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A N/
= 7t

FOR THE

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZ=2025

G =p=F

B 75 5 % P oE

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

F8H3MBLEE

kA

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(9]

Key management compensation

Key management compensation for the years ended August 31, 2025
and 2024, other than those relating to the emoluments of directors

being disclosed in Note 35, are set out below:

33 BEMARS (&)
() FEEBEAESRM
H E2025% 20248 A31H It
FE  BRENASHEENESTHE
SN EBERABRBMEIIOT ¢

Year ended August 31,
BE8H3MHALEE

2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBT T
Wages, salaries and bonuses IE - Hre kit 735 1,106
Contributions to pension plans RIKEFH B 258 124
Welfare, medical and other expenses B BENEMES 337 217
1,330 1,447
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EEEREES &R
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TF T ARBTT
Amounts due from related parties e UL BE B 5 3R
- Yunfu Bilingual School (i) — EFHREEBR() 23,894 16,418
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries —EVRERHEMBAR 943 489
— Huali Real Estate —EHhE 8 24
— Hualiyuan Technology and —EV BB R EME A
its subsidiaries 36 -
— Huali Lion Baby —EVHEE 91 -
24,972 16,931

208 C
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

PR TS SRR BT R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Eﬁzi2oz5¢8ﬂ 31 EIJtiF

(d) Eﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg%%(ﬁ)

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2025 2024
2025% 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART T AR T T
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< BB
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (iii) —ﬁiiﬁ%&ﬁ(ﬁ%’ Al(iii) 6,714 14,538
— Yunfu Bilingual School(i) —%/¥¢‘9{X¥B{(I) 3,220 3,220
— The controlling shareholder of — AR B AR AR ER (iv)
the Company (iv) 2,389 1,752
— Hualiyuan Technology and — 3 7 B Rk R BT A A1)
its subsidiaries (ii) 12,345 767
24,668 20,277
Other borrowings due to related parties JE A< RS 75 EL 18 5K
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (v) — — #7258 5% HHi B 83,980 396,033
— The controlling shareholder of the — 7R AP AR AR B ( |v)
Company (iv) 342,601 110,000
426,581 506,033

(ii)

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, amounts due from Yunfu Bilingual School was
trade in nature and mainly represented receivables in respect of rental income of
investment properties.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, amounts due to Yunfu Bilingual School was
trade in nature, non-interest bearing and represented deposit payables in respect
of investment properties.

Pursuant to the agreements entered into between the Group and Hualiyuan
Technology on September 9, 2022, September 1, 2023 and October 11, 2023,
Hualiyuan Technology agreed to provide boarding service to students in Yunfu
campus since the academic year of 2023, and the Group is responsible for
collecting boarding fees from students on behalf of Hualiyuan Technology.

During the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group collected boarding fees
amounting to RMB21,272,000 from students in Yunfu campus on behalf of
Hualiyuan Technology and then paid totaling RMB9,550,000 to Hualiyuan
Technology. Meanwhile, the Group paid utilities incurred by Hualiyuan
Technology for providing boarding service to students in Yunfu Campus on
behalf of Hualiyuan Technology amounting to RMB1,232,000 and collected
RMB1,088,000 from Hualiyuan Technology.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, amounts due to Hualiyuan Technology
represented payables balance for boarding fees collected by the Group on behalf
of Hualiyuan Technology, which was partially offset by receivables for utilities
incurred by Hualiyuan Technology and paid by the Group on behalf of Hualiyuan
Technology.

(ii)

2025 2024883110 * &
WERERREAXBROKERE 5 1E
B IERABREVEESKA
) FEIRIR o

20254 K% 202448 A31H - fiE
NEFREXEBROFERE S
g8 RAEBREMENER

R IR AN 5 (B B 2 T B B R 2022 F
9A9H 2023494 1A &k20234F
108 11 BATAZ M - EZERHR
AEB20232FEREFRENHS
ERMEERY - MASKEEER
EVERERS4EBBEES -

HZE2025468A31ALEFE - A&
EREVERZRMEIREHZE
B 2578 B AR #521,272,0007T -
HEMEVEMNEAEATIRAR
#£9,550,0007T » RIEF « REERK
EVERBEZNETEREGAE
ERENBERETEREAES
AR RB A ARE1,232,000
TC o WRENEREERARE
1,088,0007T °

20254 202448 H31H » fEft
BRI A RRIE R AN G B EE
B R B ZT TR B AR - 3P
DWETERREETHAERNR
7 B R N R FEURCA AR 15 59
X FTIEEH o

hERKELERARA 209
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 31 YA =

& OF 51 75 i 3= MY T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2025%8H31HILEE

B 15

=l AN K

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

210

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, amounts due from Huali Construction and
its subsidiaries was trade in nature and represented receivables generated from
providing catering and relevant service to staff of Huali Construction and its
subsidiaries.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, amounts due to Huali Construction and its
subsidiaries was trade in nature, non-interest bearing and represented payables
for construction of expansion projects.

Other borrowings due to the controlling shareholder of the Company comprises
two agreements:

- Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the Group and Mr.
Zhang Zhifeng on May 30, 2024, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng provided borrowing
amounting to RMB110,000,000 to the Group at an interest rate of
2.3% per annum above the 5-years loan prime rate. During the year
ended August 31, 2025, the Group repaid RMB16,500,000 following
the agreed repayment schedule and interest expenses amounting to
RMB6,119,000 was incurred. As at August 31, 2025, the balance
of aforesaid borrowings is RMB93,500,000 and amounts due to the
controlling shareholder of the Company represented interests payables
incurred for aforesaid borrowing.

- Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the Group and Mr.
Zhang Zhifeng on April 1, 2025, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng provided a ten-
year interest-free borrowing amounting to RMB312,561,000 with the
repayment schedule of RMB35,000,000 at December of each year during
the term of such the borrowing. During the year ended August 31,
2025, RMB295,561,000 was drawn down. Such borrowing was initially
recognized at fair value of RMB248,272,000 at discount rate of 3.50%
per annum. The total imputed interest of RMB47,289,000 was treated as
deemed contribution from the controlling shareholder of the Company.
As at August 31, 2025, the carrying amount of such borrowings was
RMB249,101,000.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the borrowings due to the subsidiary of Huali
Construction were non-interest bearing, unsecured and carried at amortized
cost.

During the year ended August 31, 2025, the Group early repaid partial
borrowings amounting to RMB348,484,000. Its amortised costs were
RMB326,590,000 as at the dates of early repayments. The unamortised imputed
interest amounting to RMB21,894,000 arising from the early repayments of
borrowings and interest payables as disclosed in Note 33(b) was treated as
deemed distribution to the controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at August 31, 2025, the borrowings due to the subsidiary of Huali
Construction were carried at amortised cost amounting to RMB83,980,000,
which will be repayable on November 24, 2027.

As at August 31, 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of balances with related
parties appropriate their fair values and were denominated in RMB.

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
2025 Annual Report

33 FEBE

R5 (&)

(d) EEEAEES M 4&eR ()

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

20254 202448 H31H » I
EVEEARHEWBARNREAE
SUE  ERETRERENBA
AlEY B TR 4B SR AR RA AR TS 22 4
HFE M RIE -

20254 202448 H318 - fEft
EVEEARHEMBARNREAE
SUHERRE - BHEERE 2R
FERTRIE -

PR AR A R A R ) E b 5 5K B
ELEVEE

= AR IR AN BR [B EROR T I8 Sk A
M2024%5A30HETIZH
ek - RE K EERSE
HERZEBENEM2.3%
ol S S o NS 7S
A B # 110,000,000 7T £
&3 i E 202548 A 31
BIEFE  AEEIRHE
EXHBREREEARK
16,500,000 7C + I & 4 F
B X AKR#6,119,000
JT ° 202548 A318
FERESRBARE
93,500,0007C * ERF AR
AR R MR IBIE R £
M RE LA RS -

= RIRAN & B B oK 5 8 ST A&
202544 51 B &M K #
o RBELEERE—2
AETENREER &
% A A R % 312,561,000
T BRRHAERERE
RNEF+-ABEEARYE
35,000,0007T ° & Z2025
F8A31HILEE @ BiEW
A B # 295,561,000 7T °
ZE R &L EF3.50%
MR EUATFEARKE
248,272,000 R 485t
A R ¥ 47,289,000 7T #) H#
A BEWRAERR LR
REMIER L E - K2025
F8A31H  ZERB/HEE
B A A K ¥ 249,101,000

JT °©

20254 202448 A318 « FEff
EVREWNBRARNERRES
SRR IR B SRR AN AR ©

HZE2025F8A318 ILFE
AEERFERBAHKAR
348,484,000T K B 9 fE 5K o H R
REEZEHOBHEKAAAR
326,590,000t ° IR EEBRK
FEAT R B E £ R EE A E R B A
R #21,894,0007T (FA M 733 (b)
BB ARAARRZERREND
fig

20258 A310 - EFFZEI L
Bt 8 2 =) B £ SRR B SRR AN B R -
$5 A ARKS3,980,0007T AR
2027411 A24 B E3E -

RER

20254 20248 A31H » HiF
Bt 77 B0 45 SRR BR TR (B B E A T B4
= WUAAREERHE ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FF B 1% ¥R & MY 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2025%F8

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 34 XPRIEEEBERRRAE

THE COMPANY 25
As at August 31,
HA8H31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE KT BfS /BB A R R IR 463,703 461,365
Investment in a subsidiary REMB AR - =
463,703 461,365
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries = PNGIE e 84,167 84,167
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEERE 7,840 14,354
92,007 98,521
Total assets mEE 555,710 559,886
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the controlling RDBERRREEER
shareholder of the Company
Share capital and share premium A% AR B B A9 3 (B 603,188 603,188
Accumulated losses ZEEE (135,708) (124,810)
Total equity MR 467,480 478,378
Liabilities =Fi-
Current liabilities REIBE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R HE MR FRIE 1,734 1,757
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN S 86,496 79,751
88,230 81,508
Total liabilities HBEE 88,230 81,508
Total equity and liabilities ERRkEEEE 555,710 559,886
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors ARAREEABREHESSN2025F
on November 24, 2025 and was signed on its behalf. MA4RAHENTRKRESTEEE -
Zhang Zhifeng Ye Yaming
REIE =34
Director Director
£ EE
o B E AR A 211
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

E!z 2025ESH 31 ElJtEf‘

AAARIEZRT)

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

35

212

THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

3 ARFREEREREFHE
2E(E)

Accumulated losses

AitEE

RMB’000

ARETR

As at September 1, 2023 72023F981H (101,545)
Loss for the year FEEE (23,265)
As at August 31, 2024 7M202458A31H (124,810)
As at September 1, 2024 "2024F9A1H (124,810)
Loss for the year FEEE (10,898)
As at August 31, 2025 7M2025%8HA31H (135,708)

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year
ended August 31, 2025 is set out below:

35 EERARER
(a) EERETETHRAEWNE
)
HE2025F8A31HIEFEAER
AENSESHFHEIIOT ¢

Employer’s
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name £ Fee  Basic salaries benefit scheme benefits Total
EEHRAKER BER
ik E5%e HE LS Hitt @R ECHY
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET R ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) R I 55 A () - 2,009 100 751 2,860
Mr. Ye Yaming (ii) E AR LA (i) - 325 - 7 332
Mr. Xiao Xiaobing (iii) RN () - 19 7 1 27
Mr. Zou Kang (iii) R 5T (i) 201 79 26 306
Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) RHEEE () - 1,540 - - 1,540
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTEE
Mr. Yang Ying (v) BELEW) 200 - - - 200
Mr. Ding Yi (v) TEEEW) 200 - - - 200
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP (v) BT MH P (v) 278 - - - 278
678 4,094 186 785 5,743

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B B S R 2R MY 5T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2025
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year
ended August 31, 2024 is set out below:

BZE2025F8HA31HILEE

27 N A R MRS =)
[7 IR IA N\ LEC i3 ZX N J

35 EEEAIRER (A

(a) EERFTETHAENH
B (&)
HZE2024F8A31HILFEAER
AENSESHFMEII T

Employer’s
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name 4 Fee Basic salaries  benefit scheme benefits Total
EEHRNER 2ER
e EXFe TEIMAER Hn sl @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AREFT
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) R B AE() - 1,853 30 460 2,343
Mr. Ye Yaming (ii) E R LA (i) - 240 - 1 241
Mr. Zou Kang (iii) BB (i) - 662 37 30 729
Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) RRELE () - 1,640 = = 1,640
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Yang Ying (v) BREEEWV) 200 - - - 200
Mr. Ding Yi (v) TEEEW) 200 - - - 200
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP (v) HEBBLZT MH P (v) 275 - - - 275
675 4,395 67 491 5,628

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
May 24, 2016.

Mr. Ye Yaming was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
December 18, 2017.

Mr. Zou Kang was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
November 19, 2021 and has resigned as an executive director of the Company
with effect from August 10, 2025. Mr. Xiao Xiaobing was appointed as an
executive director of the Company to replace Mr. Zou Kang on August 10, 2025.

Mr. Zhang Yude was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on December 18, 2017, and re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director on November 19, 2021.

Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi were appointed as the Company’s independent
non-executive directors on August 16, 2019, and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH
JP was appointed as an independent non-executive director and the chairman of
the audit committee on July 17, 2020.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

REIE S AER2016F5 24 EE
ERARRMITES -

AR AR 2017F12 518 H#
ZERRARNITES -

BERER2021F11 A190EZ
ERARBMITESE - B 12025
FSAI0BBEARRIMITES -
B/NEEAEN202568 10 R
ERARBMITEFTUAREFEE
i °

RIAE AR ER2017F12 180
ZERARBFERITESE * ¥R
202111 A19BMIERTEEA
ERPITES -

GESTERT EEEM2019F8A4
16 BEZEARNARBLIERITE
= MEBHELZITMH IPR202047
A1V7BEZTABYFRTESR
BEREEEERF -

PRI HEEEE
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(b) Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings during the
years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

(c) Directors’ termination benefits
No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the years ended August 31,
2025 and 2024.

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making
available the services of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors
Other than those disclosed in Note 33(d), there are no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favor of directors, controlled body
corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the
years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Other than those as disclosed in Note 33(b), there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the years ended August 31,
2025 and 2024.

Pursuant to three loan agreements entered into between the Group and
banks in September and November 2025, the Group newly acquired three
long-term bank facilities of totaling RMB50,000,000 for its working capital,
among which RMB 14,000,000 was drawn down in September 2025.

2025 Annual Report

(b) EERNKER
H E20259F 20248 A31H It
FEN BMESERRERUEELRR
RIS EH B A R E 5 A E b AR 7% M
LS ER S W A A 3R AR 4B R o

() EEBRBERN
H E20259F 20248 A31H It
FEAN - BERRIKILEZEmR
BEELNME -

(d) FBRUHESEREMZST
E=FHRE
H E20259F 20248 A31H It
FEN  BESRAQFESIRHEE
ERBRAEZFEREZNEME
)Eﬁ o

(e) UAEE EFEFEGIEA
ERKAEERAZHEA
MWEXR EERRHEMR
ZHNHEBER
BRFTFEISA) T EE SN - =
2025 202448 A31HIEFE
A BEELES EFMZEHIEA
ERErEEEREASEANER
EERREMR S °

f) ESHERS  R¥DE
HWE AR
BREIFE33MD) TR BEE SN - REE
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50,000,000t AR HEZEE S - HFA
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37.1 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which

the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group

is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement

with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its

power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date

on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owner of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

37. 158 AR

MEBARAIEAEEZENN—E
B(BREABER) - WMAKEAE
XEE2HEERMS2AEME
BAERNEEEERB AT EZX
EroH - AASEHZERERE
B o HIE AR BRI ARE
Bz REREFAEAR - BfFLLE
2 BEBUBAR S ARR °

s

(a) EBEOf
AEENBBEAREE S
Bf - WK BB & 1~ 7] PSR Y
REDMEREE - 8K
BRAAMNEEAEENEAR
R AN SR B AT AT A F
B -FEENRESERR
AREBELEMELEN T E
EXEBORTE - RER
SOt AU R AT BRI &
RFAENABERIRNEE
ERIEE B B QT EF

= °

AL BRIRR IR U IR B
TP P W X B 9 FE 1R A
g o R PTUEE A B RY 3F 1
s RE AR EEER
ALRAARLAIDHER
BRENEETEH  ARA
FEXBBMARERER
WEAR MBI EERED
HREENLPIGE - SR
Pt 21 WO P AL AR ALK #R
U EE R B AFERE
BIEE BB IR E SR

BR S EEENE -

Yo B AR B AR AN I EE A B TSR
RHX -

2025 FEHE



37.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(a)

Business combination (Cont‘d)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognized in accordance
with HKAS 39 in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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37.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

(c)

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It means
the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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37.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

37.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

37.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
entities within the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). Since the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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37.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont‘d)

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income within ‘finance expenses — net’. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income within ‘other gains - net’.

37.5 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the definition
of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value, representing open
market value determined at each reporting date by external valuers.
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or
discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as part of a
revaluation gain or loss in ‘other gains — net’.
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37.5 Investment property (Cont’d) 37.5REWME(E)

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property EXTERYEKRBURTET]

carried at fair value, the Group applies HKAS 16 up to the date of BEHREMER  AEERBR

change in use. The Group treats any difference at that date between BHAHAERES S ELNSE

the carrying amount of the property in and its fair value in as a 165% c AREBIRBES G ER

revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16. In other words, any resulting Bl EAMERBERAF

increase in the carrying amount is treated as follows: B ENZEERENHE BT

Z 0 BREEMEE A RIA T
AR

(i) to the extent that the increase reverses a previous impairment (i) G 3% H0 B¢ (O] 5% 4 3 BT AR
loss for that property, the increase is recognised in the EEE - BN A otk
consolidated income statement. R R ©

(i)  any remaining part of the increase is recognised in other (i) ZEMBERBRT IO RE
comprehensive income and increases the revaluation surplus ARG WS iERR - I8 s
within equity. HAREGRR -

37.6 Intangible assets 37.6 B EE

Intangible assets represent the computer software. Computer B EEISEISEE - BISEFIA

software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and AR R a8 & RETREE 185

accumulated impairment losses. Cost represents consideration paid B o NANIERE BB 5 A

for the rights to use the computer software for 5 years. Amortization MR RE - EIEFBEENS

of computer software is calculated on the straight-line method over 5 FANREGETE -

years.

37.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 37.7FERMEERE

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment BEH BEANBEAESZSHRIFN

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the BB~ L ARE E ] g A B

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is HEITRE G - RESEBZREER

recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount HEB AR & EA EZEER -

exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the A El e EEEEN FEMEEX

higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For ARFERAEENRSHE o StER

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the BiME @ BEERBVA#HAIESR

lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows ENREKFECIESELEN)R

(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill e BRENIEEREE(BER

that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the SN R EBRE BB 2 B 1l e

impairment at each reporting date. BRI E -

2025 Annual Report



37.8 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

J those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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37.8 Financial assets (Cont’d)
(b) Recognition and measurement (Cont’d)
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt
instruments into the following measurement category:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. A gain
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized or
impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest method.

The Group held trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and other financial assets at amortized cost
during the years ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

37.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2025 Annual Report

37.8SMEE(E)
(b) BRRE(E)

EHTA
EHELAY GEFERTA
EEMEMEENEBERR
ZEENRSRBEMAM
F o AEEBEBIAD A
AT E2585) :

IR MAKEAKE
EREMFHEZEENRS
MEBEAXNAERFE
AZEEEREHRANG
B RIBERBHERAGER
WIEH HRE — D 2B
RENKAXBERRNZEE
AR HEROBE R A IR s
R RFEREENHEW
AREBEBREN L AR B
A e

HZE2025% £2024F8A31
HLEFE T~EERBEES
K H A e U TRIE - FE UK B
T3 SR IE M AR K AR A BR Y
Hih S RhAE ©

379 EEMT A

A A RORR IR ITRRERIE D
wRSE  ARASRREEER
BREENSHEAES SREE
REESERES  YHREEAR
KADHEME - AREBRHIHTH
R RGAR R EEEAGEY - B
WAAR—REBBIEF KA
HHEHD  BREERRESH
15 o



37.10 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized

cost

The Group’s significant financial assets, which are subject to the new

expected credit loss model, include trade and other receivables and

amounts due from related parties. The Group was required to revise its

impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes of

assets.

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(b) for details of the impairment policy of trade receivables.

Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties

For other receivables and amounts due from related parties,
management considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current financial
position. The impairment provision is determined based on the
12-month expected credit losses which is close to zero.
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37.11 Contract assets and liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognized as contract assets if the measure
of the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognized as contract liabilities if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.

37.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
financial institutions and short-term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits which are restricted
to use are included in “restricted cash”. Restricted cash is excluded
from cash and cash equivalents where preparing in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

37.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

37.14 Accruals and other payables

Accruals and other payables and amounts due to related parties are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables and amounts due to related parties are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
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37.15 Borrowing costs 37158 MR

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the Wi BERIAEESEREE(R
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are EHERERAEREBESH
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready EMNEE)EEELEN—MAMERK
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, EBREAETAZEEENKAE
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended BEERZEEAEANAERER®RK
use or sale. HERIL -
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific NEBIEEEREERYHEERE
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted FOEITE R MR E FTRE R IR B
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. AP BEVEE AR & SR AR R 0
All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the year in BB H A S AR E £ F RN
which they are incurred. R ©
37.16 Current and deferred income tax 316 EHRIELEFBH
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. FRARERY BEE S MELTR
Tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive IH - RIBR A ffir s W=k AR
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in R HEREMARES N SRR ERE
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax RIESFERAYIE B BRI » I
is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, BRT  BIENSD BIRE A AR S UL
respectively. RS E N S R o
(a) Current income tax (a) ERFFEH
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of EHEHRASIREART
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance REWB R R LENMENE
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its ERERFMBANBERNGEE
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management HE®BMEE B MHHRE
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect FEOGE - BEEERERAT
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to AR REMBERNBRE
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on BT SRAE R AR - W
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. BABR T IRETERRE R
75 ¢ BR 2 A5 B B R BR E
K
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37.16 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognizes the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group will recognize a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilized) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.
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37.16 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(b) Deferred income tax (Cont’d)

(c)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal of
the temporary difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilized.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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37.17 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The entities within the Group registered in the PRC make
employee benefit contributions base on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees to a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organized by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis.
The government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligation payable to the existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government
authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

Housing funds

The PRC employees of the Group are also entitled to participate
in various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to those funds based on a certain
percentage of the employee’s salaries. The Group’s liabilities in
respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable
in each year. The non-PRC employees are not covered by the
housing funds.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the

time of leave.
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37.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognized as interest expense.

37.19 Government grant

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income over the year
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

37.20 Leases

The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of properties for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.
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37.20 Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

3 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable

3 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees

3 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay/to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with

similar terms, security and conditions.
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37.20 Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

3 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party financing was received

3 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate
adjusted for credit risk for leases, which does not have recent
third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual
lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has a similar

payment profile to the lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

3 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and

. restoration costs.
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37.20 Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of all leases of low-value
assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less without a purchase option. Low-value assets are mainly electronic
equipment.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note
6). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based
on their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to
the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new
leasing standard.

37.21 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial years is set out below:

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales SHE AR

Gross profit EF

Profit before tax 7t A A P

Profit for the year FRFHE

Non-current assets ETMENEE

Current assets MENE E

Current liabilities mEA A

Net current assets/(liabilities) REBE,/(BfE)FHE

Total assets less current liabilities 428 &ERR N 8 &

Non-current liabilities FERBEBE
Net assets BEFE
Total equity R

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBTTT

881,656
(411,143)
470,513
169,631
143,459

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBT T

5,385,871
943,356
1,234,907
(291,551)
5,094,320
2,408,915
2,685,405
2,685,405

BEAEMBRERARENEEFTRGEREE
LA@EmEmT

As at August 31, 2025
7202568A31H

2022 2023 2024 2025
20224 20234 20244 20254
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETIT AR®TT ARETT AR%TxR
907,762 1,083,304 1,268,533 1,445,442
(425,611) (458,700) (602,214) (722,823)
482,151 624,604 666,319 722,619
278,944 398,222 487,598 495,858
259,784 393,047 451,090 458,293
As at August 31, 2025
#2025%8A31H
2022 2023 2024 2025
20224 20234 20244 20255
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT AR+t AR®TrR
5,817,694 6,250,735 6,606,018 6,944,503
850,855 1,023,904 894,762 1,022,980
1,371,447 1,720,722 1,647,116 1,663,538
(520,592) (696,818) (752,354) (640,558)
5,297,102 5,553,917 5,853,664 6,303,945
2,400,487 2,187,710 2,035,610 2,000,850
2,896,615 3,366,207 3,818,054 4,303,095
2,896,615 3,366,207 3,818,054 4,303,095
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Definitions
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“academic year(s)"

"AGM"
[RRBFRE ]

“Articles of Association”

[HAEEIRADA

“Audit Committee”

[BZZRE

“Board”

=553

“Business Cooperation Agreement”

[ a1E#]

“BV|"

[(RBEARES]

"CG Code”

[EERSTA

“China” or "PRC"

[FE ]

“Company”

[ARE]]

“consolidated affiliated entities”

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ AR

the academic year for all our schools, which generally starts on September 1 of each
calendar year and ends on August 31 of the next calendar year

BPFMBEERNESE  —RAFEBEFIRA VARG - BT —EEFA3RE

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on January 23, 2026
ARARGR2026F 1 23 BITHRRAFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RARABERAR (ETRERT)

the audit committee of the Board

EFTEeERERE

the board of directors of the Company

RARERE

the Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by and among Huali Shengda, Huali
Investment, our PRC Operating Entities and the Registered Shareholder dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on November 27, 2017, August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)
EUBRK EURE PEEEEBLEFCHRRITLERNR2017F3A23ANEBRAE
& (R2017411 8278 ~ 201858 A30H %2021 12 A7H 7))

The British Virgin Islands
RBUERMAHS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

LR AR CI PR R E AT Al

the People’s Republic of China and for the purposes of this report only, except where
the context requires otherwise, references to China or the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

MEARANE  ElAmENE  BXBEZEMEIN  BETPEKGABEEE R
HRITRE R A

China Science and Education Industry Group Limited (BRI EXEB AR AR, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1756)

PEMHEXEEERAR  RAESHSTMKRYZERAR - KRGOV ER LT (KRG
5 £ 1756)

the entities the Company controls through the structured contracts as further
elaborated in the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus, namely
Huali Investment, Huali College, Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College,
and each a “consolidated affiliated entity”
AAFRRBEBEANENNER(FRBRERED [EBUEEHN I —f)  AEIKRE
FEUBR  FUBEBRNMEIRMSER SRR [REAKRBEER

has the meaning as defined in the Listing Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, refers to Mr. Zhang, Trust Co and Huali Education

BB ETRBREHRE  BRXESEMIEIN - FBREE - Trust COREUHE

234 China Science and Education Industry Group Limited
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"

“Conversion of Huali College

[E 2R

“Director(s)”

[E%]
“Equity Pledge Agreement”

[ Bt ' 3 W

“Exclusive Call Option Agreement”

[BRABRE RS

“Exclusive Technical Service and

Management Consultancy Agreement”

BRI 5B 2 5 B ek

nomyet " "

“Group”, , or “our

[AREEH K Wzﬂiﬂ

us

“HKFRSs"
(BB BERE SR

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"
[

“Huali College”

Definitions

B

the conversion of Huali College from a private independent college into an
independently established private general undergraduate college in the PRC

EVERARNBYERERATEBIRENRNEBAM SR

the director(s) of the Company
KRARESF

The Equity Pledge Agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholder,
Huali Shengda and Huali Investment dated August 30, 2018
BEMRE - EBRARETIREN2018F8 A30H ] MR EE W

the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholder, Huali Investment, the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda dated
March 23, 2017 and August 30, 2018

BLRE  EURE  PREEEENMEYRABAHA20179F3 230 KX2018F8 A
30H VB R R B RE

the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement entered into
by and among Huali Shengda, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018)

EVBRK - EURERTHEEETEI B A201743A238HBREM R X ER
R (201858 A30B f7)

the Company, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities

ARFE - EBARNRGA ANRBETE

HKFRS Accounting Standards
BERGREGTER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEBRRTHER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BREEEEN

Guangzhou Huali College (/N #7 2B7) (formerly known as Huali College Guangdong
University of Technology (BR LH KZ%72[t)), a private independent college
established under the laws of the PRC on January 1, 2006, was converted into an
independently established private general undergraduate college with the official
approval by MOE in May 2021, and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company
BN 2 (RIS E SR T KRB 26 ) - EA2006fF1ﬂ1 HARE H BUE R B R
BB WR2021FS AEHEBERAMAE R ABURENRMEBARER - AK
NAMEGE AREEERE
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Definitions

oo =
== %
=

“Huali Construction”

“Huali Education”
[EFEIHE

“Huali (HK) Education”
[EBETHE |
“Huali Investment”
[FETRE ]

“Huali Property”

[ 237 b E |

“Huali Shengda”

g
B2
i

“Huali Technician College”

[ 28 37 1 B 2t |

* for identification purpose only

Guangdong Huali Construction Co., Ltd.* (ERZEZEEGRAR]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC and directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan,
the brother of Mr. Zhang, as to 99.97% and 0.03% respectively, and a connected
person of the Company

BREVREBRAR RPEKZHERLIE - 2RAKREERREENLHREN
FSAEBEEREFI.97%K%0.03% - ARREZHMEAT

Huali Education Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in BVI and
wholly owned by Trust Co
BEUHEERERAT  REBERRESEMKINBRLIF - ATrust Co2EHH

Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited (B8 E B EERAR]), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on May 18, 2016 and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company
EEEVHEREBRDT - R2016F5A18AEEHEMMIMERAF + BARAA]
WEEZENMB LR

Guangzhou Huali Investment Company Limited (B/M#EIZEBR A7), being the
School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities, a company established in the PRC
with limited liability on June 15, 1999 and a consolidated entity of the Company
BMEZKRERARAR  STESEEENBERENRE - KN1999F6 A15HEH BT
WERDF - BEARAKGE ARTRE

Guangdong Huali Property Company Limited (BHR¥EIESEBE AR A F]), a company
with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on July 1, 2008 and held as
to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by an independent third party, and which is not a
member of the Group

BREVESEGRAT - KR2008F7 A1 ARIBFENEEKIHNBR AT - JIBFKE
ERBIO% MBI IEAEEEAERINBELE=FE1%

Guangdong Huali Shengda Business Service Limited (BRIFEY B AEERE AR Q)
(formerly known as Xizang Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (784 2& 37 &%
X1z ERHEER A E]), an enterprise established under the laws of PRC on January 18,
2017, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Huali Shengrong
BREVEAEERBERAG(FIBABELRRNEEMEEBRAGF) - K2017F1 4
18R IRBEPREDEEK MY REVRKNEENBERR

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology Company Limited (/1% 37 2% 882k
BRI AR AR, a wholly foreign- owned enterprise with limited liability established
under the laws of the PRC on December 27, 2016, which is wholly owned by Huali (HK)
Education

BMETREHBEREARAR - R2016F 12 427 AREREAEK I W BRE TN
BEDYE BHEBEUHEZEHS

Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (R & #FE M HAMERR), a private tertiary
vocational school established under the laws of the PRC on August 20, 2003, of which
the School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BRAFEIHAEMR - K2003F8 20 R REBEFBEEAERINRERSSRHEER  HE
UREZERBERBPERER - REARFANGE ARAEEE
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“Huali Vocational College”

_i‘ﬁ
<
fo
ME
1B
S

“Hualiyuan Technology”

[E=AvAE R 3

“Implementation Rules”

[ Bt iR ]

“Listing”

[ £

“Listing Date”

[Em R

“Listing Rules”

[ EmAR A

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Model Code”

[EAE<F Al

“MOE"
(&)

“Mr. Zhang”

[RSEAE ]

“Mu”

[

Definitions

B

Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (J& )N %37 RHL B 3 £057),
a formal higher education institution established under the laws of the PRC on July 19,
2005, of which the school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and
a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BEME BB 20t - R2005F7 A 19BIREBFEZRRUNZRES SHEKE - &
FEURETERFERNBNERER - REARAINGEARBEER

Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited (BRZEZBERZARAF), a
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on January 6, 2004,
which is not a member of the Group and is held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1%
by Huali Property

BREVEMEARAR - R2004F1 A6 BREBFENEZKNIMNAR AR - WIEREER
BRERR - TIRREEFHIO% MHEIMERFEF1%

the Regulations of the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC (F#EARKFMBERNIHE R EXAEEIEH) issued by the State
Council on April 7, 2021, and effective from September 1, 2021

ESFT 2021 F4 78 EM - WH2021FIR 1 BBEMMCPEAREMERBHE R
LB IR

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board on the Listing Date
R L B EEFER B

November 25, 2019, the date on which the Shares were listed and on which dealings in
the Shares were first permitted to take place on the Main Board

2019 11 A25H8 RN ER LT EREBROENEEREIRETR S 2 A

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EEBMARIMBRARESR EWAR - B ARERT - fRsUARM TR B

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
B 32 AT E AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
TR AIMECIFE R EETAERETE SR INIRLESTE

the Ministry of Education of the PRC (FF ¥ A R MBI H & &)
PEAREMEHE S

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, chairman of the Board, executive Director and one of our
Controlling Shareholders

BERXR  ITEFEHRARAERBERZ —RBELLE

the Chinese land area unit, whereby a mu equals to approximately 666.67 square
meters

B EEERN - —MERA666.67F I K
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Definitions
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“Nomination Committee”

[REEER]
“PRC Operating Entities”
[hEZEER]

“Prospectus”

[HRKRER]

“Registered Shareholder(s)”

[ ERoRRER |

“Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment

Agreement and Registered Shareholder’s
Power of Attorney”

[ BB RENERE S
RERRREES]

“Remuneration Committee”

[Nz ES]

“Reporting Period”
[ AR

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[ANERE]

“School Directors”

[ %

“School Directors’ Power of Attorney”

(BB EEE]

“School Sponsor(s)”
[P |

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgRE%L8E

the Company’s consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational
College and Huali Technician College
RRBERAE NRBEEEE - AN B0t - T B 20 RE RSk

the prospectus of the Company dated November 14, 2019
ARARBEIA2019F 11 B14AMBRER

Huali Investment is owned as to 99.999% by Mr. Zhang and as to 0.001% by Mr. Zhang
Zhifan
EIRE RREAE KRS N L LS RIHEE99.999% £20.001 % A i

the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and Registered
Shareholder’s Power of Attorney entered into by and among Huali Investment, the
Registered Shareholder and Huali Shengda in favor of Huali Shengda dated September
19, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)

FEURE  BRBRRMEIBRAUEYREARIHAFZAHR2017FIA19RNER
FRER AN Z et et LB R IR E (201858 A30H k2021F 12 A7HH )

the remuneration committee of the Board

E=evMEEe

the year ended August 31, 2025
B ZE2025F8A31HIEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE  wEDEEEY

the directors nominated by Huali Investment to each of our PRC Operating Entities
EVRENZPHEZETRIEENES

the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the School Directors in
favor of Huali Shengda dated March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018,
September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019, October 10, 2019, January 17,
2020, November 18, 2024 and October 21, 2025)
EERESEN2017F3ABBUEIRART G AE LN EREEKEES (H20185F8
30H - 20184 9H28H - 201944 H23H + 20197 H22H + 20194 10410H * 2020
F1H178 ~ 20245115188 KX2025F10A21 B 7))

the individual(s) or entity(ies) that funds or holds interests in an educational institution

ERSNBERBEREANEAANER
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“School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement”

[BRERELBREFRNZEHH

“School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney”

[ EREE]

“SEQ”

ELER TN

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 3R

“Shares”

[ Betn

“South China”
N

“Spouse Undertaking”

[ Pic 8 s |

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 2 P |

“Structured Contracts”

[EBEad]

“subsidiary(ies)”

[P m

Definitions

oo =
== %
=

the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement entered into by and
among Huali Investment, the School Directors and Huali Shengda dated March 23, 2017
(supplemented on August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019,
October 10, 2019, July 20, 2020, November 18, 2024 and October 21, 2025)

ETRE  BRESEREVEAGZAHA2017F3IAANERERERERESE
FZst ez (7R20184F 8 A30H ~ 20184 9H28H ~ 201944 H23H + 201947 H 228 -
20194 10A 108 + 202057 H20H * 2024511 A18H k2025510 421 A7)

the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment in favor of Huali
Shengda dated March 23, 2017
FEURENEIRAAIHAE LB A2017F3A23ANERBNERES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEEDFESTNERZF MRROIGERHERT ~ # s A H 75 e

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BROHFEEA

ordinary shares in the Company of par value US$0.0001 each
ARNAFEIREEO0.0001 KT H) Ak

Guangdong Province, Guangxi Province and Hainan Province of the PRC

TEERE BRENEEE

the Spouse Undertaking executed by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)

B ROEERET HHIR2017F3 A23H VBB AR (0201858 A30H K% 2021F12 A
TE#F)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARIMBR AT

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney, the
Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and
the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

EBEERE  BRERMRELEEZAGE  BRIABHERS  RELRBE 2
RERERDPREFENLETHE  EREPRERES  BREEFRES  REARE -
BLRRENEADE R ELRREESHRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BERAMEHI (BB EDE622F ) 51550 FZANRE
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Definitions

“Trust Co” Huali-Diamond Limited, a holding vehicle incorporated in BVI indirectly controlled by
UBS Trustee (B.V.l.) Limited, the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust, to hold the entire issued

share capital of Huali Education

[Trust Col Huali-Diamond Limited * MR B4R R F#F S MAZAIEAR A5 - FHUBS Trustee (B.V.1.)
Limited(HL-Diamond Trustf) 25 A ) BB G E T HE N2 BB BITRA

"USss$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
=l En o XEEERE®

“%" per cent

[%] ANk

The English names of the PRC entities (including schools), PRC laws or regulations,
and the PRC government authorities referred to in this report are merely
translations from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there
is any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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